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About this Offering Memorandum
This offering is being made pursuant to certain prospectus exemptions contained in National Instrument
45-106 - Prospectus Exemptions (“NI 45-106”). This offering memorandum constitutes an offering of
securities only in such jurisdictions and only to those persons to whom they may be lawfully offered for
sale. This offering memorandum is not (and under no circumstances is to be construed as) a prospectus,
advertisement, or public offering of these securities.
Prospective investors should rely only on the information contained in this offering memorandum and
should not rely on some parts of this offering memorandum to the exclusion of others. No person has been
authorized to give any information or to make any representation not contained in this offering
memorandum. Any such information or representation which is given or received must not be relied upon,
and any information or representation other than those contained herein must not be relied upon. This
offering memorandum is furnished solely by True Leaf for the use of purchasers who by their acceptance
hereof agree that they will not transmit, reproduce, or otherwise make available this document or any
information contained in it except with the written consent of True Leaf.
All subscriptions received with respect to this offering are subject to rejection or acceptance in full or in
part by True Leaf. True Leaf is not obligated to accept any subscription. Subscriptions which are rejected
will be returned without interest or deduction. Insiders of True Leaf and their associates may purchase
securities under the offering.
This offering memorandum contains information as of May 7, 2021, unless otherwise specified.
This offering memorandum contains summaries of the proposed terms of this offering and of certain
documents related to this offering. Reference should be made to the actual documents for complete
information concerning the rights and obligations of the parties thereto, and all such summaries are qualified
in their entirety accordingly.
Copies of the documents referred to in this offering memorandum are available upon request made in
writing to True Leaf.
Each purchaser must consult with his own advisors as to legal, tax, business, financial and related aspects
of any purchase of Units. A sale of Units is subject to the provisions of the subscription agreement which
accompanies this document.
Forward Looking Information
This offering memorandum includes forward-looking information and forward-looking statements
(collectively, “forward-looking information”) with respect to True Leaf. Any statements that express or
involve discussions with respect to predictions, expectations, beliefs, plans, projections, objectives,
assumptions or future events or performance (often, but not always, using words or phrases including, but
not limited to, “expects”, “does not expect”, “is expected”, “anticipates”, “does not anticipate”, “plans”,
“estimates”, “believes”, “does not believe” or “intends”, or stating that certain actions, events or results
may, could, would, might or will be taken, occur or be achieved) are not statements of historical fact and
may be “forward-looking information”. This information represents predictions and actual events or results
may differ materially.
Forward-looking information may relate to True Leaf’s future outlook and anticipated events or results and
may include statements regarding True Leaf’s financial results, future financial position, expected growth
of cash flows, business strategy, budgets, projected costs, projected capital expenditures, taxes, plans,
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objectives, industry trends and growth opportunities. Forward-looking information contained in this
offering memorandum is based on certain assumptions regarding expected growth, results of operations,
performance, industry trends and growth opportunities.
While management considers these assumptions to be reasonable, based on information available, they may
prove to be incorrect. Forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and
other factors which may cause the actual results, performance or achievements of True Leaf to be materially
different from any future results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by the forward-looking
statements. These risks, uncertainties and other factors include (but are not limited to) risks associated with
general economic conditions; adverse industry events; marketing costs; loss of markets; future legislative
and regulatory developments involving cannabis; inability to access sufficient capital from internal and
external sources, and/or inability to access sufficient capital on favourable terms; the cannabis industry in
Canada generally, income tax and regulatory matters; the ability of True Leaf to implement its business
strategies including expansion plans; competition; crop failure; currency and interest rate fluctuations, and
the other risks discussed under the heading “Risk Factors” in this offering memorandum. The foregoing
factors are not intended to be exhaustive.
Although True Leaf has attempted to identify important factors that could cause actual actions, events or
results to differ materially from those described in forward-looking statements, there may be other factors
that cause actions, events or results to differ from those anticipated, estimated or intended. Forward-looking
statements contained herein are made as of the date hereof and True Leaf and its directors, officers and
employees disclaim any obligation to update any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new
information, future events or results or otherwise. There can be no assurance that forward-looking
statements will prove to be accurate, as actual results and future events could differ materially from those
anticipated in such statements. Accordingly, you should not place undue reliance on forward-looking
statements due to the inherent uncertainty therein. All forward-looking information is expressly qualified
in its entirety by this cautionary statement. Forward-looking information and other information contained
herein concerning management’s general expectations concerning the cannabis industry are based on
estimates prepared by management using data from publicly available industry sources as well as from
market research and industry analysis and on assumptions based on data and knowledge of this industry
which management believes to be reasonable. However, this data is inherently imprecise, although
generally indicative of relative market positions, market shares and performance characteristics. While
management is not aware of any misstatements regarding any industry data or comparables presented
herein, industry data and comparables are subject to change based on various factors. True Leaf has not
independently verified any of this data from independent third-party sources.
Market and Industry Data
This offering memorandum includes market and industry data that has been obtained from third-party
sources, including industry publications. True Leaf believes that the industry data is accurate and that its
estimates and assumptions are reasonable, but there is no assurance as to the accuracy or completeness of
this data. Third-party sources generally state that the information contained therein has been obtained from
sources believed to be reliable, but there is no assurance as to the accuracy or completeness of included
information. Although the data is believed to be reliable, True Leaf has not independently verified any of
the data from third-party sources referred to in this offering memorandum or ascertained the underlying
economic assumptions relied upon by such sources.
Unless otherwise indicated, information contained in this offering memorandum concerning True Leaf’s
industry and the markets in which it operates, including general expectations and market position, market
opportunities and market share, is based on information from independent industry organizations, other
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third-party sources (including industry publications, surveys and forecasts) and management studies and
estimates.
True Leaf’s estimates are derived from publicly available information released by independent industry
analysts and third-party sources as well as data from True Leaf’s internal research, and knowledge of the
Canadian cannabis market and economy, and include assumptions made by True Leaf which management
believes to be reasonable based on their knowledge of True Leaf’s industry and markets. True Leaf’s
internal research and assumptions have not been verified by any independent source, and it has not
independently verified any third-party information. While True Leaf believes the market position, market
opportunity and market share information included in this offering memorandum is generally reliable, such
information is inherently imprecise. In addition, projections, assumptions and estimates of True Leaf’s
future performance and the future performance of the industry and markets in which it operates are
necessarily subject to a high degree of uncertainty and risk due to a variety of factors, including those
described under the heading “Forward-Looking Statements” and “Item 8 - Risk Factors”.
Marketing Materials
Any “OM marketing materials” (as such term is defined in NI 45-106 related to each distribution under
this offering memorandum and delivered or made reasonably available to a prospective purchaser before
the termination of such distribution will be, and will be deemed to be, incorporated by reference into this
offering memorandum, provided that any OM marketing materials to be incorporated by reference into this
offering memorandum is not part of the offering memorandum to the extent that the contents of such OM
marketing materials have been modified or superseded by a statement contained in an amended or amended
and restated offering memorandum or OM marketing materials subsequently delivered or made reasonably
available to a prospective purchaser prior to the execution of the subscription agreement by the purchaser.
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Item 1: Use of Available Funds
1.1 Funds.
The following table discloses the funds available as a result of the offering.

A
B
C

Amount to be raised by this offering (1)
Selling commissions and fees (2)
Estimated offering costs (e.g., legal, accounting, audit)

Assuming min.
offering
$
$
$
120,000

Assuming max.
offering
$
10,000,000
$
700,000
$
120,000

(3)

D
E.
F.

Available funds: D = A - (B+C)
Additional sources of funding required
Working capital deficiency (4)

$
$
$

(120,000)
1,232,000

$
$
$

9,180,000
1,232,000

G.

Total: G = (D+E) - F

$

(1,352,000)

$

7,948,000

Notes:

(1)
(2)

(3)
(4)

There is no minimum offering. The Issuer may raise only a portion of the maximum offering.
Assumes aggregate selling commissions of 7% are paid on all Units of True Leaf sold. True Leaf may pay cash
commissions or referral fees of up to 7% in the aggregate to any one of, or a combination of, registered dealers
and qualified finders who refer subscribers to True Leaf. See Item 7 - Compensation Paid to Sellers and Finders.
These amounts are the estimated offering expenses we expect to pay from funds in this offering and does not
include funds already paid from other sources.
As at May 7, 2021. True Leaf intends to raise additional capital through equity and debt financings to address
the working capital deficiency.

1.2 Use of Available Funds.
The net proceeds of this offering will be used primarily to advance our licensed cannabis business. The
estimated use of the net proceeds of this offering is as follows:

Description of intended use of available
funds listed in order of priority.
Cannabis Business
100 light grow all in
Automated packaging line
Anti-microbial equipment
Land development
GMO Accreditation
Building Wing
Inventory and Prepaid Cannabis Flower
Contingency
General
Working Capital
Total: Equal to G in the Funds table above

Assuming min.
offering

Assuming 50%
of offering

Assuming max.
offering

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

0

$

1,160,000

$

1,160,000

0

$

636,000

$

942,000

0

$

540,000

$

540,000

0

$

0

$

1,250,000

0

$

177,000

$

177,000

0

$

0

$

2,500,000

0

$

735,000

$

735,000

0

$

0

$

250,000

$
$

0

$

50,000

$

394,000

0

$

3,298,000

$

7,948,000
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1.3 Reallocation.
We intend to spend the available funds as stated. We will reallocate funds only for sound business reasons.
Item 2: Business of True Leaf
2.1 Structure.
Incorporation and Office Addresses
True Leaf is a reporting issuer and a publicly held company that was incorporated under the Business
Corporations Act (British Columbia) on June 9, 2014. The full name of True Leaf is “True Leaf Brands
Inc.” True Leaf changed its name from “True Leaf Medicine International Ltd.” to “True Leaf Brands Inc.”
on May 21, 2019. True Leaf’s head office is located at 100 Kalamalka Lake Road, Unit 32, Vernon, British
Columbia, Canada V1T 9G1. True Leaf’s registered and records office is located at Suite 2600 - 1066 West
Hastings Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada V6E 3X1.
Intercorporate Relationships
We have three subsidiaries (direct and indirect): True Leaf Investments Corp. (“TL Investments”), True
Leaf Cannabis Inc. (“TL Cannabis”), and True Leaf USA Inc. (“TL USA”). TL Investments and TL
Cannabis were formed in British Columbia on March 26, 2014 and July 4, 2013, respectively. TL USA was
formed in Nevada on September 11, 2017.
As of May 7, 2021, the following chart illustrates the intercorporate relationship between True Leaf and its
subsidiaries including the percentage of voting securities of each subsidiary owned by True Leaf and the
governing jurisdiction of each entity.
True Leaf Brands Inc.
(BC)
100%
True Leaf
Investments Corp.
(BC)

100%

True Leaf USA Inc.
(NV)

100%

True Leaf Cannabis Inc.
(BC)

Share Consolidation
On December 10, 2020, True Leaf completed a one-for-nine (1:9) reverse share split of its issued and
outstanding securities (the “Share Consolidation”), resulting in a reduction in the issued and outstanding
common shares from 102,370,431 to 11,374,555 post consolidation shares. Common shares reserved under
2

True Leaf’s equity and incentive plans were adjusted to reflect the Share Consolidation. All common share
and per share data presented in this offering memorandum have been retroactively adjusted to reflect the
Share Consolidation unless otherwise noted.
Debt Restructuring and Corporate Reorganization
Debt Restructuring
In March 2020, True Leaf received a notice of default from its principal creditor, Lind Asset Management
XV, LLC (the “Creditor”), in respect of secured debt owed in the amount of $5,940,000 (the “Debt
Amount”). Shortly thereafter, True Leaf and its subsidiaries commenced restructuring proceedings and
sought creditor protection by each filing a Notice of Intention to make a proposal (the “NOI Proceedings”)
under the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act (Canada) (the “BIA”).
The NOI Proceedings commenced in April 2020. The assets or shares of TL Cannabis and TL Pet were
marketed through a sales process overseen by True Leaf’s Trustee FTI Consulting (“Trustee”).
On August 14, 2020, an agreement for the sale of substantially all of TL Pet’s assets including the shares
of True Leaf Pet Europe LLC Sàrl was entered into by a newly formed number company and its parent
company, Hemp Technology Inc., both Wyoming corporations who were arm’s length to True Leaf. The
funds received as part of this sale were applied against the outstanding Debt Amount.
Between late September and early October 2020, each of TL Cannabis, TL Investments and TL Brands
filed a proposal to their respective creditors with the Office of Superintendent in Bankruptcy. The terms of
these proposals (the “BIA Proposals”) were based upon an agreement dated September 11, 2020 (the
“Refinancing Agreement”) among the Creditor, the Australian Special Opportunity Fund, LP (“ASOF”),
Canguard Mortgage Investment Corporation (“Canguard”), 1263815 B.C. Ltd. (“Second MortgageCo”
and, together with Canguard, the “Canguard Entities”) and two newly incorporated British Columbia
companies (“Acquire Co #1” and “Acquire Co #2”) owned by a group of new investors (the “New
Investor Group”).
Following creditor approval and court approval in early November 2020 of the BIA Proposals filed by TL
Cannabis and TL Investments, the transactions contemplated by the Refinancing Agreement were
completed on November 16, 2020. The material terms of the Refinancing Agreement transaction were as
follows:
•
•
•
•

Canguard loaned $3 million to TL Cannabis (the “Canguard Loan”) secured by a first mortgage
on the Lumby Property and a first priority security interest in all of TL Cannabis’s present and
after-acquired personal property.
Second Mortgage Co loaned $1.7 million to TL Cannabis (the “Second Mortgage Co Loan”)
secured by a second mortgage on the Lumby Property and a second priority security interest in all
of TL Cannabis’s present and after-acquired personal property.
TL Cannabis used all of the proceeds of the Canguard Loan and $1.15 million of the proceeds of
the Second Mortgage Co Loan, being an aggregate of $4.15 million, to pay down the Debt Amount.
Acquire Co #1 purchased:
• from TL Investments, all of the issued and outstanding shares of TL Cannabis; and
• from TL Brands, all of the issued and outstanding shares of TL Investments;
in each case, for a purchase price of $1. Simultaneously, TL Investments exercised an option to repurchase from Acquire Co #1 all of the issued and outstanding shares of TL Cannabis for $1.
Acquire Co #2 purchased from ASOF all of the issued and outstanding shares of the Creditor for a
purchase price of $1.
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Corporate Reorganization
On November 17, 2020, True Leaf and a newly incorporated British Columbia subsidiary company (“New
Sub”) entered into an amalgamation agreement with Acquire Co #1 and Acquire Co #2. On December 11,
2020, the amalgamation closed. The amalgamation was undertaken to reacquire from Acquire Co #1 all of
the issued shares of TL Investments (and its subsidiary TL Cannabis, the owner of the Lumby Property and
the holder of the Health Canada licences,) and acquire from Acquire Co #2 all of the issued shares of the
Creditor (holder of the residue of the Debt Amount). True Leaf issued 17,416,980 post-consolidated
common shares of True Leaf at a deemed price of $0.375 per share to the New Investor Group. A cash
finder’s fee of $20,000 was paid to an arm’s length party on the close of the amalgamation.
Effective December 10, 2020, with a record date of December 11, 2020, True Leaf completed a nine (9) to
one (1) share consolidation.
On close of the amalgamation, True Leaf had approximately 28,791,535 post-consolidated common shares
issued and outstanding.
2021 Private Placement
On February 26, 2021, True Leaf closed a non-brokered private placement to raise gross proceeds of
$1,534,479 (CAD) through the sale of 4,262,436 common shares priced at $0.36 per share.
2.2 Our Business.
Business Summary
True Leaf is an early-stage licensed producer of cannabis and cannabis-derived products in Canada. True
Leaf’s mission is to support the craft cannabis community and the production of the highest quality cannabis
in the world by providing quality assurance oversight, scaled harvest payments and a pathway to the retail
and medical markets.
Our Mission
True Leaf’s vision is to be known as the go-to supplier for specialized strains of top-quality craft cannabis,
grown boutique style in small batches for discerning adult-use recreational cannabis users in Canada and
future export markets.
Our Goals
•
•
•
•
•
•

To remain fully compliant with the laws and regulations in Canada.
To produce and sell high quality cannabis products under the True Leaf license nationwide and to
global emerging markets.
To support the craft cannabis community nationwide by offering testing, packaging, marketing and
sales services.
To continue to commit to quality, consistency and continuous improvement while working to
achieve and maintain EU-GMP status for our facility and operations.
To provide a team-oriented and welcoming working environment that focuses on quality of life and
inclusiveness for our employees and stakeholders.
To strive to be environmentally sensitive and sustainable by using high quality and natural-focused
nutrients, organic pesticides and pest control methods.
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Products and Services
True Leaf’s targeted principal market is consumers who use cannabis in Canada. True Leaf intends to focus
on providing high quality craft cannabis with specific varietal, cannabinoid, and terpene profiles in either
indica or sativa strains and two initial product formats - dried flower and pre-rolls. Initial supply will be
acquired through strategic craft micro-cultivator suppliers, then supplemented with proprietary strains from
True Leaf’s on-site cultivation. True Leaf plans to build close relationships with the large community of
craft cannabis licensed micro-cultivators in central British Columbia who bring generations of cultivation
experience and ready access to some of the most sought-after cannabis strains in the world.
We plan to develop resources and services for cannabis consumers and licensed micro-cultivators. We are
looking at the viability and logistics of offering land packages for micro-cannabis sites at the True Leaf
Business Park in Lumby, British Columbia. Other services we believe we will be able to provide include:
regulatory, quality assurance (QA), processing and packaging services; third-party genetic cleaning,
propagation, cloning and bio-bank services; supply contracts for co-branded nation-wide distribution; and
small scale anti-microbial services.
Software
The Company will utilize Ample Organics® and Elevated Signals® software for seed-to-sale inventory
management, internal document and process control, detailed batch production records and monitoring of
environmental data.
Our Marketing Strategy
Brand ambassadors
The Company has developed relationships with long standing craft cannabis community influencers to
represent the Company as brand ambassadors. These individuals will facilitate outreach to craft cannabis
producers and micro-cultivators who may be interested in selling their production under True Leaf’s federal
license. In addition, they will assist the Company with the procurement of ‘legacy’ strains that could be
‘cleaned’, pheno-selected and sold or grown under True Leaf’s range of products.
Brand ambassadors will represent the Company’s product line to retailers, at promotional events and work
closely with the Company’s sales agency to launch new products and develop promotional material to
support of the Company’s goal of bringing high quality craft cannabis to market.
Website Technology
The website will be built on a robust platform where everything (opt-ins, notifications, emails) will be
automated and meet all ‘Can Spam’ requirements in accordance with The Cannabis Act.
Website Ongoing Marketing
The Company expects to build trustworthy and reputable relationships from early ‘grass roots’ marketing
efforts and will leverage this to retain long-term support for the True Leaf brand and the services it offers.
It will develop and publish ongoing optimized content strategies around relevant topics, trends and
discussions in the cannabis community in accordance with Health Canada’s marketing guidelines.
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It will work with relevant brand ambassadors, industry stakeholders and relevant affiliates to increase traffic
and brand awareness.
Utilizing this web strategy is expected to create a strong online presence for the brand while facilitating
trust and education of the adult use cannabis user looking for high quality craft cannabis.
Social Media
In combination with this, the Company has a social community manager who will develop a specific social
media content strategy using Twitter, Facebook, LinkedIn, YouTube and other cannabis-focused social
platforms in accordance with The Cannabis Act.
Lab testing, collaborative R&D and product development
The Company expects to engage and align itself with a reputable Health Canada approved and third-party
accredited lab testing facility in order to conduct required on-going batch testing new product development
and testing.
National sales and marketing partner: Velvet Management
True Leaf has engaged Velvet Management, a national sales and marketing agency with 40+ employees
servicing every regulated retail cannabis store and provincial cannabis distribution board in the country.
Velvet is exclusively focused on the cannabis industry and works directly with Licensed Producers to
develop and execute strategic sales and marketing plans that reflect specific product portfolios. The
Company is working with the firm to develop and fine tune their plan that focuses on the nationwide
distribution of limited-released small batches of high-quality craft flower.
Property

True Leaf maintains an office in Vernon, British Columbia. Its main facility is located on 40 acres in
Lumby, British Columbia (the “True Leaf Industrial Park”).
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True Leaf’s Cannabis Facility
True Leaf is the largest landowner in Lumby’s centrally located industrial park. The facility is 19,500 square
feet total (9,750 sf per floor) and the main floor was built to EU-GMP standards. The upper floor is currently
undeveloped. The facility is fully licensed for cultivation, processing, and medical sales.
The entire site was originally engineered to incorporate a main central hub and four 14,500 square foot
production wings. The main central hub facility is designed to incorporate reception, security, staff
lunchroom and welfare areas. An air lock is incorporated into the design, which allows specific access to
the remainder of the EU-GMP compliant production area. The production area houses management offices,
secure product storage, drying, packaging, janitor, water services, decontamination, and shipping/receiving
areas. The building is serviced by BC Hydro with a 500 KVA supply that is backed up by a diesel-powered
generator. All areas of the building are serviced by fire sprinklers. HVAC and dehumidification systems
are installed to meet the specs outlined by the cultivation team for the initial eight light grow. The entire
building and future wing are surrounded by a razor-wire chain-link fence and monitored 24/7 by Paladin
Security. True Leaf obtains their water from the municipality water supply and intends to filter the water
needed for cultivation with a reverse osmosis system.
Production Capacity
Initial cultivation is limited to two small grow rooms with four lights per room or a total of eight lights.
Expected production output from these lights are as follows:
Eight light grow rooms (existing):
•
•
•
•

2.2lbs (1,000 grams) of dry flower produced per light, per cycle
Projected cycles per year: 5.5
8 lights x 1,000 grams x 5.5 = 44,000 grams per year
Budget: completed

Additional rooms will be added to the facility’s upper floor area (approximately 6,500 square feet of useable
area) and within an additional 14,500 square foot production wing once completed. Build-out of these
production areas is contingent on dry flower demand and working capital funding.
100 light grow (proposed upper floor)
•
•
•
•

2.5lbs (1,134grams) of dry flower produced per light, per cycle
Projected cycles per year: 5.5
100 lights x 1,134 grams x 5.5 = 623,700 grams per year
Budget: $1.16M (includes freight elevator, backup generator and 2nd floor washrooms)

14,500 square foot production wing (footings are installed)
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Bottom floor: Processing, extraction and packaging area
Top floor: 12 grow rooms x 32 lights = 384 lights
2.5lbs (1,134 grams) of dry flower produced per light, per cycle
Projected cycles per year: 5.5
384 lights x 907 grams x 5.5 = 1,915,584 grams per year
Footings are poured, steel building and roof package are on-site
Estimated budget: $4.09M
o For erecting building to lock-up phase: $1M ($70/sf)
7

o
o

Estimated budget to finish bottom floor for processing and top floor for cultivation =
$106/sf x 14,500 x 2 = $3.09M
Completion of building will be financed with cash from operations

Future capacity
•
•

The site was engineered for three additional 14,500 square foot production wings which can
be built when dictated by demand.
Total annual capacity, including all four production wings would be approximately 9,580 kg
annually.

Specialized Skill and Knowledge
All aspects of True Leaf’s business require specialized skills and knowledge. True Leaf’s management and
advisory board is comprised of individuals with extensive experience and expertise in areas including (but
not limited to) the cultivation and growth of cannabis, consumer packaged goods, product development,
strategy, science and analytical testing, international regulated products and legal and regulatory
compliance.
True Leaf is dedicated to ensuring regulatory compliance in all aspects of the business with the end goal of
consumer and patient satisfaction. There is a high level of quality assurance and testing protocols in place
within True Leaf, including standard operating procedures that provide confidence regarding the purity and
safety of the products it produces and sells.
Management believes experience in cannabis or other regulated industries will assists True Leaf in
maintaining compliance with applicable laws and regulations. Specialized skills and knowledge are
important to True Leaf’s success as it continues to evolve with the industry and grow its brands, and we
continue to build on the skills and knowledge required within our organization to meet our goals.
The Cannabis Industry in Canada
Canada legalized the use of cannabis for medical purposes on July 30, 2001 and adult use recreational
cannabis - mainly in the form of flower, capsules and oil - on October 1, 2018. On October 17, 2019, Canada
legalized other forms of adult use recreational cannabis including edibles, subject to certain restrictions.
Canadian Medical Cannabis Market
Since the legalization of cannabis for recreational use under the Cannabis Act, medicinal use appears to
have plateaued, but still remains strong and is growing in some Canadian provinces. It appears the continued
growth of medicinal cannabis in some regions is linked to the slow roll-out of legal, provincial retail
cannabis outlets.
Medicinal Cannabis is sold direct-to-consumer for many common indications including: pain, PTSD,
nausea, IBS, Chrohns disease, and insomnia. Despite the apparent ‘plateauing’ in the market, many industry
experts believe that the market will continue to grow as efficacy builds around the plant from many clinical
trials that are currently underway.
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Canadian Adult Use Recreational Cannabis
At the beginning of the COVID-19 pandemic in 2020 it was unclear how the pandemic would affect the
cannabis industry. Regulators in several provinces designated marijuana retailers as “essential businesses,”
which permitted them to stay open. Canadians forced to stay home during various lockdowns turned to
adult-use cannabis to treat their anxiety and boredom. Sales of legal adult-use recreational cannabis in

Canada reached $270 million for the month of October 2020, setting a new monthly record implying an
annual sales rate of more than $3.2 Billion CAD.

Ontario
Quebec:
Alberta:
Nova Scotia:
British Columbia:
New Brunswick:
Newfoundland and Labrador:
Prince Edward Island:
Saskatchewan:
Manitoba & Territories

October 2018
$11.7 million
$10.8 million
$5.6 million
$4.5 million
$2.3 million
$2.2 million
$1.7 million
$1.3 million
$0.3 million
$2.4 million

October 2020
$83.8million
$48.0 million
$56.3 million
$7.3 million
$37.9 million
$2.2 million
$6.2 million
$1.6 million
$13.7 million
$10.1 million
Average increase

% increase
616%
344%
905%
62%
1548%
0%
265%
23%
4467%
346%
858%

Source: Stats Canada - October 2020

As impressive as this growth is, it is generally agreed by analysts that Canadian licensed producers have
overbuilt to the market size in Canada. Health Canada in October indicated licensed producers have
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stockpiled approximately 1.1 million kilograms of cannabis. Most of this product is mass produced lower
quality cannabis.
In our opinion there is still room in the Canadian adult use recreational cannabis marketplace for smart
niche growers. Black market sales still outweigh legal sales of cannabis. This is due to a couple of factors
including lack of retail cannabis stores and the existence of poor-quality product choices in legal stores.
As Canada’s legal market continues to mature and evolve, Canadian consumer habits are changing as well,
as consumers demand better quality and better tasting cannabis products.
Regulatory Framework
General
On October 17, 2018, the Cannabis Act, S.C. 2018, c. 16 and Cannabis Regulations, SOR/2018-144 issued
pursuant to the Cannabis Act (the “Cannabis Regulations”) came into effect, which were subsequently
amended on October 17, 2019. The Cannabis Act and Cannabis Regulations (together the “Cannabis Act”)
legalize, strictly regulate, and restrict access to cannabis (medical and adult-use) within Canada.
Producers holding production and sale licenses under the previous Access to Cannabis for Medical
Purposes Regulations (“ACMPR”) have been transitioned to coordinating licenses under the Cannabis Act.
A holder of a license must only conduct authorized activities at the location set out in the license.
Licenses, Permits and Authorizations
The Cannabis Regulations establish six classes of licenses: (1) cultivation licenses; (2) processing licenses;
(3) analytical testing licenses; (4) sales for medical purposes licenses; (5) research licenses; and (6) cannabis
drug licenses. The Cannabis Regulations also create subclasses for cultivation licenses (standard
cultivation, micro-cultivation and nursery) and processing licenses (standard processing and microprocessing). Different licenses and each sub-class therein, carry differing rules and requirements that are
intended to be proportional to the public health and safety risks posed by each license category and each
sub-class.
Licences issued under the Cannabis Regulations are valid for a maximum period of five years. The Cannabis
Regulations permit cultivation licence holders to conduct both outdoor and indoor cultivation of cannabis,
however no licensed activities (except for destruction, antimicrobial treatment and distribution) can take
place in a “dwelling-house”.
Under the Cannabis Act, licenses and permits authorizing the importation or exportation of cannabis may
be issued only in respect of cannabis for medical or scientific purposes. To date, neither True Leaf nor TL
Cannabis have applied for export permits to any jurisdiction.
Security Clearances
Under the Cannabis Regulations, certain people associated with cannabis licensees, including individuals
occupying a “key position”, directors, officers, large shareholders and individuals identified by the Minister
of Health, must hold a valid security clearance issued by the Minister. This includes individuals that have
direct control over a license holder, as well as the officers and directors of any corporation having direct
control over a license holder (e.g., officers and directors of a parent corporation).
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Under the Cannabis Regulations, the Minister of Health may refuse to grant security clearances to
individuals with associations to organized crime or with past convictions for, or an association with drug
trafficking, corruption or violent offences. Individuals who have histories of nonviolent, lower-risk criminal
activity (for example, simple possession of cannabis, or small-scale cultivation of cannabis plants) are not
precluded from participating in the legal cannabis industry, and the grant of security clearance to such
individuals is at the discretion of the Minister and such applications will be reviewed on a case-by-case
basis.
Cannabis Tracking System
Under the Cannabis Act, the Minister of Health is authorized to establish and maintain a national cannabis
tracking system (the “Cannabis Tracking System”). The Cannabis Regulations provide the Minister of
Health with the authority to make a ministerial order that would require certain persons named in such order
to report specific information about their authorized activities with cannabis, in the form and manner
specified by the Minister. Accordingly, the Minister has introduced the Cannabis Tracking and Licensing
System (the “CTLS”). License-holders are required to use the CTLS to submit monthly reports to the
Minister pursuant to the Cannabis Tracking System Order, SOR/2019-202.
The purpose of this system is to track the flow of cannabis throughout the supply chain as a means of
preventing the illegal inversion and diversion of cannabis into and out of the regulated system. Under the
Cannabis Tracking System, a holder of a licence for cultivation, licence for processing, or a licence for sale
for medical purposes is required to submit monthly reports to Health Canada.
Cannabis Products
The Cannabis Regulations permit the sale to the public of dried cannabis, cannabis oil, fresh cannabis,
cannabis plants, and cannabis seeds, including in such forms as “pre-rolled” and in capsules and a limited
number of other formats, and were expanded on October 17, 2019 to include edibles, extracts and topicals.
The THC content and size of certain cannabis products is limited by the Cannabis Regulations. The THC
content, size of certain cannabis products, composition and ingredient requirements imposed by the
Cannabis Regulations are extensive and detailed. The Government of Canada has provided the following
table that summarizes the products and the associated regulations:

Type of
Regulation
THC Limit

Product
Rules

Edible Cannabis
(ingesting)
10 mg of THC per
package

• No added vitamins,
or Minerals
• No nicotine or
alcohol
• Limits on caffeine

Cannabis Extract
(ingesting)
10mg of THC per
unit (such as a
capsule) or
dispensed amount
1000 mg of THC
per package
• No added vitamins,
or Minerals
• No nicotine
• No caffeine
• No sugars,
• sweeteners or
colours

Cannabis Extract
(inhaling)
1000 mg of THC
per package

• No added vitamins,
or Minerals
• No nicotine
• No caffeine
• No sugars,
• sweeteners or
colours

Cannabis Topical
(applying to skin,
hair, nails)
1000 mg of THC
per package

• No nicotine or
alcohol
• Limit For use
only on skin, hair
or nails
• Not for use in
eyes or damaged
skin
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Type of
Regulation
Packaging

Edible Cannabis
(ingesting)
• Child-resistant
• Plain

Cannabis Extract
(ingesting)
• Child-resistant
• Plain
• Maximum package
size of 90ml for
liquid extracts if
under 3% THC
• Must include
dispensing devise
if not in unit form
• Maximum package
size of 7.5g for
solid extracts if
over 3% THC

Cannabis Extract
(inhaling)
• Child-resistant
• Plain
• Maximum package
size of 90ml for
liquid extracts if
under 3% THC
• Maximum package
size of 7.5g for
solid extracts if
over 3% THC

Label

• Standardized
cannabis symbol
for products
containing THC
• Health warning
message
• THC/CBD content
• Equivalency to
dried cannabis to
determine public
possession limit
• Ingredient list
• Allergens
• Nutritional facts
table

• Standardized
cannabis symbol
for products
containing THC
• Health warning
message
• THC/CBD content
• Equivalency to
dried cannabis to
determine public
possession limit
• Ingredient list
• Intended use

Other

• Must not be
appealing to youth
• Must not make
health claims
• No elements that
would associate the
product with
alcoholic
beverages, tobacco
products or vaping
products
• Must not make
dietary claims

• Must not be
appealing to youth
• Must not make
health claims
• No elements that
would associate the
product with
alcoholic
beverages, tobacco
products or vaping
products

• Standardized
cannabis symbol
for products
containing THC
(directly on
accessories such as
vape cartridges)
• Health warning
message
• THC/CBD content
• Equivalency to
dried cannabis to
determine public
possession limit
• Ingredient list
• Intended use
• Must not be
appealing to youth
• Must not make
health claims
• No elements that
would associate the
product with
alcoholic
beverages, tobacco
products or vaping
products

Cannabis Topical
(applying to skin,
hair, nails)
• Child-resistant
• Plain

• Standardized
cannabis symbol
for products
containing THC
• Health warning
message
• THC/CBD
content
• Equivalency to
dried cannabis to
determine public
possession limit
• Ingredient list
• Allergens
• Intended use
• Must not be
appealing to
youth
• Must not make
health claims
• No elements that
would associate
the product with
alcoholic
beverages,
tobacco products
or vaping
products
• Must not make
cosmetic claims

Health Canada has taken a scientific, evidence-based approach to the oversight of health products with
cannabis that are approved with health claims, including prescription and non-prescription drugs, natural
health products, veterinary drugs and veterinary health products, and medical devices. Per Health Canada’s
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Cosmetic Ingredient Hotlist, the use of cannabis species (hemp) derivatives (other than certain hemp seed
derivatives containing no more than 10 parts per million THC) in cosmetics, are permitted, subject to the
provisions of the Cosmetic Ingredient Hotlist and the Industrial Hemp Regulations.
Good Production Practices
The Cannabis Regulations establish requirements pertaining to the production, distribution, and storage of
cannabis in order to control quality of finished products (“Good Production Practices” or “GPP”). The
edibles regulations incorporate additional GPP, many of which have been adapted from the Safe Food for
Canadians Regulations to address the risk of foodborne illnesses that may be associated with edible forms
of cannabis. Of particular note, if a licence holder chooses to process any class of cannabis and food
products on the same site, then the production, packaging, labelling, and storage of cannabis and the
production, packaging, and labelling of food products will need to be conducted in separate buildings in
order to reduce the risk of cross-contamination between ingredients and products.
These additional requirements do not generally apply to holders of analytical testing or research licences,
depending upon the particular research activities carried out.
Product Testing
The Cannabis Regulations require sampling and testing of cannabis products as follows:
•
•
•
•
•

Testing to determine the content of THC, Tetrahydrocannabinolic acid (THCA), Cannabidiol
(CBD), and Cannabidiolic acid (CBDA);
Testing for microbial and chemical contaminants;
Testing for the residues of solvents used in the production of cannabis oil; and
Dissolution or disintegration testing (on discrete units intended for ingestion or nasal, rectal, or
vaginal use).
Testing for solvent residues in all cannabis products;

Microbial and chemical contaminants need to be within limits that are generally appropriate for the intended
use of the product (e.g., ingestion, inhalation).
Packaging and Labelling
The Cannabis Regulations set out requirements pertaining to the packaging and labelling of cannabis
products. Such requirements are intended to promote informed consumer choice and allow for the safe
handling and transportation of cannabis. All cannabis products are required to be packaged in a manner that
is tamper-proof and child-resistant in accordance with the Cannabis Regulations.
Health Canada is proposing strict limits on the use of colours, graphics, and other special characteristics of
packaging. Cannabis package labels must include specific information, such as: (i) product source
information, including the class of cannabis and the name, phone number and email of the cultivator; (ii) a
mandatory health warning, rotating between Health Canada’s list of standard health warnings; (iii) the
Health Canada standardized cannabis symbol; and (iv) information specifying THC and CBD content.
A cannabis product’s brand name may only be displayed once on the principal display panel or, if there are
separate principal display panels for English and French, only once on each principal display panel. It can
be in any font style and any size, so long as it is equal to or smaller than the health-warning message. The
font must not be in metallic or fluorescent colour. In addition to the brand name, only one other brand
element can be displayed.
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Advertising
The Cannabis Act provides for prohibitions regarding the promotion of cannabis products. Subject to a few
exceptions, all promotion of cannabis products is prohibited unless authorized by the Cannabis Act. The
prohibitions apply to anyone who may be involved in promotion cannabis, cannabis accessories and
services related to cannabis, including: (i) persons who produce, sell or distribute cannabis; (ii) persons
who sell or distribute cannabis accessories; (iii) persons who provide cannabis-related services; or (iv)
media organizations.
Limited promotion of cannabis, cannabis accessories and cannabis-related services is permitted under the
Cannabis Act in specific circumstances including (i) informational promotion or brand-preference
promotion; (ii) point of sale; and (iii) brand elements on things that are not cannabis or a cannabis accessory
subject to restrictions.
Cannabis for Medical Purposes
The Cannabis Regulations set out the regulatory framework for medical cannabis following legalization,
which remains substantively consistent with the previous legislation. Some adjustments have been made to
align with rules for non-medical consumer use, improve patient access, and reduce the risk of abuse within
the medical access system. The sale of medical cannabis remains federally regulated and sales can only be
made by an entity that holds a license to sell under the Cannabis Regulations to patients who: (i) have a
medical document authorizing the use of medical cannabis and (ii) have registered with the licensed entity.
Patients must obtain a medical document from their health care provider and then register as a patient with
a holder of a license for sale for medical purposes, with the registration in each case valid for a maximum
of one year. The client can then order from the licensed seller online or via telephone and the cannabis will
be shipped directly to the client. The Federal government intends to review the medical cannabis system
five years from the date of legalization to determine whether to implement any further changes to the
regulatory framework.
Provincial Regulatory Framework
While the Cannabis Act provides for the regulation of the commercial production of cannabis for
recreational purposes and related matters by the federal government, the Cannabis Act proposes that affords
the provinces and territories of Canada with the authority to regulate other aspects of cannabis for
recreational purposes (similar to what is currently the case for liquor and tobacco products) such as sale and
distribution, minimum age requirements that are greater than the minimum of 18 included in the Cannabis
Act, places where cannabis can be consumed, and a range of other matters.
With respect to sale and distribution, there are essentially three general frameworks that the provinces and
territories have implemented: (i) privately operated cannabis retailers licensed by the province; (ii)
government run retail stores; or (iii) a combination of both frameworks (e.g. allowing for privately-operated
and government-operated brick and mortar retail stores, while online retail stores, in most jurisdictions, are
operated by the applicable provincial or territorial government). Regardless of the framework, the
recreational cannabis market is primarily supplied by federally licensed cultivators and processors. Most
jurisdictions have implemented a government-run wholesale model. Brick and mortar retail stores are
required to obtain their cannabis products from the wholesalers, while the wholesalers, in turn, acquire the
cannabis products from the federally licensed cultivators and processors.
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Summaries of each jurisdiction's legal age and retail and distribution plan have been provided in the table
below.

Province/
Territory
British
Columbia

Regulating Body
Liquor and Cannabis
Regulation Branch

Alberta

Alberta Gaming and
Liquor Commission

Saskatchewan

Saskatchewan Liquor
and Gaming Authority

Manitoba

Manitoba Liquor and
Lotteries (MBLL)

Ontario

Alcohol and Gaming
Commission of
Ontario

Quebec

Société québécoise du
cannabis (SQDC), a
subsidiary of the
Société des alcools du
Québec
Cannabis Management
Corporation, a
subsidiary of New
Brunswick Liquor
Nova Scotia Liquor
Corporation (NSLC)

New Brunswick

Nova Scotia

Prince Edward
Island
Newfoundland
and Labrador

Prince Edward Island
Cannabis Management
Corporation
Newfoundland and
Labrador Liquor
Corporation (the NLC)

Legal
Age Retail Distribution Plan
19
Recreational cannabis is sold through both public and
privately operated stores, with the provincial Liquor
Distribution Branch handling wholesale distribution.
18
Cannabis products can be purchased from private retailers
that receive their products from a government-regulated
distributor, similar to the distribution system currently in
place for alcohol in the province. Only licensed retail
outlets are permitted to sell cannabis with online sales run
by the Alberta Gaming and Liquor Commission.
19
Recreational cannabis is sold by private retailers. The
Saskatchewan Liquor and Gaming Authority will issue 51
retail permits to private stores located in 32 communities
across the province, with municipalities having the option
of opting out of having a cannabis store if they choose.
19
A “hybrid model” for cannabis distribution is used. The
supply of cannabis in the Province of Manitoba will be
secured and tracked by MBLL; however, licensed private
retail stores are permitted to sell recreational cannabis.
19
Consumers may purchase cannabis via an online retail
platform provided by the Ontario Cannabis Store or from
a limited number of privately-owned, licensed cannabis
retail outlets.
18
All recreational marijuana is managed and sold by SQDC
outlets and is available for purchase online.
Quebec has tabled legislation to raise the legal age of
consumption to 21 years.
19

All recreational marijuana is managed and sold through
Cannabis NB, a subsidiary of New Brunswick Liquor and
is available for sale online.

19

The NSLC is responsible for the regulation of cannabis in
the province, and recreational cannabis is sold publicly
through government operated storefronts and online
sales.
The Prince Edward Island Cannabis Management
Corporation oversees the operation of cannabis retail
locations and an e-commerce platform.
Recreational cannabis is sold through licensed private
stores, with the province's crown-owned liquor
corporation, the NLC, overseeing the distribution to
licensed private retailers. The NLC also controls the
possession, sale and delivery of cannabis, and sets prices.
NLC is also the online retailer, although licences may
later be issued to private interests.

19

19
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Province/
Territory
Yukon

Regulating Body
Cannabis Licencing
Board

Northwest
Territories

Northwest Territories
Liquor Commission

Nunavut

Liquor and Cannabis
Commission

Legal
Age Retail Distribution Plan
19
Yukon limits the initial distribution and sale of
recreational cannabis to government outlets and
government-run online stores and allows for the later
licensing of private retailers.
19
The Northwest Territories Liquor Commission controls
the importation and distribution of cannabis, whether
through retail outlets or by mail order service run by the
liquor commission. Communities in the Northwest
Territories are able to hold a plebiscite to prohibit
cannabis, similar to the options currently available to
restrict alcohol.
19
Under the Nunavut Cannabis Act, a person can submit an
application for a licence to operate a cannabis store,
remote sales store, or cannabis lounge. Licences may not
be issued to minors, employees or agents of the Liquor
and Cannabis Commission, or a person who does not
meet the conditions prescribed by regulation for
applicants. Nunavut allows for the sale of marijuana
through both public and private retail and online.

Market Competitors

As the cannabis market continues to mature, both domestically and internationally, the overall demand for
products and the number of competitors is expected to increase. Consumers that once solely relied on the
medical cannabis market may shift some or all of their consumption or preferences away from medical
cannabis and towards consumer cannabis. The Cannabis Act also permits patients to produce a limited
amount of cannabis for their own purposes or to designate a person to produce a limited amount of cannabis
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on their behalf. Such shifts in market demand, and other factors that we cannot currently anticipate, could
potentially reduce the market for our products, which could ultimately have a material adverse effect on
our business, financial condition and operations.
As of May 7, 2021, there are over 148 licensed cultivators, processers and sellers under the Cannabis Act
in British Columbia and approximately 670 in Canada. A current list of these licensees is available on the
Health Canada website. A number of these companies have significantly greater financial, technical,
marketing, and other resources compared to us. Such companies may be able to devote greater resources to
the development, promotion, sale and support of their products and services, and may have more extensive
customer bases and broader customer relationships. Such competition may make it difficult to enter into
supply agreements, negotiate favourable prices, recruit or retain qualified employees, and acquire the
capital necessary to fund our capital investments.
In addition, there are currently hundreds of applications for licensed producer’s status being processed by
Health Canada. The number of licenses granted, and the number of licensed producers ultimately authorized
by Health Canada, could have an adverse impact on our ability to compete for market share in Canada’s
cannabis market. We also face competition from illegal cannabis dispensaries who do not have a valid
license and are selling cannabis to individuals.
In order for us to be competitive, we will need to invest significantly in research and development, market
development, marketing, production expansion, new client identification, distribution channels, and client
support. If we are not successful in obtaining sufficient resources to invest in these areas, our ability to
compete in the market may be adversely affected, which could materially and adversely affect our business,
financial conditions and operations.
Our future success depends upon our ability to maintain competitive production costs through right sized
production, economies of scale, and our ability to recognize higher margins through the sale of higher
margin products. To the extent that we are not able to continue to produce our products at competitive prices
or consumers prioritize established low margin products over innovative, higher margin products, our
business, financial conditions and operations could be materially adversely affected.
Employees
As at May 7, 2021, True Leaf had 7 employees and 1 consultant.
2.3 Development of Business.
Founded in 2013, True Leaf had two main operating divisions: TL Pet and TL Cannabis. The TL Pet
division was incorporated with the goal to build a brand, sell products, and generate revenue in the global
pet product marketplace. TL Cannabis was created to become a ‘Licensed Producer’ of legal cannabis under
Canada’s Cannabis Act; it submitted its application in April 2014 and received approval for cultivation,
processing, and medical sales in November 2019.
TL Pet launched its original line of hempseed-based pet supplements in the fall of 2015 to the Canadian
market, to the US market in March of 2016, and to the European market in May 2016. Sales continued to
build as product line extensions were executed and distribution was increased to a store count of over 3,000
by the summer of 2018. The Company underwent consumer research and major re-branding initiative in
Fall 2018, launched a re-branded hemp seed line in March 2019, and a new ‘CBD’ line for the US market
in August 2019. The new CBD line started shipping in early October of 2019 to TL Pet’s distributors.
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TL Cannabis purchased 40 acres of land in Lumby, British Columbia in December 2017. TL Cannabis
updated its application to produce and distribute cannabis to Health Canada and obtained all necessary
permissions and licenses to build a production facility. It subsequently built out its 18,000 square foot
environmentally controlled, cultivation and processing facility on the property over a two-year period. In
August 2019, TL Cannabis submitted its site evidence package of the Lumby facility to Health Canada for
approval. On November 22, 2019, True Leaf, through TL Cannabis became a Licensed Producer of
medicinal cannabis for the Canadian market under the Cannabis Act and secured three licenses from Health
Canada to cultivate, process, and sell medical cannabis.
In 2019, the cannabis industry started facing more scrutiny in the capital markets as regulatory restraints
and the market for cannabis failed to meet analyst expectations. Valuation of cannabis issuers dropped as
much as 90% of their value from their March 2019 highs to November 2019 lows. As a result, many issuers
in the cannabis industry experienced liquidity constraints during this time, including True Leaf. In 2020,
COVID-19 also had a tremendous impact on both of True Leaf’s markets specifically, the capital markets,
and the entire global economy. In 2019 and 2020, management of True Leaf actively sought out potential
investors, joint venture partners and third parties interested in leasing or purchasing its cultivation and
processing facility in Lumby, BC. To the extent possible cost-saving measures were implemented to extend
working capital.
In March 2020, True Leaf received a notice of default from its principal creditor in respect of secured debt
owed to that creditor in the amount of $5,940,000 plus interest. In April 2020, True Leaf entered creditor
protection under the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act (Canada). This process overshadowed the business of
True Leaf and its subsidiaries in 2020. Over a period of eight months and through a series of court-approved
transactions, financings, proposals and a consolidation of share capital, True Leaf emerged with a new
shareholder base, restructured debt and a cannabis-focused asset base. TL Pet was sold as part of this
reorganization. See Item 2.1 - Debt Restructuring and Corporate Reorganization and Item 3.3 - Penalties,
Sanctions and Bankruptcy - Bankruptcies for more detail about the restructuring of True Leaf’s business.
In February 2021, True Leaf closed a non-brokered private placement to raise gross proceeds of $1,534,479
(CAD) through the sale of 4,262,436 common shares priced at $0.36 per share.
2.4 Long Term Objectives.
True Leaf’s long-term objectives are to:
•
•
•
•
•

To produce and sell high quality craft cannabis products under the True Leaf license nationwide
and to global emerging markets.
To support the craft cannabis community nationwide by offering testing, packaging, marketing and
sales services.
To continue to commit to quality, consistency and continuous improvement while working to
achieve and maintain EU-GMP status for our facility and operations.
To provide a team-oriented and welcoming working environment that focuses on quality of life and
inclusiveness for our employees and stakeholders.
To strive to be environmentally sensitive and sustainable by using high quality and natural-focused
nutrients, organic pesticides and pest control methods.

True Leaf also intends to seek opportunities internationally by obtaining additional licences, including
export licences. True Leaf anticipates the following time frames and costs to achieve its long terms goals:
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Objective
To produce and sell high quality cannabis
products under the True Leaf license nationwide
Offering testing, packaging, marketing and sales
services to craft cannabis community nationwide
Land Development
Building Wing
Finalize EU-GMP certification of facility
Apply for or acquire international cultivation and
sale license(s)

Time Frame
Within 12 months

$

Expected Cost
1,895,000

Within 12 months

$

1,482,000

Within 12 months
Within 2 years
Within 2 years
Within 2 years

$
$
$
$

1,250,000
2,500,000
177,000
50,000

Total: $

7,354,000

2.5 Short Term Objectives and How We Intend to Achieve Them.
True Leaf’s business objectives for the next 12 months are to activate its cannabis business. The following
table discloses how True Leaf intends to meet this objective:

What we must do and how we will do it
Continue to build and secure supply agreements
with ‘Micro’ craft suppliers
Harvest from first company grow and submit two
batch amendments for cultivation and processing
Submit two batch amendments for additional classes
of cannabis products (1)
Marketing of business park lots
Complete construction of 100 light upper floor
cultivation area
Install packaging equipment for packaging flower
and pre-rolls into 3.5g tins
Commission anti-microbial equipment
Land Development
Pre-marketing with Velvet Management team
Staged roll-out to Provincial Cannabis Boards
Secure Health Canada sales licenses for medical,
retail sales and processing/selling of ‘2.0’ products
First harvest from 100 light grow
Cultivation sales license approval
Health Canada retail sales license for packed
products (6 SKU’s)
Product listings at additional Provincial cannabis
distribution boards:
Finalize EU-GMP certification of facility
First shipment of export product

Target completion date
or, if not known, number
of months to complete
Ongoing

$

Our cost to
complete (2)
550,000

June 2021

$

50,000

Fall 2021

$

80,000

May-June 2021
July 2021

$
$

10,000
1,160,000

July - August 2021

$

942,000

July - August 2021
Fall 2021
August – Sept. 2021
Sept. – Nov. 2021
October 2021 (3)

$
$
$
$
$

540,000
1,250,000
50,000
50,000
50,000

October 2021
October 2021 (3)
October 2021 (3)

$
$
$

100,000
50,000
50,000

October 2021(3)

$

TBD

Spring 2022
$
January 2023(4)
$
Total: $

177,000
TBD
5,109,000
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Notes:

(1)

(3)

True Leaf is projecting a four-month period without revenue while waiting for its CRA license and Health
Canada sales license approval (post two batch amendment submission).
During the first twelve months of operation, True Leaf believes it will be incurring losses of approximately
$1.3M to be funded from equity and debt raises.
Subject to Health Canada Approvals.

(4)

Subject to EU-GMP accreditation and import license approval.

(2)

2.6 Insufficient Funds.
The funds available as a result of this offering either may not or will not be sufficient to accomplish all of
True Leaf’s proposed objectives and there is no assurance that alternative financing will be available. True
Leaf may have to curtail its operations if revenue does not increase as expected, or additional financing is
not available.
2.7 Material Agreements.
The following summarizes the material agreements to which True Leaf is currently a party:
1. Lease – Vernon Office. True Leaf leases office space in Vernon, British Columbia from a company
controlled by Darcy Bomford, our CEO and a director of True Leaf. True Leaf pays approximately $2,500
under the lease. The lease was entered into on April 12, 2021. It is on a month-to-month term.
2. First Mortgage – Lumby Property. TL Cannabis obtained a first mortgage credit facility with Canguard
Mortgage Investment Company for $3,000,000. This mortgage is payable in monthly aggregate interest
installments of approximately $25,000. The principle is due upon maturity. The maturity date of the
mortgage is November 30, 2021.
3. Second Mortgage – Lumby Property. TL Cannabis obtained a second mortgage credit facility with
1263815 BC Ltd. for $1,700,000. This mortgage is payable in monthly aggregate interest installments of
approximately $17,000. The principle is due upon maturity. The maturity date of the mortgage is November
30, 2021.
Transactions with related parties were in the normal course of business and were at fair market prices,
which is the amount of consideration established and agreed to by the related parties.

[Continued on Next Page]
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Item 3: Interests of Directors, Management, Promoters and Principal Holders
3.1 Compensation and Securities Held.
The following table sets out information about each director, officer and promoter of the issuer and each
person who, directly or indirectly, beneficially owns or controls 10% or more of any class of voting
securities of the issuer (a “principal holder”). If the principal holder is not an individual, the notes to the
table states the name of any person that, directly or indirectly, beneficially owns or controls more than 50%
of the voting rights of the principal holder.

Name and
municipality
of principal
residence
Darcy Bomford
Vernon, BC

Positions held and
the date of
obtaining that
position
CEO June 9, 2014 to
April 28, 2020 and
Sept. 10, 2020 to
Present; Corp. Sec.
- Sept. 10, 2020 to
Present; and
Director since June 9, 2014
Michael (Mike) Chairman and
Harcourt
Director Vancouver, BC since June 9, 2014
Jennifer Pace
CFO - April 1,
Vernon, BC
2020 to Present;
and Director - Sept.
13, 2020 to Present;
Notes:

(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)
(5)
(6)
(7)

Compensation
paid by issuer or
related party in
the most recently
completed
financial year and
the compensation
anticipated to be
paid in the
current financial
year
2020: $49,771
2021: $125,000

Number, type and
percentage of
securities of the
issuer held after
completion of min.
offering (1)(2)
2,782,349 (4)(5)
(8.32%)

Number, type and
percentage of
securities of the
issuer held after
completion of
max. offering (1)(3)
2,782,349 (4)(5)
(4.76%)

2020: $Nil
2021: $Nil

236,508 (6)
(0.71%)

236,508 (6)
(0.40%)

2020: $115,212
2021: $125,000

238,962 (7)
(0.71%)

238,962 (7)
(0.41%)

Based on 33,453,075 common shares issued and outstanding assuming no Units are sold under the offering.
Percentages calculated on a non-diluted basis.
Based on 58,453,075 common shares issued and outstanding assuming completion of the maximum offering.
Includes 221,471 common shares held by First Pacific Enterprises Inc., a company controlled by Darcy Bomford.
Mr. Bomford also has 22,222 stock options exercisable at $8.46 per share until February 6, 2023 and 100,000
stock options exercisable at $0.54.
Mr. Harcourt also has 22,222 stock options exercisable at $8.46 per share until February 6, 2023 and 100,000
stock options exercisable at $0.54
Mrs. Pace has 100,000 stock options exercisable at $0.54.
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3.2 Management Experience.
The principal occupations of the directors and executive officers of True Leaf over the past five years is set
out below.

Name
Darcy Bomford

Principal occupation and related experience
Mr. Bomford is the founder and CEO of True Leaf Brands Inc. (June 9,
2014 to Present Date). Prior to this, Mr. Bomford was the founder,
President, Chief Executive Officer and director of Darford International
Inc., a manufacturer and marketer of branded and private pet food products
with three federally inspected production plants in the United States and
Canada, whose common shares formerly traded on the TSX Venture
Exchange under the symbol “WUF”. Mr. Bomford has extensive expertise
with professional manufacturing systems, including comprehensive thirdparty audited food safety systems, product development, marketing and
sales within a highly regulated and competitive industry.

Michael (Mike) Harcourt

Mr. Harcourt is the former Premier of British Columbia and former Mayor
of Vancouver. He serves as Honorary Chair of the International Centre for
Sustainable Cities and is Co-Chair of the International Panel of Advisers.
Mr. Harcourt also serves as an advisor to TransLink BC and is an Associate
Director at the Centre for Sustainability, Continuing Studies at UBC. He
is the honorary co-chair at the University of British Columbia’s Advisory
Council on Sustainability, as well as on the Canadian Electricity
Association’s Sustainable Electricity Program Advisory Panel.
Notably, Mr. Harcourt was awarded: (1) the Woodrow Wilson Award for
Public Service in 2005; (2) the Alumni Achievement Award for
Distinction for contributions to BC, Canada and the world from the
University of British Columbia in 2008; and (3) he was named an Officer
of the Order of Canada in 2012. Most recently, Mr. Harcourt received the
Freedom of the City Award from the City of Vancouver in February 2017.

Jennifer Pace

Mrs. Pace has held her CPA designation since 2001 and completed her
Master of Business Administration at Laurentian University in 2008.
Immediately prior to joining True Leaf, Mrs. Pace was the Controller and
CFO at Progressive Air Services, a privately owned airplane engine
manufacturer (October 2018 to April 2020). Prior to that, she was the
Controller for PRT Growing Services (annual revenues exceeding $100
million) where she started in 2004 as the Operations Accountant (March
2004 to October 2018). PRT Growing Services was a publicly traded
company that went private in 2012, changing its name from Pacific
Regeneration Technologies as part of the transaction.
Mrs. Pace is also an avid volunteer in her community for non-profit
organizations including Habitat for Humanity, the Army, Navy & Airforce
Veterans in Canada, and currently presides as President of the Vernon
Branch of the Royal Canadian Legion.
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3.3 Penalties, Sanctions and Bankruptcy.
Cease Trade Orders
Darcy Bomford, Mike Harcourt, and Jennifer Pace, the officers and directors of True Leaf, were subject to
a management cease trade order resulting from a failure to file True Leaf’s March 31, 2020 annual year end
audited financial statements and corresponding management discussion and analysis. The management
cease trade order was issued by the British Columbia Securities Commission on September 15, 2020 and
revoked on December 8, 2020.
Darcy Bomford, the President, CEO and a director of True Leaf, was the CEO and a director of Darford
International Inc. (“Darford”), a corporation that was the subject of a cease trade order issued by the British
Columbia Securities Commission on December 6, 2012 for failure to file its interim financial statements
and management’s discussion and analysis for the period ended September 30, 2012. Mr. Bomford resigned
from his position as the CEO of Darford on October 12, 2012.
Darford was also the subject of a cease trade order issued by the Alberta Securities Commission on April
14, 2014 for failure to file its annual financial statements and management’s discussion and analysis for the
year ended March 31, 2013, and interim financial statements and management’s discussion and analysis
for the periods ended September 30, 2012, December 31, 2012, June 30, 2013, September 30, 2013 and
December 31, 2013.
Other than as described above, to our knowledge no director or executive officer of True Leaf is as at the
date of this offering memorandum, or was within 10 years before the date of this offering memorandum, a
director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer of any company that:
(a) was subject to an order that was issued while the director or executive officer was acting in
the capacity as director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer; or
(b) was subject to an order that was issued after the director or executive officer ceased to be a
director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer and which resulted from an event
that occurred while that person was acting in the capacity as director, chief executive officer
or chief financial officer.
Bankruptcies and Insolvencies
In April 2020, True Leaf, TL Cannabis, TL Investments, and TL Pets commenced restructuring proceedings
and sought creditor protection by each filing a Notice of Intention to make a proposal under the Bankruptcy
and Insolvency Act (Canada). True Leaf and its subsidiaries worked their way through this process and
submitted proposals to their respective creditors which were subsequently approved by these creditors and
the BC supreme court. For more information see Item 2.1 - Debt Restructuring and Corporate
Reorganization.
On October 22, 2012, The Bowra Group Inc. was appointed as receiver and manager of all assets,
undertakings and properties of Darford and its wholly owned subsidiaries Darford USA Inc., Darford
Industries Ltd., and Darford USA Holding Co. Darcy Bomford, the President, CEO and a director of True
Leaf, was the CEO and a director of Darford but resigned from his position as the CEO of Darford on
October 12, 2012. Following its appointment, the receiver initiated a sale process to sell Darford’s assets
on a going-concern basis.
Other than as described above, to our knowledge no director or executive officer of True Leaf, or a
shareholder holding a sufficient number of securities of True Leaf to affect materially the control of True
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Leaf, is, or has been within 10 years before the date of this offering memorandum, a director or executive
officer of any company that, while that person was acting in that capacity, or within a year of that person
ceasing to act in that capacity, become bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation relating to
bankruptcy or insolvency or was subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or compromise with
creditors, or had a receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold its assets.
Personal Bankruptcies
No director or executive officer of True Leaf has, within 10 years before the date of this offering
memorandum, become bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or
insolvency, or become subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors,
or had a receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold the assets of the director or executive
officer.
Securities Related Penalties and Sanctions
To our knowledge, no director, executive officer or a shareholder holding a sufficient number of common
shares of True Leaf to affect materially the control of True Leaf has been subject to any penalties or
sanctions imposed by a court relating to Canadian securities legislation or by a Canadian securities
regulatory authority or has entered into a settlement agreement with a Canadian securities authority, or any
other penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or regulatory body that would likely be considered important
to a reasonable investor in making an investment decision.
3.4 Loans.
As of May 7, 2021, no debenture or loan is due to or from the directors, management, promoters and
principal holders of True Leaf.
Item 4: Capital Structure
4.1 Share Capital.
Capitalization Table
The following table sets forth the capitalization of True Leaf as of May 7, 2021, and the pro forma
capitalization after the maximum offering.

Description of
security
Common shares
Preferred shares
Stock options (1)
Warrants (3)
Notes:

(1)
(2)
(3)

Number
authorized
to be issued
Unlimited
Unlimited
N/A (2)
N/A

Price per
security
-

Number
outstanding as at
May 7, 2021
33,453,075
0
814,444
865,000

Number
outstanding
after min.
offering
33,453,075
0
814,444
865,000

Number
outstanding
after max.
offering
58,453,075
0
814,444
13,365,000

See Item 4.1 – Stock Options for a description of the share options.
Number of share options issuable limited to a rolling 10% of the issued and outstanding common shares.
See Item 4.1 – Warrants for a description of the common share purchase warrants.
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Stock Options
True Leaf has in place a share option plan (the “Plan”) which was approved by directors on March 19,
2015. The Plan has been established to provide incentive to qualified parties to increase their proprietary
interest in True Leaf and thereby encourage their continuing association with True Leaf. The Plan is
administered by the board of directors of True Leaf and provides that options will be issued to directors,
officers, employees or consultants of True Leaf or a subsidiary of True Leaf. The number of common shares
of True Leaf issuable under the Plan may not exceed 10% of the total number of issued and outstanding
common shares of True Leaf from time to time. All share options expire on a date not later than 5 years
after the date of grant of such option.
As at May 7, 2021, the following stock options are outstanding and exercisable:

Number of Stock
Options Outstanding
66,667
16,667
133,333
3,333
600,000
820,000

Exercisable
66,667
16,667
66,667
3,333
450,000
603,334

Exercise Price
$8.46
$4.50
$5.04
$2.61
$0.54

Expiry Date
February 6, 2023
July 31, 2023
March 6, 2024
July 25, 2024
March 8, 2026

Warrants
As at May 7, 2021, the following common share purchase warrants are outstanding:

Number of Warrants
Outstanding
625,000
240,000
865,000

Exercise Price
$4.59
$1.89

Expiry Date
February 21, 2022
October 7, 2022

4.2 Long Term Debt Securities.
As at February 14, 2021, True Leaf does not have any long-term debt securities outstanding.

[Continued on Next Page]
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4.3 Prior Sales.
The table below sets out details regarding the issuance of securities of the class being offered under this
offering memorandum during the last 12 months.

Date of issuance
2020/12/14
2021/02/04
2021/02/26
2021/03/08
Notes:

(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)

Type of
security issued
Common shares
Common shares
Common shares
Common shares

Number of
securities issued
17,416,980
222,222
4,262,436
176,882

Price per
security
$0.375
$0.360
$0.360
$0.540

Total funds
received
Not applicable (1)
$80,000 (2)
$1,534,477 (3)
Not applicable (4)

Common shares were issued at a deemed price of $0.375 per share in connection with the amalgamation of
1273096 BC Ltd. and 1263809 BC Ltd. and a wholly owned subsidiary of True Leaf.
True Leaf issued 222,222 post-consolidated common shares on the first close of a $1 million capital raise for
gross proceeds of $80,000.
True Leaf issued 4,262,436 post-consolidated common shares on the first close of a $1 million capital raise for
gross proceeds of $1,534,477.
True Leaf issued 176,882 common shares to employees as part of their employment contract and recorded
$95,516 as share-based compensation expense with the same amount as an addition to share capital.

4.4 Reporting Issuer and Trading Status
True Leaf is a reporting issuer in British Columbia, Alberta and Ontario. True Leaf’s common shares trade
on the Canadian Securities Exchange under the trading symbol: “MJ”, on the Frankfurt stock exchange
under the trading symbol: “TLLA”, and on the OTC Market Group's OTC Pink under the trading symbol
“TRLFF”.
The following tables set forth the reported intraday high and low prices and monthly trading volumes of
the common shares on a post-consolidated basis for the 6-month period prior to the date of this offering
memorandum.

Month
April 2021
March 2021
February 2021
January 2021
December 2020
November 2020

Volume
502,247
1,199,973
3,820,534
1,608,409
1,666,853
983,291

High Trading Price
$0.550
$0.610
$0.890
$0.640
$0.900
$1.125

Low Trading Price
$0.430
$0.415
$0.340
$0.400
$0.420
$0.270

Item 5: Securities Offered
5.1 Terms of Securities.
The securities being offered by this offering memorandum are a maximum of up to 25,000,000 Units. Each
Unit consists of 1 common share of True Leaf and one-half of one common share purchase warrant. Each
whole warrant (each, a “Warrant”) shall be exercisable to purchase 1 additional common share of True
Leaf at an exercise price of $0.60 for a period of 2 years from the issuance date of the Units. The Warrants
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are subject to an acceleration clause, such that if the common shares of True Leaf trading on the Canadian
Securities Exchange is greater than $0.90 for 10 consecutive trading days after four months and one day
from the closing date, True Leaf may accelerate the Warrant expiry date to the date which is 30 calendar
days following the date a press release is issued by True Leaf announcing the acceleration terms.
Meeting Attendance and Voting Rights
The holders of the common shares are entitled to receive notice of, attend, and vote at all meetings of the
shareholders. Each common share entitles the holder to one vote.
Redemption and Retraction Rights
There are no redemption or retraction rights attached to the common shares.
Dividends
True Leaf’s board of directors may declare dividends on the common shares in such amounts, at such times,
and in such a manner as the directors may determine in their absolute discretion, subject to the provisions
of the Business Corporations Act (British Columbia).
Liquidation, Dissolution or Winding-Up
The holders of common shares of True Leaf will participate pari passu in the distribution of any amount
available for distribution on liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of True Leaf.
5.2 Subscription Procedure.
To subscribe for the Units offered hereunder, you must complete and deliver to True Leaf on or before 5:00
p.m. (Pacific Standard Time) on June 30, 2021 (being two full business days before the proposed Closing
Date), or such other date as the board of directors of True Leaf may determine:
(a) a completed and executed Subscription Agreement;
(b) bank draft, certified cheque, wire transfer, Automated Clearing House payment (ACH) or
Electronic Funds Transfer (EFT)* (net of any bank charges) payable to “True Leaf Brands Inc.”
in an amount equal to the aggregate subscription price;
(c) if the subscriber is a Canadian Person:
(i) if the subscriber is purchasing Units under the Accredited Investor Exemption, a duly

completed and executed copy of Appendix B – Accredited Investor Certificate; and
(ii) if the subscriber is purchasing Units under the Accredited Investor Exemption, and if the

subscriber is an individual (other than an individual who beneficially owns Financial
Assets having and aggregate realizable value that, before taxes but net of any related
liabilities, exceeds CAD $5,000,000), then a duly completed and executed copy of
Appendix C – Accredited Investor Risk Acknowledgement; and
(iii) if the subscriber is purchasing Units under the Offering Memorandum exemption, that duly

completed and executed copy of appendix the Offering Memorandum risk
acknowledgement, and if the subscriber is resident in Alberta, New Brunswick, Nova
Scotia, Ontario, Quebec or Saskatchewan, Schedule A - Classification of Investors Under
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the Offering Memorandum Exemption and Schedule B - Investment Limits for Investors
Under the Offering Memorandum Exemption to Appendix D; And
(iv) if the subscriber is purchasing Units under the Offering Memorandum exemption and is

resident in a jurisdiction other than British Columbia or Newfoundland and Labrador, a
duly completed an executed copy of Appendix D - Eligible Investor Status Certificate and
Schedule A - Eligible Investor Representation Letter to Appendix D; or
(v) if the subscriber is purchasing the Units under the Close Family, Friends and Business

Associates exemption, a duly completed Appendix F - Close Family, Friend or Business
Associate Certificate and if: (i) resident in Saskatchewan the Schedule A - Family, Friend
or Business Associate – Risk Acknowledgement Form; resident in Ontario the Schedule B
- Family, Friend and Business Associate Investors – Risk Acknowledgement Form.
(d) if the subscriber is neither a Canadian Person nor a U.S. Person:
(i) a duly completed and executed copy of Appendix G – Offshore Investor Certificate and a

duly completed and executed copy of Appendix B- Accredited Investor Certificate and if
the subscriber is an individual (other than an individual who beneficially owns Financial
Assets having and aggregate realizable value that, before taxes but net of any related
liabilities, exceeds CAD $5,000,000), then a duly completed and executed copy of
Appendix C – Accredited Investor Risk Acknowledgement; or
(e) if the subscriber is a U.S. Person:
(i) a duly completed and executed copy of Appendix H – U.S. Accredited Investor Certificate

and duly completed and executed copy of Appendix B - Accredited Investor Certificate and
if the subscriber is an individual (other than an individual who beneficially owns Financial
Assets having and aggregate realizable value that, before taxes but net of any related
liabilities, exceeds CAD $5,000,000), then a duly completed and executed copy of
Appendix C – Accredited Investor Risk Acknowledgement.
(ii) U.S. persons will also need to verify they are an “accredited investor” as defined by Rule

501(a) of Regulation D promulgated by the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”)
under the United States Securities Act of 1933 (the “1933 Act”).
___________
* Funds delivered by ACH, EFT or wire transfer will be accounted for as the net amount deposited into True Leaf’s bank account,
after currency exchange and bank charges, if any. Accordingly, the number of Units and the total purchase amount completed by
the subscriber on the Subscription Agreement will both be subject to adjustment by True Leaf to correspond with the funds actually
deposited and the number of Units to which the subscriber is entitled based on that deposit.

Funds delivered to True Leaf for purchase of the Units will be held in trust for a period of two days from
the date that True Leaf receives the Subscription Agreement and payment from you.
Subscriptions for Units will be received, subject to rejection and allotment, in whole or in part, and subject
to True Leaf’s right to close the subscription books at any time without notice. True Leaf reserves the right
to reject any subscription for Units in whole or in part. If a subscription for Units is not accepted, True Leaf
will promptly return all subscription proceeds to the purchaser without interest.
Closings may occur periodically as determined by True Leaf’s Board. It is expected that direct registration
statements or certificates representing the common shares and corresponding Warrants will be available for
delivery within a reasonable period of time after the relevant closing date. The underlying common shares
and Warrants comprising the Units will be legended to reflect the resale restrictions described herein.
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There is no minimum offering. As such, you may be the only purchaser
Exemptions from Prospectus Requirements
This offering is being conducted in all provinces and territories of Canada, other than Quebec, pursuant to
exemptions from the prospectus requirements and, where applicable, registration requirements of
applicable securities legislation. In particular, True Leaf is offering the Units of True Leaf pursuant to the
exemption from the prospectus requirements set forth in section 2.3 (the “Accredited Investor
Exemption”), Sections 2.5, 2.6, or 2.6.1 Section 2.9 (the “Family, Friends and Business Associates
Exemption”) (the “Offering Memorandum Exemption”) and section 2.10 (the “Minimum Amount
Investment Exemption”) of NI 45-106.
In the United States, the offering is available solely to accredited investors under Rule 506(c) of Regulation
D (“Rule 506(c)”) promulgated by the SEC under the 1933 Act. Rule 506(c) permits general solicitation of
offerings, however, purchasers in a Rule 506(c) offering must be verified "accredited investors”, as defined
by Rule 501(a) of Regulation D.
The foregoing exemptions relieve True Leaf from any obligations under the applicable securities legislation
to file and obtain a receipt for a prospectus. Accordingly, prospective investors will not receive the benefits
associated with a subscription for securities issued pursuant to a filed prospectus, including the review of
material by securities regulatory authorities.
Accredited Investor Exemption
Section 2.3 of NI 45-106 allows “accredited investors” to purchase Units of True Leaf. The definition of
“accredited investor” includes (among other categories):
(a) an individual who, either alone or with a spouse, beneficially owns financial assets having an
aggregate realizable value that before taxes, but net of any related liabilities, exceeds $1,000,000;
(b) an individual whose net income before taxes exceeded $200,000 in each of the two most recent
calendar years or whose net income before taxes combined with that of a spouse exceeded $300,000
in each of those years and who, in either case, reasonably expects to exceed that net income level
in the current calendar year;
(c) an individual who, either alone or with a spouse, has net financial assets (which does not include
real estate) of at least $1,000,000;
(d) an individual who, either alone or with a spouse, has net assets of at least $5,000,000; and
(e) a registrant acting on behalf of a fully managed account.
See the Accredited Investor Certificate attached to the Subscription Agreement for a complete list of the
categories of “accredited investor”. Each subscriber who purchases as an accredited investor must complete
and sign the Accredited Investor Certificate attached to the Subscription Agreement, and if they are an
individual must sign the Risk Acknowledgment for Individual Accredited Investors on Form 45-106F9.
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Offering Memorandum Exemption
Section 2.9 of NI 45-106 provides exemptions for the sale of Units of True Leaf to subscribers if the
subscriber purchases as principal and True Leaf delivers this offering memorandum to the subscriber in the
required form; and the subscriber signs the Risk Acknowledgment on Form 45-106F4 attached to the
Subscription Agreement that accompanies this offering memorandum.
All jurisdictions of Canada where the offering memorandum exemption is available, except British
Columbia and Newfoundland and Labrador, impose eligibility criteria on persons or companies investing
under the offering memorandum exemption. In these jurisdictions, if the subscriber's aggregate subscription
price is more than $10,000, then the subscriber must be an “eligible investor”. In certain jurisdictions there
are also limits on the maximum amounts subscribers can buy, as further outlined below.
An “eligible investor” includes the following investors (among other categories):
(a) a person whose
(i) net assets, alone or with a spouse, in the case of an individual, exceed $400,000,
(ii) net income before taxes exceeded $75,000 in each of the two most recent calendar years
and who reasonably expects to exceed that income level in the current calendar year, or
(iii) net income before taxes, alone or with a spouse, in the case of an individual exceeded
$125,000 in each of the two most recent calendar years and who reasonably expects to
exceed that income level in the current calendar year,
(b) a person of which a majority of the voting securities are beneficially owned by eligible investors
or a majority of the directors are eligible investors,
(c) a Partnership of which all of the partners are eligible investors,
(d) a Limited Partnership of which the majority of the general partners are eligible investors,
(e) a trust or estate in which all of the beneficiaries or a majority of the trustees or executors are eligible
investors,
(f) an accredited investor,
(g) a person described in section 2.5 of NI 45-106 [Family, friends and business associates], or
(h) a person that has obtained advice regarding the suitability of the investment and if the person is
resident in a jurisdiction of Canada, that advice has been obtained from an eligibility adviser.
In addition, in Alberta, New Brunswick, Nova Scotia, Ontario, Quebec and Saskatchewan, there is a
requirement that the acquisition cost of all securities acquired by a subscriber who is an individual under
the Offering Memorandum Exemption in the preceding 12 months does not exceed the following amounts:
(i) in the case of a purchaser that is not an eligible investor, $10,000;
(ii) in the case of a purchaser that is an eligible investor, $30,000;
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(iii) in the case of a purchaser that is an eligible investor and that received advice from a portfolio
manager, investment dealer or exempt market dealer that the investment is suitable, $100,000.
In British Columbia and Newfoundland and Labrador, a subscriber may purchase Units of True Leaf with
a total subscription price over $10,000, and there is no requirement that the subscriber be an “eligible
investor”.\
Minimum Amount Investment Exemption (not available for individuals)
Section 2.10 of NI 45-106 allows a purchaser who is not an individual, is purchasing as principal and invests
not less than $150,000 to purchase common share of True Leaf. A Risk Acknowledgment on Form 45106F4 or Form 45-106F9 need not be signed in this case.
Other Jurisdictions
The sale of Units of True Leaf pursuant to this offering memorandum may also be made in other
jurisdictions provided that the subscriber provides to True Leaf the full particulars of the exemption from
the registration and prospectus requirements under applicable securities legislation being relied on and
evidence of the subscriber's qualifications thereunder.
Each subscriber is urged to consult with his own legal adviser as to the details of the statutory exemption
being relied upon and the consequences of purchasing securities pursuant to such exemption.
Item 6: Income Tax Consequences and RRSP Eligibility
6.1 Independent Professional Tax Adviser.
You should consult your own professional advisers to obtain advice on the income tax consequences
that apply to you.
Prospective purchasers should consult their own tax advisors for advice with respect to the income tax
consequences associated with their acquisition, holding, and disposition of securities under this offering
memorandum and with respect to their particular circumstances. Neither True Leaf nor its legal counsel
makes any representations with respect to the income tax consequences of any prospective purchasers.
6.2 Income Tax Consequences.
Tax consequences are not a material aspect of the securities being offered.
6.3 RRSP Eligibility.
Not all securities are eligible for investment in a registered retirement savings plan (RRSP). You should
consult your own professional advisers to obtain advice on the RRSP eligibility of these securities.
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Item 7: Compensation Paid to Sellers and Finders
No selling agent has been appointed.
Where permitted by applicable securities laws, True Leaf reserves the right to pay a referral fee or finder's
fee to any one of, or a combination of, registered dealers and qualified finders who refer subscribers to True
Leaf. True Leaf may pay a fee of up to 7% in cash and 7% in agent’s warrants based on the gross proceeds
of the offering attributable to the applicable registered dealer or finder and will be paid out of such gross
proceeds of the offering.
Item 8: Risk Factors
Any investment in True Leaf’s securities offered hereby is speculative and involves a high degree of risk.
You should carefully consider the following information about these risks together with the other
information contained in this offering memorandum before you decide whether to buy such securities. If
any of the following risks actually occur, True Leaf’s business, results of operations, and financial condition
could suffer significantly, and you may lose all or part of your investment.
8.1 General Risks
The existence of material uncertainties may cast significant doubt on our ability to continue as a going
concern.
Our auditor has issued an opinion on our consolidated financial statements which states that the
consolidated financial statements were prepared assuming we will continue as a going concern. Our auditor
concurred with management’s assessment that our continued operations are dependent on our ability to
generate future cash flows from operations and obtain additional funding through external financing to
deliver on its business plan. No assurance can be given that any future financing, if needed, will be available
or, if available, that it will be on terms that are satisfactory to True Leaf. Even if True Leaf is able to obtain
additional financing, if needed, it may contain undue restrictions on its operations, in the case of debt
financing, or cause substantial dilution for its shareholders, in the case of equity financing.
We will likely incur significant costs and obligations in relation to our on-going and anticipated
business operations.
We expect to incur significant on-going costs and obligations related to our investment in infrastructure and
growth and for regulatory compliance, which could have a material adverse impact on our results of
operations, financial condition and cash flows. In addition, future changes in regulations, more vigorous
enforcement thereof or other unanticipated events could require extensive changes to our operations,
increased compliance costs or give rise to material liabilities, which could have a material adverse effect
on the business, results of operations and financial condition of the Company.
Our success depends in part on our ability to attract and retain senior management and key skilled
professionals which we may or may not be able to do. Our failure to do so could prevent us from
achieving our goals or becoming profitable.
Our success is dependent on the ability of our directors and officers to develop our business and manage
our operations. It is also dependent on our ability to attract and retain key quality assurance, scientific, sales,
public relations, and marketing staff. The loss of any key person or the inability to find and retain new key
persons could have a material adverse effect on our business. Competition for sales and marketing staff as
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well as officers and directors - can be intense. While competitive compensation packages are provided as a
primary method of retaining the services of key individuals, no assurance can be provided that we will be
able to attract or retain key personnel in the future. This may adversely impact our operations.
We will need a significant amount of capital to execute our business plan. Unless we are able to raise
sufficient funds, we may be forced to discontinue our operations.
We are in the development stage and will likely operate at a loss until our business becomes established.
We will require additional financing in order to fund future operations. Our ability to secure any required
financing in order to commence and sustain our operations will depend, in part, upon prevailing capital
market conditions, as well as our business success. There can be no assurance that we will be successful in
our efforts to secure any additional financing or additional financing on terms satisfactory to our
management. If additional financing is raised by issuing common shares, control may change and
shareholders may suffer additional dilution. If adequate funds are not available or they are unavailable on
acceptable terms, we may be required to scale back our business plan or cease operating. We have a limited
operating history, and accordingly, we are subject to many of the risks of early-stage enterprises.
We have a history of operating losses.
We have a history of net losses, may incur significant net losses in the future and may not achieve or
maintain profitability. We have incurred losses in recent periods. We may not be able to achieve or maintain
profitability and may continue to incur significant losses in the future. In addition, we expect to continue to
increase operating expenses as we implement initiatives to continue to grow our business and deliver on
our business plan. If our revenues do not increase to offset these expected increases in costs and operating
expenses, we will not be profitable. There is no assurance that future revenues will be sufficient to generate
the funds required to continue operations without external funding.
8.2 Investment Risk
If we issue additional common shares, shareholders may experience further dilution in their
ownership of us.
We are authorized to issue an unlimited number of common shares without par value. We have the right to
raise additional capital or incur borrowings from third parties to finance our business. Our board of directors
has the authority, without the consent of any of our shareholders, to cause us to issue more common shares.
Consequently, shareholders may experience more dilution in their ownership of us in the future. Our board
of directors and majority shareholders have the power to amend our constating documents in order to affect
forward and reverse stock splits, and recapitalizations of the Company. The issuance of additional common
shares by us would dilute all existing shareholders' ownership in us.
We cannot assure that we will ever pay dividends.
We do not currently anticipate declaring and paying dividends to our shareholders in the near future. It is
our current intention to apply net earnings, if any, in the foreseeable future to increase our capital base and
marketing. Prospective investors seeking or needing dividend income or liquidity should therefore not
purchase our common shares. We cannot assure that we will ever have sufficient earnings to declare and
pay dividends to the holders of our common shares, and in any event, a decision to declare and pay
dividends is at the sole discretion of our board of directors.
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Future sales of our common shares, or the perception that such sales may occur, could depress our
common share price.
Our notice of articles authorizes us to issue up to an unlimited number of common shares. In the future, we
may issue additional common shares or other securities if we need to raise additional capital. The number
of new common shares issued in connection with raising additional capital could constitute a material
portion of those current outstanding common shares. Any future sales of our common shares, or the
perception that such sales may occur, could negatively impact the price of our common shares.
Our common shares are thinly traded and you may be unable to sell at or near asking price, or at all.
We do not have a liquid market for our common shares, and we cannot predict the extent to which an active
public market for trading our common shares will be achieved or sustained. We can be thinly traded given
we are a small company that is relatively unknown to stock analysts, stockbrokers, institutional investors
and others in the investment community who generate or influence sales volume. Even if we came to the
attention of such persons, those persons tend to be risk-averse and may be reluctant to follow, purchase, or
recommend the purchase of shares of an unproven company such as ours until such time as we become
more seasoned and viable. As a consequence, there may be periods of several days or more when trading
activity in our shares is minimal or non-existent, as compared to a seasoned issuer which has a large and
steady volume of trading activity that will generally support continuous sales without an adverse effect on
share price. We cannot give you any assurance that a broader or more active public trading market for our
common shares will develop or be sustained, or that current trading levels will be sustained.
The market price for our common shares may be volatile, which may result in a decline in value of
your investment.
The trading price of our common shares has been and may continue to be volatile. Securities markets
worldwide experience significant price and volume fluctuations. This market volatility, as well as general
economic, market or political conditions could reduce the market price of our common shares in spite of
our operating performance. In addition, our results of operations could fail to meet the expectations of
investors due to a number of potential factors, including variations in our quarterly results of operations,
additions or departures of key management personnel, failure to meet our projected operational milestones,
litigation and government investigations. Other factors which may affect the value of our common shares
include: changes or proposed changes in laws, new regulations, or differing interpretations or enforcement
of the law, adverse market reaction to any indebtedness we may incur or securities we may issue in the
future, changes in market valuations of similar companies or speculation in the press or investment
community, announcements by our competitors of significant contracts, acquisitions, dispositions, strategic
partnerships, joint ventures or capital commitments, adverse publicity about our industry or individual
scandals. All of these events could result in a decrease of the market price of our common shares and as a
result, you may be unable to resell your common shares at or above the price you acquired our securities.
8.3 Risks Specific to True Leaf
The continued development of True Leaf will require additional financing to support on-going
operations, to undertake capital expenditures or to undertake acquisitions or other business
combination transactions.
There is no guarantee that True Leaf will be able to achieve its business objectives. True Leaf intends to
fund its business objectives by way of additional offerings of equity and/or debt financing. The failure to
raise or procure such additional funds could result in the delay or indefinite postponement of current
business objectives. There can be no assurance that additional capital or other types of financing will be
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available if needed or that, if available, will be on terms acceptable to True Leaf. If additional funds are
raised by offering equity securities or convertible debt, existing shareholders could suffer significant
dilution. Any debt financing secured in the future could involve the granting of security against assets of
True Leaf and also contain restrictive covenants relating to capital raising activities and other financial and
operational matters, which may make it more difficult for True Leaf to obtain additional capital and to
pursue business opportunities, including potential acquisitions. True Leaf inability to raise financing
through traditional banking to fund on-going operations, capital expenditures or acquisitions could limit its
growth and may have a material adverse effect upon True Leaf's business, results of operations, financial
condition or prospects.
If additional funds are raised through further issuances of equity or convertible debt securities, existing
shareholders could suffer significant dilution, and any new equity securities issued could have rights,
preferences and privileges superior to existing holders of common shares.
We may experience difficulties in generating profits.
On November 22, 2019, TL Cannabis received three licenses from Health Canada to cultivate, process and
sell cannabis for medical purposes pursuant to the Cannabis Act for our facility in Lumby, British
Columbia. We are new to cultivating, processing, and selling cannabis and have yet to grow, process, or
sell cannabis under our license. We may experience difficulties in our development process, such as
capacity constraints, quality control problems or other disruptions, which would make it more difficult to
generate profits. Our failure to achieve a low-cost structure through economies of scale or improvements
in manufacturing processes and design could have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects,
results of operations and financial condition.
We are subject to all of the business risks and uncertainties associated with any new business enterprise,
including the risks that we will be unable to acquire the necessary cultivation license, successfully produce
the product, or establish a market for our product. There can be no assurance that consumer demand for our
product will be as anticipated, or that we will become profitable. As a result, an investment in our securities
involves a high degree of risk and should only be acquired if you can afford to lose your entire investment.
We are subject to risks inherent in an agricultural business, including the risk of crop failure.
True Leaf's business involves the cultivation of the cannabis plant. The cultivation of this plant is subject
to agricultural risks related to insects, plant diseases, unstable growing conditions, water and electricity
availability and cost, and force majeure events. Although True Leaf cultivates its cannabis plants in indoor,
climate-controlled rooms staffed by trained personnel and in the future plans to cultivate cannabis plants in
greenhouses, there can be no assurance that agricultural risks will not have a material adverse effect on the
cultivation of its cannabis. True Leaf may in the future cultivate cannabis plants outdoors, which would
also subject it to related agricultural risks.
We may not be able to use the facilities as planned and will, therefore, not be able to commence
operations on the timetable or the scale that we have planned.
To date, our proposed cannabis production activities and resources have been primarily focused on our
facility in Lumby, BC and we will continue to be focused on this facility for the foreseeable future. Adverse
changes or developments affecting the facility, including but not limited to a breach of security, could have
a material and adverse effect on our business, financial condition and prospects. Any breach of the security
measures and other facility requirements, including any failure to comply with recommendations or
requirements arising from inspections by Health Canada, could also have an impact on our ability to
continue to operate under any license we may receive.
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We may be unable to attract or retain key personnel with sufficient experience in the cannabis
industry, and we may be unable to attract, develop and retain additional employees required for our
development and future success.
Our success is largely dependent on the performance of our management team and certain employees and
our continuing ability to attract, develop, motivate and retain highly qualified and skilled employees.
Qualified individuals are in high demand, and we may incur significant costs to attract and retain them. The
loss of the services of any key personnel, or an inability to attract other suitably qualified persons when
needed, could prevent us from executing on our business plan and strategy, and we may be unable to find
adequate replacements on a timely basis, or at all. We do not currently maintain key-person insurance on
the lives of any of our key personnel.
Further, each director and officer, as well as certain additional key personnel, of a company that holds a
license is subject to the requirement to obtain and maintain a security clearance from Health Canada under
the Cannabis Regulations. Moreover, under the Cannabis Regulations, an individual with security clearance
must be physically present on site when other individuals are conducting activities with cannabis. Under
the Cannabis Regulations and the Cannabis Act, a security clearance is valid for a limited time and must be
renewed before the expiry of a current security clearance. There is no assurance that any of our existing
personnel who presently or may in the future require a security clearance will be able to obtain or renew
such clearances or that new personnel who require a security clearance will be able to obtain one. A failure
by an individual in a key operational position to maintain or renew his or her security clearance could result
in a reduction or complete suspension of our operations. In addition, if an individual in a key operational
position leaves us, and we are unable to find a suitable replacement who is able to obtain a security clearance
required by the Cannabis Regulations in a timely manner, or at all, we may not be able to conduct our
operations at planned production volume levels or at all.
We may not acquire market share or achieve profits due to competition in the cannabis industry.
We will face intense competition from other companies, some of which can be expected to have longer
operating histories, more financial resources, and greater manufacturing and marketing experience than us.
Increased competition by larger and better-financed competitors could materially and adversely affect our
business, financial condition, and results of operations.
Because of the early stage of the industry in which we plan to operate, we expect to face additional
competition from new entrants. If the number of users of cannabis in Canada increases, the demand for
products will increase, and we expect that competition will become more intense as current and future
competitors begin to offer an increasing number of diversified products. To remain competitive, we will
require a continued high level of investment in research and development, marketing, sales, and client
support. We may not have sufficient resources to maintain research and development, marketing, sales, and
client support efforts on a competitive basis which could materially and adversely affect our proposed
cannabis production business, financial condition and results of operations.
We are subject to product liability regarding our products, which could result in costly litigation and
settlements.
As a manufacturer and distributor of products designed to be ingested by humans, True Leaf faces an
inherent risk of exposure to product liability claims, regulatory action and litigation if its products are
alleged to have caused significant loss or injury. In addition, the manufacture and sale of cannabis involve
the risk of injury to consumers due to tampering by unauthorized third parties or product contamination.
Previously unknown adverse reactions resulting from human consumption of cannabis alone or in
combination with other medications or substances could occur. As a manufacturer, distributor and retailer
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of adult-use and medical cannabis, or in its role as an investor in or service provider to an entity that is a
manufacturer, distributor and/or retailer of adult-use or medical cannabis, True Leaf may be subject to
various product liability claims, including, among others, that the cannabis product caused injury or illness,
include inadequate instructions for use or include inadequate warnings concerning possible side effects or
interactions with other substances.
A product liability claim or regulatory action against True Leaf could result in increased costs, could
adversely affect True Leaf's reputation with its clients and consumers generally, and could have a material
adverse effect on the business, results of operations, financial condition or prospects of True Leaf. There
can be no assurances that True Leaf will be able to maintain product liability insurance on acceptable terms
or with adequate coverage against potential liabilities. Such insurance is expensive and may not be available
in the future on acceptable terms, or at all. The inability to maintain sufficient insurance coverage on
reasonable terms or to otherwise protect against potential product liability claims could prevent or inhibit
the commercialization of True Leaf's potential products or otherwise have a material adverse effect on the
business, results of operations, financial condition or prospects of True Leaf.
Our cannabis products may be subject to recalls for a variety of reasons, which could require us to
expend significant management and capital resources.
Manufacturers and distributors of products are sometimes subject to the recall or return of their products
for a variety of reasons, including product defects, such as contamination, unintended harmful side effects
or interactions with other substances, packaging safety and inadequate or inaccurate labeling disclosure.
Such recalls cause unexpected expenses of the recall and any legal proceedings that might arise in
connection with the recall. This can cause significant sales loss. In addition, a product recall may require
significant management attention. Although True Leaf has detailed procedures in place for testing its
products, there can be no assurance that any quality, potency or contamination problems will be detected
in time to avoid unforeseen product recalls, regulatory action or lawsuits. Additionally, if one of True Leaf's
products were subject to recall, the image of that product and True Leaf could be harmed. Additionally,
product recalls can lead to increased scrutiny of operations by applicable regulatory agencies, requiring
further management attention and potential legal fees and other expenses.
8.4 Industry Risks
The development of True Leaf’s business and operating results may be hindered by applicable
restrictions on sales and marketing activities imposed by government regulatory bodies.
The Cannabis Act provides for prohibitions regarding the promotion of cannabis products. Subject to a few
exceptions, all promotion of cannabis products is prohibited unless authorized by the Cannabis Act. The
prohibitions apply to anyone who may be involved in promotion cannabis accessories and services related
to cannabis, including: (1) persons who produce, sell or distribute cannabis; (2) persons who sell or
distribute cannabis accessories; (3) persons who provide cannabis-related services; or (4) media
organizations. Limited promotion of cannabis, cannabis accessories and cannabis-related services is
permitted under the Cannabis Act in specific circumstances including (1) informational promotion or brandpreference promotion; (2) point of sale; and (3) brand elements on things that are not cannabis or a cannabis
accessory subject to the restrictions as described in greater detail in Item 2.2 – Our Business – Regulatory
Framework – Advertising. If we are unable to properly conduct sales in a regulated environment or target
the appropriate audiences for our cannabis for medical purposes, our results of operations and business
prospects could be substantially impaired.
The cannabis industry is subject to significant regulation by the Canadian Federal and Provincial
Government. Changes to such laws, regulations and guidelines or failure to comply may result in a
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material adverse effect on True Leaf's business, financial condition, results of operations or
prospects.
True Leaf's business is subject to a variety of laws, regulations and guidelines relating to the manufacture,
management, transportation, storage and disposal of cannabis, including laws and regulations relating to
health and safety, the conduct of operations and the protection of the environment. Achievement of True
Leaf's business objectives are contingent, in part, upon compliance with applicable regulatory requirements
and obtaining all requisite regulatory approvals. Changes to such laws, regulations and guidelines due to
matters beyond the control of True Leaf may result in a material adverse effect on True Leaf's business,
financial condition, results of operations or prospects.
True Leaf is required to obtain or renew further government permits and licenses for its current and
contemplated operations. Obtaining, amending or renewing the necessary governmental permits and
licenses can be a time-consuming process potentially involving numerous regulatory agencies, involving
public hearings and costly undertakings on True Leaf's part. The duration and success of True Leaf's efforts
to obtain, amend and renew permits and licenses are contingent upon many variables not within its control,
including the interpretation of applicable requirements implemented by the relevant permitting or licensing
authority. True Leaf may not be able to obtain, amend or renew permits or licenses that are necessary to its
operations or to achieve the growth of its business. Any unexpected delays or costs associated with the
permitting and licensing process could impede the ongoing or proposed operations of True Leaf. To the
extent necessary permits or licenses are not obtained, amended or renewed, or are subsequently suspended
or revoked, True Leaf may be curtailed or prohibited from proceeding with its ongoing operations or
planned development and commercialization activities. Such curtailment or prohibition may result in a
material adverse effect on True Leaf's business, financial condition, results of operations or prospects.
Several of True Leaf's licenses are subject to renewal on an annual or periodic basis; however, they are
generally renewed, as a matter of course, if the license holder continues to operate in compliance with
applicable legislation and regulations and without any material change to its operations.
While True Leaf's compliance controls have been developed to mitigate the risk of any material violations
of any license it holds arising, there is no assurance that True Leaf's licenses will be renewed by each
applicable regulatory authority in the future in a timely manner. Any unexpected delays or costs associated
with the licensing renewal process for any of the licenses held by True Leaf could impede the ongoing or
planned operations of True Leaf and have a material adverse effect on True Leaf's business, financial
condition, results of operations or prospects.
True Leaf may become involved in a number of government or agency proceedings, investigations and
audits. The outcome of any regulatory or agency proceedings, investigations, audits, and other
contingencies could harm True Leaf's reputation, require True Leaf to take, or refrain from taking, actions
that could harm its operations or require Corporation to pay substantial amounts of money, harming its
financial condition. There can be no assurance that any pending or future regulatory or agency proceedings,
investigations and audits will not result in substantial costs or a diversion of management's attention and
resources or have a material adverse impact on True Leaf's business, financial condition, results of
operations or prospects.
We may not be able to obtain adequate insurance coverage in respect of the risks our business faces,
the premiums for such insurance may not continue to be commercially justifiable or there may be
coverage limitations and other exclusions which may result in such insurance not being sufficient to
cover potential liabilities that we face.
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Businesses operating in the cannabis industry may be subject to liability for risks against which they cannot
insure or against or may elect not to insure due to the high cost of insurance premiums or other factors
levied at those operating in this industry. Although True Leaf intends to maintain insurance to protect
against certain risks in such amounts as it considers to be reasonable, its insurance does not cover all the
potential risks associated with its operations. True Leaf may also be unable to maintain insurance to cover
these risks at economically feasible premiums. Insurance coverage may not continue to be available or may
not be adequate to cover any resulting liability. Moreover, insurance against risks such as environmental
pollution or other hazards encountered in the operations of True Leaf is not generally available on
acceptable terms. True Leaf might also become subject to liability for pollution or other hazards which may
not be insured against or which True Leaf may elect not to insure against because of premium costs or other
reasons. Losses from these events may cause True Leaf to incur significant costs that could have a material
adverse effect upon its business, results of operations, financial condition or prospects.
We, or the cannabis industry more generally, may receive unfavorable publicity or become subject
to negative consumer or investor perception.
We believe the adult-use and medical cannabis industries are highly dependent upon consumer perception
regarding the safety, efficacy and quality of the cannabis produced. The perception of the cannabis industry
and cannabis products, currently and in the future, may be significantly influenced by scientific research or
findings, regulatory investigations, litigation, political statements, media attention and other publicity
(whether or not accurate or with merit) both in Canada and in other countries relating to the consumption
of cannabis products, including unexpected safety or efficacy concerns arising with respect to cannabis
products or the activities of industry participants.
Public perception can be significantly influenced by scientific research or findings, regulatory
investigations, litigation, media attention and other publicity regarding the consumption of cannabis
products. There can be no assurance that future scientific research or findings, regulatory investigations,
litigation, media attention or other publicity will be favorable to the cannabis market or any particular
product, or consistent with earlier publicity. Future research reports, findings, regulatory investigations,
litigation, media attention or other publicity that are perceived as less favorable than, or that question, earlier
research reports, findings or other publicity could have a material adverse effect on the demand for adultuse or medical cannabis and on the business, results of operations, financial condition, cash flows or
prospects of True Leaf.
Further, adverse publicity reports or other media attention regarding the safety, efficacy and quality of
cannabis in general, or associating the consumption of adult-use and medical cannabis with illness or other
negative effects or events, could have such a material adverse effect. There is no assurance that such adverse
publicity reports or other media attention will not arise.
The results of future clinical research may negatively impact the cannabis industry.
Research in Canada, the U.S. and internationally regarding the medical benefits, viability, safety, efficacy,
dosing and social acceptance of cannabis or isolated cannabinoids (such as CBD and THC) remains in early
stages. There have been relatively few clinical trials on the benefits of cannabis or isolated cannabinoids
(such as CBD and THC) and future research and clinical trials may discredit the medical benefits, viability,
safety, efficacy, and social acceptance of cannabis or could raise concerns regarding, and perceptions
relating to, cannabis. Given these risks, uncertainties and assumptions, prospective purchasers of True
Leaf's securities should not place undue reliance on such articles and reports. Future research studies and
clinical trials may draw opposing conclusions to those stated in this offering memorandum or reach negative
conclusions regarding the medical benefits, viability, safety, efficacy, dosing, social acceptance or other
facts and perceptions related to cannabis, which could have a material adverse effect on the demand for
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True Leaf's products with the potential to lead to a material adverse effect on True Leaf's business, financial
condition, results of operations or prospects.
We are reliant on key inputs and changes in their costs could negatively impact our profitability.
The cannabis business is dependent on a number of key inputs and their related costs including raw
materials and supplies related to growing operations, as well as electricity, water and other local utilities.
Any significant interruption or negative change in the availability or economics of the supply chain for key
inputs could materially impact the business, financial condition, results of operations or prospects of True
Leaf. In addition, any restrictions on the ability to secure required supplies or utility services or to do so on
commercially acceptable terms could have a materially adverse impact on the business, financial condition
and operating results. Some of these inputs may only be available from a single supplier or a limited group
of suppliers. If a sole source supplier was to go out of business, True Leaf might be unable to find a
replacement for such source in a timely manner or at all. If a sole source supplier were to be acquired by a
competitor, that competitor may elect not to sell to True Leaf in the future. Any inability to secure required
supplies and services or to do so on appropriate terms and/or agreeable terms could have a materially
adverse impact on the business, financial condition, results of operations or prospects of True Leaf.
Our business, results of operations and financial condition may be adversely impacted by the
COVID-19 pandemic.
In March 2020, the World Health Organization declared coronavirus COVID-19 a global pandemic. This
contagious disease outbreak which has continued to spread (and any related adverse public health
developments) has adversely affected workforces, economies, and financial markets globally, potentially
leading to an economic downturn. It is not possible for True Leaf to predict the duration or magnitude of
the adverse results of the outbreak and its effects on True Leaf’s business or ability to raise funds.
COVID-19 may impact True Leaf’s ability to start up cannabis growing, retail and medicinal on-line sales
as a result of disruptions to supply chains, travel and trade restrictions and impact on local economic activity
in affected regions. Such pandemics also represent a threat to maintaining a skilled workforce. There can
be no assurance that True Leaf’s personnel will not be impacted by this pandemic.
Consumer facing cannabis businesses will have to adjust to circumstances that may impact sales, such as
sales by delivery only, curb-side order pick-up, limits on the number of customers in stores and the
reduction in interstate travel that affect their customer-base. Dispensaries located in central business
districts, in locations frequented by tourists, or that rely on foot traffic, for example, may temporarily or
permanently close depending on how long self-isolation orders persist.
Item 9: Reporting Obligations
9.1 Ongoing Reporting Obligations.
As a reporting issuer, True Leaf is required to comply with the provisions of National Instrument 51-102 Continuous Disclosure Obligations, which includes the periodic filing of its financial statements and
reporting all material information.
For its CSE listing, True Leaf is required to comply with the provisions of CSE Policy 6 - Timely Disclosure,
Trading Halts and Posting Requirements.
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For its Frankfurt Stock Exchange listing, True Leaf has no reporting obligations.
For its OTC Pink listing, True Leaf is obliged to file continuous disclosure documents, being all documents
except news releases which it files under National Instrument 51-102 - Continuous Disclosure Obligations
and under CSE policies.
9.2 Public Information.
Certain corporate and securities information about True Leaf is available at:
(a) the British Columbia Securities Commission website at https://www.bcsc.bc.ca,
(b) the SEDAR at
https://sedar.com/DisplayCompanyDocuments.do?lang=EN&issuerNo=00036827,
(c) the CSE website: https://thecse.com/en/listings/life-sciences/true-leaf-brands-inc; and
(d) the OTC Markets website: https://www.otcmarkets.com/stock/TRLFF/overview.
True Leaf also posts certain corporate and financial information on its website at:
https://trueleafbrands.com/.
9.3 Auditors.
The auditors of True Leaf are Davidson & Company LLP, Chartered Professional Accountants, Suite 1200,
609 Granville Street, Vancouver, British Columbia V7Y 1G6.
Item 10: Resale Restrictions
10.1 General Statement.
These securities will be subject to a number of resale restrictions, including a restriction on trading. Until
the restriction on trading expires, you will not be able to trade the securities unless you comply with an
exemption from the prospectus and registration requirements under securities legislation.
Purchasers under this offering should consult with their own professional advisers with respect to restriction
on the transferability of the Units and underlying securities offered hereunder.
10.2 Restricted Period.
These securities will all bear the following legend:
“Unless permitted under securities legislation, you cannot trade the securities before the date that
is 4 months and a day after the distribution date.”
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10.3 Manitoba Resale Restrictions.
Not applicable.
Item 11: Purchasers’ Rights
If you purchase these securities, you will have certain rights, some of which are described below. For
information about your rights, you should consult a lawyer.
Securities legislation in certain of the Provinces of Canada requires investors to be provided with a remedy
for rescission or damages or both, in addition to any other right that they may have at law, where an offering
memorandum and any amendment to it or any document referenced and incorporated into the offering
memorandum or in amendments to it contains a misrepresentation. These remedies must be exercised by
the investor within the time limits prescribed by the applicable securities legislation.
Purchasers of these securities should refer to the applicable provisions of the securities legislation for the
complete text of these rights and should consult with a legal adviser.
The applicable contractual and statutory rights are summarized below and are subject to the express
provisions of the securities legislation of the applicable Province and reference is made thereto for the
complete text of such Provinces. The rights of action described below are in addition to and without
derogation from any right or remedy available at law to the investor and are intended to correspond to the
provisions of the relevant securities legislation and are subject to the defenses contained therein.
11.1 Two Day Cancellation Right.
You can cancel your agreement to purchase these securities. To do so, you must send a notice to us by
midnight on the 2nd business day after you sign the agreement to buy the securities.
11.2 Statutory Rights of Action in the Event of a Misrepresentation.
A subscriber to the offering will have certain rights, some of which are described below. For information
about its rights, a potential subscriber should consult a lawyer.
For purposes of the following summaries, “misrepresentation” means an untrue statement of a material
fact or an omission to state a material fact that is necessary in order to make a statement not misleading in
light of the circumstances in which it was made.
British Columbia
Section 132.1 of the Securities Act (British Columbia) provides that if an offering memorandum (such as
this offering memorandum together with any amendment hereto) is delivered to a purchaser resident in
British Columbia who purchases Units in reliance on the “offering memorandum” prospectus exemption
set out in section 2.9 of NI 45-106, contains a misrepresentation and was a misrepresentation at the time of
purchase, the purchaser will be deemed to have relied upon the misrepresentation and will have a right of
action against True Leaf, every director of True Leaf at the date of the offering memorandum, the board of
directors and every person who signed the offering memorandum for damages or, alternatively, while still
the owner of the Units for rescission against True Leaf, provided that:
(a) no action may be commenced to enforce a right of action:
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(i) for rescission more than 180 days after the date of the purchase; or
(ii) for damages more than the earlier of (i) 180 days after the purchaser first had knowledge
of the facts giving rise to the cause of action, or (ii) three years after the date of purchase;
(b) no person or company will be liable if the person or company proves that the purchaser purchased
the Units with knowledge of the misrepresentation;
(c) no person or company (but excluding True Leaf) will be liable if the person or company proves
that:
(i) the offering memorandum was delivered to the purchaser without the person’s or
company’s knowledge or consent and that, on becoming aware of its delivery, the person
or company gave written notice to True Leaf that it was delivered without the person’s or
company’s knowledge or consent,
(ii) on becoming aware of any misrepresentation in the offering memorandum, the person or
company withdrew the person’s or company’s consent to the offering memorandum and
gave written notice to True Leaf of the withdrawal and the reason for it, or
(iii) with respect to any part of the offering memorandum purporting to be made on the authority
of an expert or to be a copy of, or an extract from, a report, an opinion or a statement of an
expert, the person or company had no reasonable grounds to believe and did not believe
that there had been a misrepresentation, or the relevant part of the offering memorandum
did not fairly represent the report, opinion or statement of the expert, or was not a fair copy
of, or an extract from, the report, opinion or statement of the expert;
(d) no person or company (but excluding True Leaf) will be liable with respect to any part of the
offering memorandum not purporting to be made on the authority of an expert, or to be a copy of,
or an extract from, a report, opinion or statement of expert unless the person or company failed to
conduct a reasonable investigation to provide reasonable grounds for a belief that there had been
no misrepresentation or believed that there had been a misrepresentation.
(e) no person is liable for a misrepresentation in forward-looking information if the person proves that:
(i) the offering memorandum containing the forward-looking information contained,
proximate to that information, reasonable cautionary language identifying the forwardlooking information as such, and identifying material factors that could cause actual results
to differ materially from a conclusion, forecast or projection in the forward-looking
information, and a statement of the material factors or assumptions that were applied in
drawing a conclusion or making a forecast or projection set out in the forward-looking
information, and
(ii) the person had a reasonable basis for drawing the conclusions or making the forecasts and
projections set out in the forward-looking information;
(f) in an action for damages, the defendant will not be liable for all or any portion of the damages that
the defendant proves does not represent the depreciation in value of the Units as a result of the
misrepresentation; and
(g) in no case will the amount recoverable exceed the price at which the Units were sold to the
purchaser.
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Alberta
Section 204 of the Securities Act (Alberta) provides that where an offering memorandum, such as this
offering memorandum, together with any amendment to it, is delivered to a purchaser resident in Alberta,
in connection with the distribution of securities in reliance on the “offering memorandum” prospectus
exemption set out in section 2.9 of NI 45-106 or the “minimum amount investment” or “$150,000
investment” prospectus exemption in section 2.10 of NI 45-106, and contains a misrepresentation, the
purchaser has, without regard to whether the purchaser relied on the misrepresentation, a right of action
against True Leaf, every director of True Leaf at the date of the offering memorandum, the board of
directors and every person who signed the offering memorandum for damages or, alternatively, for
rescission against True Leaf, provided that:
(a) no action may be commenced to enforce a right of action:
(i) for rescission more than 180 days after the date of the purchase; or
(ii) for damages more than the earlier of (A) 180 days after the purchaser first had knowledge
of the facts giving rise to the cause of action, or (B) three years from the date of purchase;
(b) no person or company will be liable if the person or company proves that the purchaser purchased
the securities with knowledge of the misrepresentation;
(c) no person or company (but excluding True Leaf) will be liable if the person or company proves
that:
(i) the offering memorandum was delivered to the purchaser without the person’s or
company’s knowledge or consent and that, on becoming aware of its delivery, the person
or company gave reasonable notice to the Executive Director of the Alberta Securities
Commission and True Leaf that it was delivered without the person’s or company’s
knowledge or consent,
(ii) after the sending of the offering memorandum and before the purchase of the Units, on
becoming aware of any misrepresentation in the offering memorandum, the person or
company withdrew the person’s or company’s consent to the offering memorandum and
gave reasonable notice to the Executive Director of the Alberta Securities Commission and
True Leaf of the withdrawal and the reason for it, or
(iii) with respect to any part of the offering memorandum purporting to be made on the authority
of an expert or to be a copy of, or an extract from, a report, an opinion or a statement of an
expert, the person or company had no reasonable grounds to believe and did not believe
that there had been a misrepresentation, or the relevant part of the offering memorandum
did not fairly represent the report, opinion or statement of the expert, or was not a fair copy
of, or an extract from, the report, opinion or statement of the expert;
(d) no person or company (but excluding True Leaf) will be liable with respect to any part of the
offering memorandum not purporting to be made on the authority of an expert, or to be a copy of,
or an extract from, a report, opinion or statement of expert unless the person or company failed to
conduct an investigation to provide reasonable grounds for a belief that there had been no
misrepresentation, and believed that there had been a misrepresentation;
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(e) in an action for damages, the defendant will not be liable for all or any portion of the damages that
the defendant proves does not represent the depreciation in value of the securities as a result of the
misrepresentation; and
(f) in no case will the amount recoverable exceed the price at which the securities were sold to the
purchaser.
Under Section 205.1, a person or company is not liable in an action under section 204 for a
misrepresentation in forward-looking information if the person or company proves:
(a) the offering memorandum containing the forward-looking information contained, proximate to that
information, reasonable cautionary language identifying the forward-looking information as such,
and identifying material factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from a
conclusion, forecast or projection in the forward-looking information, and a statement of the
material factors or assumptions that were applied in drawing a conclusion or making a forecast or
projection set out in the forward-looking information; and
(b) the person or company had a reasonable basis for drawing the conclusions or making the forecasts
and projections set out in the forward-looking information.
Saskatchewan
Section 138 of The Securities Act, 1988 (Saskatchewan), as amended (the “Saskatchewan Act”) provides
that where an offering memorandum, such as this offering memorandum, or any amendment to it is sent or
delivered to a purchaser and it contains a misrepresentation, a purchaser who purchases a security covered
by the offering memorandum or any amendment to it has, without regard to whether the purchaser relied
on the misrepresentation, a right of action for rescission against True Leaf on whose behalf the distribution
is made or has a right of action for damages against:
(a) True Leaf;
(b) every promoter and director of True Leaf or the selling security holder, as the case may be, at the
time the offering memorandum or any amendment to it was sent or delivered;
(c) every person or company whose consent has been filed respecting the offering, but only with
respect to reports, opinions or statements that have been made by them;
(d) every person who or company that, in addition to the persons or companies mentioned in (a) to (c)
above, signed the offering memorandum or the amendment to the offering memorandum, including
the board of directors; and
(e) every person who or company that sells securities on behalf of True Leaf or selling security holder
under the offering memorandum or amendment to the offering memorandum.
Such rights of rescission and damages are subject to certain limitations including the following:
(a) if the purchaser elects to exercise its right of rescission against True Leaf or selling security holder,
it will have no right of action for damages against that party;
(b) in an action for damages, a defendant will not be liable for all or any portion of the damages that
he, she or it proves do not represent the depreciation in value of the securities resulting from the
misrepresentation relied on;
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(c) no person or company, other than True Leaf or a selling security holder, will be liable for any part
of the offering memorandum or any amendment to it not purporting to be made on the authority of
an expert and not purporting to be a copy of, or an extract from, a report, opinion or statement of
an expert, unless the person or company failed to conduct a reasonable investigation sufficient to
provide reasonable grounds for a belief that there had been no misrepresentation or believed that
there had been a misrepresentation;
(d) in no case will the amount recoverable exceed the price at which the securities were offered; and
(e) no person or company is liable in an action for rescission or damages if that person or company
proves that the purchaser purchased the securities with knowledge of the misrepresentation.
In addition, no person or company, other than True Leaf, will be liable if the person or company proves
that:
(a) the offering memorandum or any amendment to it was sent or delivered without the person’s or
company’s knowledge or consent and that, on becoming aware of it being sent or delivered, that
person or company gave reasonable general notice that it was so sent or delivered;
(b) before the purchase of the securities by the purchaser, on becoming aware of any misrepresentation,
the person or company withdrew the person’s or company’s consent to the memorandum and gave
reasonable general notice to True Leaf of the withdrawal and the reason for it; or
(c) with respect to any part of the offering memorandum or any amendment to it purporting to be made
on the authority of an expert, or purporting to be a copy of, or an extract from, a report, an opinion
or a statement of an expert, that person or company had no reasonable grounds to believe and did
not believe that there had been a misrepresentation, the part of the offering memorandum or any
amendment to it did not fairly represent the report, opinion or statement of the expert, or was not a
fair copy of, or an extract from, the report, opinion or statement of the expert.
Under section 139.1, no person or company is liable in an action under section 138 for a misrepresentation
in forward-looking information if the person or company proves:
(a) with respect to the document containing the forward-looking information, proximate to that
information there is contained, reasonable cautionary language identifying the forward-looking
information as such, identifying material factors that could cause actual results to differ materially
from a conclusion, forecast or projection in the forward-looking information, and a statement of
the material factors or assumptions that were applied in drawing a conclusion or making a forecast
or projection set out in the forward-looking information; and
(b) the person or company had a reasonable basis for drawing the conclusions or making the forecasts
and projections set out in the forward-looking information.
Not all defences upon which we or others may rely are described herein. Please refer to the full text of the
Saskatchewan Act for a complete listing.
Similar rights of action for damages and rescission are provided in section 138.1 of the Saskatchewan Act
in respect of a misrepresentation in advertising and sales literature disseminated in connection with an
offering of securities.
Section 138.2 of the Saskatchewan Act also provides that where an individual makes a verbal statement to
a prospective purchaser that contains a misrepresentation relating to the security purchased and the verbal
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statement is made either before or contemporaneously with the purchase of the security, the purchaser has,
without regard to whether the purchaser relied on the misrepresentation, a right of action for damages
against the individual who made the verbal statement.
Section 141(1) of the Saskatchewan Act provides a purchaser with the right to void the agreement to
purchase Units and to recover all money and other consideration paid by the purchaser for the securities if
the securities are sold in contravention of the Saskatchewan Act, the regulations to the Saskatchewan Act
or a decision of the Saskatchewan Financial Services Commission.
Section 141(2) of the Saskatchewan Act also provides a right of action for rescission or damages to a
purchaser of securities to whom an offering memorandum or any amendment to it was not sent or delivered
prior to or at the same time as the purchaser enters into an agreement to purchase the securities, as required
by the Saskatchewan Act or its regulations.
The rights of action for damages or rescission under the Saskatchewan Act are in addition to and do not
derogate from any other right which a purchaser may have at law. Section 147 of the Saskatchewan Act
provides that no action will be commenced to enforce any of the foregoing rights more than:
(a) in the case of an action for rescission, 180 days after the date of the transaction that gave rise to the
cause of action; or
(b) in the case of any other action, other than an action for rescission, the earlier of:
(i) one year after the plaintiff first had knowledge of the facts giving rise to the cause of action;
or
(ii) six years after the date of the transaction that gave rise to the cause of action.
The Saskatchewan Act also provides a purchaser who has received an amended offering memorandum
delivered in accordance with subsection 80.1(4) of the Saskatchewan Act has a right to withdraw from the
agreement to purchase the securities by delivering a notice to the person who or company that is selling the
securities, indicating the purchaser’s intention not to be bound by the agreement to purchase Units, provided
such notice is delivered by the purchaser within two business days of receiving the amended offering
memorandum.
Manitoba
Section 141.1 of the Securities Act (Manitoba) provides that if an offering memorandum, such as this
offering memorandum, contains a misrepresentation a purchaser resident in Manitoba is deemed to have
relied on the misrepresentation if it was a misrepresentation at the time of purchase and has a right of action
against the applicable Company, every director of True Leaf at the date of the offering memorandum, the
board of directors and every person or company who signed the memorandum for damages, or alternatively,
for rescission against True Leaf, provided that:
(a) no action may be commenced to enforce a right of action:
(i) for rescission, more than 180 days after the date of the purchase; or
(ii) for damages, more than the earlier of (A) 180 days after the purchaser first had knowledge
of the facts giving rise to the cause of action, or (B) two years after the date of the purchase;
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(b) no person or company will be liable if the person or company proves that the purchaser purchased
the securities with knowledge of the misrepresentation;
(c) no person or company (excluding True Leaf) will be liable if the person or company proves that:
(i) the offering memorandum was sent to the purchaser without the person’s or company’s
knowledge or consent, and that, after becoming aware that it was sent, the person or
company promptly gave reasonable notice to True Leaf that it was sent without the person’s
or company’s knowledge and consent,
(ii) on becoming aware of the misrepresentation, the person or company withdrew their
respective consent to the offering memorandum and gave reasonable notice to True Leaf
of the withdrawal and the reason for it, or
(iii) with respect to any part of the memorandum purporting to be made on the authority of an
expert or to be a copy of, or an extract from, an expert’s report, opinion or statement, the
person or company proves that they had no reasonable grounds to believe and did not
believe that there had been a misrepresentation, or the relevant part of the memorandum
did not fairly represent the expert’s report, opinion or statement, or was not a fair copy of,
or an extract from, the expert’s report or statement;
(d) no person or company (excluding True Leaf) will be liable with respect to any part of the
memorandum not purporting to be made on the authority of an expert and not purporting to be a
copy of, or an extract from, an expert’s report, opinion or statement, unless the person or company
did not conduct an investigation sufficient to provide reasonable grounds for a belief that there had
been no misrepresentation, or believed that there had been a misrepresentation;
(e) in action for damages, a defendant will not be liable for any portion of the damages that the
defendant proves do not represent the depreciation in value of the security as a result of the
misrepresentation; and
(f) in no case will the amount recoverable exceed the price at which the securities were sold to the
purchaser.
Under section 141.1.2, a person or company is not liable in an action under section 141.1 for a
misrepresentation in forward-looking information if the person or company proves that:
(a) the document containing the forward-looking information contained, proximate to that information,
reasonable cautionary language identifying the forward-looking information as such, and
identifying material factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from a conclusion,
forecast, or projection in the forward-looking information, and a statement of the material factors
or assumptions that were applied in drawing the conclusion or making the forecast or projection;
and
(b) the person or company had a reasonable basis for drawing the conclusions or making the forecasts
or projections set out in the forward-looking information.
Ontario
Section 130.1 of the Securities Act (Ontario) provides that where an offering memorandum, such as this
offering memorandum, together with any amendment hereto, delivered to a purchaser of securities resident
in Ontario contains a misrepresentation and it was a misrepresentation at the time of purchase of securities
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by such purchaser, the purchaser will have, without regard to whether the purchaser relied on such
misrepresentation, a right of action against True Leaf for damages or, while still the owner of the securities
of True Leaf purchased by that purchaser, for rescission, in which case, if the purchaser elects to exercise
the right of rescission, the purchaser will have no right of action for damages against True Leaf, provided
that:
(a) the right of action for rescission or damages will be exercisable only if the purchaser commences
an action to enforce such right, not later than:
(i) in the case of an action for rescission, 180 days after the date of purchase; or
(ii) in the case of an action for damages, the earlier of (A) 180 days after the date the purchaser
first had knowledge of the misrepresentation, and (B) three years after the date of purchase;
(b) True Leaf will not be liable if it proves that the purchaser purchased the securities with knowledge
of the misrepresentation;
(c) in the case of an action for damages, True Leaf will not be liable for all or any portion of the
damages that it proves does not represent the depreciation in value of the securities as a result of
the misrepresentation relied upon;
(d) True Leaf will not be liable for a misrepresentation in forward-looking information if True Leaf
proves:
(i) that the offering memorandum contains, proximate to that information, reasonable
cautionary language identifying the forward-looking information as such, and identifying
material factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from a conclusion,
forecast or projection in the forward-looking information, and a statement of material
factors or assumptions that were applied in drawing a conclusion or making a forecast or
projection set out in the forward-looking information;
(ii) the reasonable cautionary language and disclosure of material factors appear proximate to
the forward-looking information; and
(iii) True Leaf has a reasonable basis for drawing the conclusion or making the forecasts and
projections set out in the forward-looking information; and
(e) in no case will the amount recoverable in any action exceed the price at which the securities were
offered.
The foregoing rights do not apply if the purchaser is:
(a) a Canadian financial institution (as defined in NI 45-106) or a Schedule III bank;
(b) the Business Development Bank of Canada incorporated under the Business Development Bank of
Canada Act (Canada); or
(c) a subsidiary of any person referred to in paragraphs (a) and (b), if the person owns all of the voting
securities of the subsidiary, except the voting securities required by law to be owned by directors
of that subsidiary.
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New Brunswick
Section 150 of the Securities Act (New Brunswick) provides that if an offering memorandum, such as this
offering memorandum, together with any amendment to it, delivered to a purchaser resident in New
Brunswick contains a misrepresentation that was a misrepresentation at the time of purchase, the purchaser
will be deemed to have relied on the misrepresentation and will have a right of action for damages against
True Leaf, every person who was a director of True Leaf at the date of the offering memorandum, the board
of directors and every person who signed the offering memorandum or, alternatively, while still the owner
of the Units, for rescission, provided that:
(a) no action may be commenced to enforce a right of action:
(i) for rescission more than 180 days after the date of the purchase; or
(ii) for damages more than the earlier of (i) one year after the purchaser first had knowledge of
the facts giving rise to the cause of action, and (ii) six years after the date of purchase;
(b) True Leaf will not be liable if it proves that the purchaser purchased the Units with knowledge of
the misrepresentation;
(c) in an action for damages, True Leaf will not be liable for all or any portion of the damages that it
proves do not represent the depreciation in value of the Units as a result of the misrepresentation
relied upon; and
(d) in no case will the amount recoverable exceed the price at which the Units were sold to the investor.
Under section 154.1, a person is not liable under section 150 for a misrepresentation in forward looking
information if the person proves:
(a) that the offering memorandum containing the forward-looking information contained, proximate
to that information, reasonable cautionary language identifying the forward-looking information as
such, and identifying material factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from a
conclusion, forecast or projection in the forward-looking information, and a statement of the
material factors or assumptions that were applied in drawing a conclusion or making a forecast or
projection set out in the forward-looking information; and
(b) that the person had a reasonable basis for drawing the conclusions or making the forecasts and
projections set out in the forward-looking information.
Nova Scotia
Section 138 of the Securities Act (Nova Scotia) provides that, where an offering memorandum, such as this
offering memorandum, together with any amendment to it or any advertising or sales literature (as defined
in the Securities Act (Nova Scotia)), contains a misrepresentation and it was a misrepresentation at the time
of purchase, the purchaser resident in Nova Scotia will be deemed to have relied upon the misrepresentation
and will have a right of action against True Leaf, every director of True Leaf at the date of the offering
memorandum, the board of directors and every person who signed the offering memorandum (if
applicable), for damages or, alternatively, while still the owner of the Units, for rescission against True
Leaf, provided that:
(a) no action may be commenced to enforce a right of action more than 120 days:
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(i) after the date on which payment was made for the Units; or
(ii) after the date on which the initial payment was made;
(b) no person or company will be liable if the person or company proves that the investor purchased
the Units with knowledge of the misrepresentation;
(c) no person or company (other than True Leaf) will be liable if the person or company proves that:
(i) the offering memorandum was sent or delivered to the purchaser without the person’s or
company’s knowledge or consent and that, on becoming aware of its delivery, the person
or company gave reasonable general notice that it was delivered without the person’s or
company’s knowledge or consent,
(ii) after delivery of the offering memorandum and before the purchase of the Units by the
purchaser, on becoming aware of any misrepresentation in the offering memorandum, the
person or company withdrew the person’s or company’s consent to the offering
memorandum and gave reasonable general notice of the withdrawal and the reason for it,
or
(iii) with respect to any part of the offering memorandum purporting to be made on the authority
of an expert or to be a copy of, or an extract from, a report, an opinion or a statement of an
expert, the person or company had no reasonable grounds to believe and did not believe
that there had been a misrepresentation, or the relevant part of the offering memorandum
did not fairly represent the report, opinion or statement of the expert, or was not a fair copy
of, or an extract from, the report, opinion or statement of the expert;
(d) no person or company (other than True Leaf) will be liable with respect to any part of the offering
memorandum not purporting to be made on the authority of an expert, or to be a copy, or an extract
from, a report, opinion or statement of expert unless the person or company (i) failed to conduct a
reasonable investigation to provide reasonable grounds for a belief that there had been no
misrepresentation, or (ii) believed that there had been a misrepresentation;
(e) in an action for damages, the defendant will not be liable for all or any portion of the damages that
the defendant proves does not represent the depreciation in value of the Units as a result of the
misrepresentation relied upon; and
(f) in no case will the amount recoverable in any action exceed the price at which the Units were sold
to the investor.
Under section 139A of the Securities Act (Nova Scotia) (the “Nova Scotia Act”), no person or company is
liable under section 138 of the Nova Scotia Act for a misrepresentation in forward-looking information if
the person or company proves:
(a) the document containing the forward-looking information contained, proximate to that information,
reasonable cautionary language identifying the forward-looking information as such, and
identifying material factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from a conclusion,
forecast or projection in the forward-looking information, and a statement of the material factors
or assumptions that were applied in drawing a conclusion or making a forecast or projection set out
in the forward-looking information; and
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(b) the person or company had a reasonable basis for drawing the conclusions or making the forecasts
and projections set out in the forward-looking information.
Prince Edward Island
Section 112 of the Securities Act (Prince Edward Island) provides that, where an offering memorandum,
such as this offering memorandum, together with any amendment to it, are delivered to a purchaser resident
in Prince Edward Island contains a misrepresentation and it was a misrepresentation at the time of purchase,
the purchaser has, without regard to whether the purchaser relied on the misrepresentation, a right of action
against True Leaf, every director of True Leaf at the date of the offering memorandum, the board of
directors and every person who signed the offering memorandum (if applicable), for damages or,
alternatively, while still the owner of the purchased Units, for rescission against True Leaf, provided that:
(a) no action will be commenced to enforce the foregoing rights:
(i) in the case of an action for rescission, more than 180 days after the date of the transaction
that gave rise to the cause of action; or
(ii) in the case of any action, other than an action for rescission, the earlier of (i) 180 days after
the purchaser first had knowledge of the facts giving rise to the cause of the action, or (ii)
three years after the date of the transaction that gave rise to the cause of the action;
(b) no person or company will be liable if the person or company proves that the purchaser purchased
the Units with knowledge of the misrepresentation;
(c) no person or company (other than True Leaf) will be liable if it proves that:
(i) the offering memorandum was delivered to the purchaser without the person’s or
company’s knowledge or consent and that, on becoming aware of its delivery, the person
or company promptly gave reasonable notice that it was delivered without the person’s or
company’s knowledge or consent,
(ii) after the delivery of the offering memorandum and before the purchase of the Units by the
purchaser, on becoming aware of any misrepresentation in the offering memorandum, the
person or company withdrew the person’s or company’s consent to the offering
memorandum and gave reasonable notice of the withdrawal and the reason for it, or
(iii) with respect to any part of the offering memorandum purporting to be made on the
authority of an expert or to be a copy of, or an extract from, a report, an opinion or a
statement of an expert, the person or company had no reasonable grounds to believe and
did not believe that there had been a misrepresentation, or the relevant part of the offering
memorandum did not fairly represent the report, opinion or statement of the expert, or was
not a fair copy of, or an extract from, the report, opinion or statement of the expert;
(d) no person or company (other than True Leaf) will be liable with respect to any part of the offering
memorandum not purporting to be made on the authority of an expert or to be a copy of, or an
extract from, a report, an opinion or a statement of an expert unless the person or company (i) failed
to conduct a reasonable investigation to provide reasonable grounds for a belief that there had been
no misrepresentation or (ii) believed that there had been a misrepresentation;
(e) no person is liable for a misrepresentation in forward-looking information if:
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(i) the offering memorandum containing the forward-looking information also contains,
proximate to the forward-looking information, reasonable cautionary language identifying
the forward-looking information as such and identifying material factors that could cause
actual results to differ materially from a conclusion, forecast or projection in the forward
looking information, and a statement of the material factors or assumptions that were
applied in drawing a conclusion or making a forecast or projection set out in the forward
looking information; and
(ii) the person had a reasonable basis for drawing the conclusions or making the forecasts or
projections set out in the forward-looking information;
(f) in an action for damages, the defendant will not be liable for all or any portion of the damages that
it proves do not represent the depreciation in value of the Units as a result of the misrepresentation
relied upon; and
(g) in no case will the amount recoverable exceed the price at which the Units were sold to the investor.
Newfoundland and Labrador
Section 130.1 of the Securities Act (Newfoundland and Labrador) provides that if an offering memorandum,
such as this offering memorandum, together with any amendment to it or any record incorporated by
reference in, or considered to be incorporated into an offering memorandum contains a misrepresentation
and it was a misrepresentation at the time of purchase, a purchaser in the Province of Newfoundland and
Labrador has, in addition to any other right that the purchaser may have under law and without regard to
whether the purchaser relied on the misrepresentation, a right of action for damages against True Leaf,
every director of True Leaf at the date of the offering memorandum, the board of directors and every person
or company who signed the offering memorandum (if applicable), for damages or, alternatively, while still
the owner of the purchased Units, for rescission against True Leaf (in which case the purchaser will cease
to have a right of action for damages), provided that:
(a) no action will be commenced to enforce the foregoing rights:
(i) in the case of an action for rescission, more than 180 days after the date of the transaction
that gave rise to the cause of action; or
(ii) in the case of any action, other than an action for rescission, the earlier of: (i) 180 days after
the purchaser first had knowledge of the facts giving rise to the cause of the action; or (iii)
three years after the date of the transaction that gave rise to the cause of the action;
(b) no person or company will be liable if the person or company proves that the purchaser purchased
the Units with knowledge of the misrepresentation;
(c) no person or company (other than True Leaf) will be liable if:
(i) the person or company proves that the offering memorandum was sent to the purchaser
without the person’s or company’s knowledge or consent and that, on becoming aware of
its being sent, the person or company promptly gave reasonable notice to True Leaf that it
was sent without the knowledge and consent of the person or company;
(ii) the person or company proves that the person or company, on becoming aware of any
misrepresentation in the offering memorandum, withdrew the person’s or company’s
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consent to the offering memorandum and gave reasonable notice of the withdrawal to True
Leaf and the reason for it;
(iii) with respect to any part of the offering memorandum purporting to be made on the authority
of an expert or to be a copy of, or an extract from, a report, an opinion or statement of an
expert, the person or company proves that they did not have any reasonable grounds to
believe and did not believe that: (i) there had been a misrepresentation; or (ii) the relevant
part of the offering memorandum did not fairly represent the report, opinion or statement
of the expert, or was not a fair copy of, or an extract from, the report, opinion or statement
of the expert; and
(iv) with respect to any part of the offering memorandum not purporting to be made on the
authority of an expert and not purporting to be a copy of, or an extract from, a report,
opinion or statement of an expert, unless the person or company (i) failed to conduct a
reasonable investigation to provide reasonable grounds for a belief that there had been no
misrepresentation; or (ii) believed that there had been a misrepresentation;
(d) in an action for damages, the defendant will not be liable for all or any part of the damages that it
proves do not represent the depreciation in value of the Units as a result of the misrepresentation;
and
(e) in no case will the amount recoverable exceed the price at which the Units were offered to the
investor under the offering memorandum.
Yukon
Section 112 of the Securities Act (Yukon) provides that if an offering memorandum, such as this offering
memorandum, together with any amendment to this it, contains a misrepresentation, a purchaser has,
without regard to whether the purchaser relied on the misrepresentation, a right of action for damages
against True Leaf, every director of True Leaf at the date of the offering memorandum, the board of
directors and every person who signed the offering memorandum (if applicable), or alternatively, while still
the owner of the purchased Units, a right of rescission against True Leaf, provided that:
(a) no action may be commenced to enforce a right of action:
(i) for rescission more than 180 days after the date of the purchase; or
(ii) for damages, the earlier of (i) 180 days after the purchaser first had knowledge of the facts
giving rise to the cause of action, or (ii) three years after the date of the purchase;
(b) no person or company will be liable if the person or company proves that the purchaser purchased
the Units with knowledge of the misrepresentation;
(c) no person or company (other than True Leaf) will be liable if the person or company proves that:
(i) the offering memorandum was sent to the purchaser without the person’s or company’s
consent, and that, after becoming aware of its delivery, the person or company promptly
gave reasonable notice to True Leaf that it was sent without the person’s or company’s
knowledge or consent,
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(ii) on becoming aware of the misrepresentation, the person or company withdrew their
respective consent to the offering memorandum and gave reasonable notice to True Leaf
of the withdrawal and the reason for it, or
(iii) with respect to any part of the offering memorandum purporting to be made on the authority
of an expert or to be a copy of, or an extract from, an expert’s report, opinion or statement,
the person or company proves that they had no reasonable grounds to believe and did not
believe that there had been a misrepresentation, or the relevant part of the offering
memorandum did not fairly represent the expert’s report, opinion or statement, or was not
a fair copy of, or an extract from, the expert’s report or statement;
(d) no person or company (other than True Leaf) will be liable with respect to any part of the offering
memorandum not purporting to be made on the authority of an expert and not purporting to be a
copy of, or an extract from, an expert’s report, opinion or statement, unless the person or company
(i) did not conduct a reasonable investigation sufficient to provide reasonable grounds for a belief
that there had been no misrepresentation or (ii) believed that there had been a misrepresentation;
(e) True Leaf will not be liable for a misrepresentation in forward-looking information if True Leaf
proves that:
(i) the offering memorandum contains, proximate to the forward-looking information,
reasonable cautionary language identifying the forward-looking information as such, and
identifying material factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from a
conclusion, forecast or projection in the forward-looking information, and a statement of
material factors or assumptions that were applied in drawing a conclusion or making a
forecast or projection set out in the forward-looking information; and
(ii) True Leaf had a reasonable basis for drawing the conclusions or making the forecasts and
projections set out in the forward-looking information;
(f) in an action for damages, the defendant will not be liable for all or any portion of the damages that
it proves do not represent the depreciation in value of the Units as a result of the misrepresentation
relied upon; and
(g) in no case will the amount recoverable exceed the price at which the Units were sold to the
purchaser.
Northwest Territories
Section 112 of the Securities Act (Northwest Territories) provides that, if an offering memorandum, such
as this offering memorandum, together with any amendment to it, contains a misrepresentation, a purchaser
has, without regard to whether the purchaser relied on the misrepresentation, a right of action for damages
against True Leaf, every director of True Leaf at the date of the offering memorandum, the board of
directors and every person who signed the offering memorandum (if applicable), or alternatively, while still
the owner of the purchased Units, a right of rescission against True Leaf, provided that:
(a) no action may be commenced to enforce a right of action:
(i) for rescission more than 180 days after the date of the purchase; or
(ii) for damages, the earlier of (i) 180 days after the purchaser first had knowledge of the facts
giving rise to the cause of action, or (ii) three years after the date of the purchase;
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(b) no person or company will be liable if the person or company proves that the purchaser purchased
the Units with knowledge of the misrepresentation;
(c) no person or company (other than True Leaf) will be liable if the person or company proves that:
(i) the offering memorandum was sent to the purchaser without the person’s or company’s
consent, and that, after becoming aware of its delivery, the person or company promptly
gave reasonable notice to True Leaf that it was sent without the person’s or company’s
knowledge or consent,
(ii) on becoming aware of the misrepresentation, the person or company withdrew their
respective consent to the offering memorandum and gave reasonable notice to True Leaf
of the withdrawal and the reason for it, or
(iii) with respect to any part of the offering memorandum purporting to be made on the authority
of an expert or to be a copy of, or an extract from, an expert’s report, opinion or statement,
the person or company proves that they had no reasonable grounds to believe and did not
believe that there had been a misrepresentation, or the relevant part of the offering
memorandum did not fairly represent the expert’s report, opinion or statement, or was not
a fair copy of, or an extract from, the expert’s report or statement;
(d) no person or company (other than True Leaf) will be liable with respect to any part of the offering
memorandum not purporting to be made on the authority of an expert and not purporting to be a
copy of, or an extract from, an expert’s report, opinion or statement, unless the person or company
(i) did not conduct a reasonable investigation to provide reasonable grounds for a belief that there
had been no misrepresentation or (ii) believed that there had been a misrepresentation;
(e) True Leaf will not be liable for a misrepresentation in forward-looking information if True Leaf
proves that:
(i) the offering memorandum contains, proximate to the forward-looking information,
reasonable cautionary language identifying the forward-looking information as such, and
identifying material factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from a
conclusion, forecast or projection in the forward-looking information, and a statement of
material factors or assumptions that were applied in drawing a conclusion or making a
forecast or projection set out in the forward-looking information; and
(ii) True Leaf had a reasonable basis for drawing the conclusions or making the forecasts and
projections set out in the forward-looking information;
(f) in an action for damages, the defendant will not be liable for all or any portion of the damages that
it proves do not represent the depreciation in value of the Units as a result of the misrepresentation
relied upon; and
(g) in no case will the amount recoverable exceed the price at which the Units were sold to the
purchaser.
Nunavut
Section 112 of the Securities Act (Nunavut) provides that if an offering memorandum, such as this offering
memorandum, together with any amendment to this offering memorandum, contains a misrepresentation,
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a purchaser has, without regard to whether the purchaser relied on the misrepresentation, a right of action
for damages against True Leaf, the board of directors and every person who signed the offering
memorandum (if applicable), or alternatively, while still the owner of the purchased Units, a right of
rescission against True Leaf, provided that:
(a) no action may be commenced to enforce a right of action:
(i) for rescission more than 180 days after the date of the purchase; or
(ii) for damages, the earlier of (i) 180 days after the purchaser first had knowledge of the facts
giving rise to the cause of action, or (ii) three years after the date of the purchase;
(b) no person or company will be liable if the person or company proves that the purchaser purchased
the Units with knowledge of the misrepresentation;
(c) no person or company (other than True Leaf) will be liable if the person or company proves that:
(i) the offering memorandum was sent to the purchaser without the person’s or company’s
consent, and that, after becoming aware of its delivery, the person or company promptly
gave reasonable notice to True Leaf that it was sent without the person’s or company’s
knowledge or consent,
(ii) on becoming aware of the misrepresentation, the person or company withdrew their
respective consent to the offering memorandum and gave reasonable notice to True Leaf
of the withdrawal and the reason for it, or
(iii) with respect to any part of the offering memorandum purporting to be made on the
authority of an expert or to be a copy of, or an extract from, an expert’s report, opinion or
statement, the person or company proves that they had no reasonable grounds to believe
and did not believe that there had been a misrepresentation, or the relevant part of the
offering memorandum did not fairly represent the expert’s report, opinion or statement, or
was not a fair copy of, or an extract from, the expert’s report or statement;
(d) no person or company (other than True Leaf) will be liable with respect to any part of the offering
memorandum not purporting to be made on the authority of an expert and not purporting to be a
copy of, or an extract from, an expert’s report, opinion or statement, unless the person or company
(i) did not conduct a reasonable investigation sufficient to provide reasonable grounds for a belief
that there had been no misrepresentation or (ii) believed that there had been a misrepresentation;
(e) True Leaf will not be liable for a misrepresentation in forward-looking information if True Leaf
proves that:
(i) the offering memorandum contains, proximate to the forward-looking information,
reasonable cautionary language identifying the forward-looking information as such, and
identifying material factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from a
conclusion, forecast or projection in the forward-looking information, and a statement of
material factors or assumptions that were applied in drawing a conclusion or making a
forecast or projection set out in the forward-looking information; and
(ii) True Leaf had a reasonable basis for drawing the conclusions or making the forecasts and
projections set out in the forward-looking information;
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(f) in an action for damages, the defendant will not be liable for all or any portion of the damages that
it proves do not represent the depreciation in value of the Units as a result of the misrepresentation
relied upon; and
(g) in no case will the amount recoverable exceed the price at which the Units were sold to the
purchaser.

11.3 Contractual Rights of Action in the Event of a Misrepresentation.
For subscribers resident in a jurisdiction where the securities legislation does not provide a comparable
statutory right of action in the event of a misrepresentation in this offering memorandum as indicated above,
if there is a misrepresentation in this offering memorandum or any information or documents incorporated
or deemed to be incorporated by reference into this offering memorandum, then, you have a contractual
right to sue True Leaf:
(a) to cancel your agreement to buy these securities, or
(b) for damages.
This contractual right to sue is available to you whether or not you relied on the misrepresentation.
However, in an action for damages, the amount you may recover will not exceed the price that you paid for
your securities and will not include any part of the damages that True Leaf proves does not represent the
depreciation in value of the securities resulting from the misrepresentation. True Leaf has a defence if it
proves that you knew of the misrepresentation when you purchased the securities.
If you intend to rely on the rights described in (a) or (b) above, you must do so within strict time limitations.
You must commence your action to cancel the agreement within 180 days after you signed the agreement
to purchase the securities. You must commence your action for damages within the earlier of 180 days after
learning of the misrepresentation and 3 years after you signed the agreement to purchase the securities.
11.4 General
Subscribers should consult their own legal advisers with respect to their rights and the remedies available
to them.
The foregoing is a summary only and subject to interpretation. Reference should be made to the applicable
securities legislation, the regulations and the rules thereunder for the complete text of the provisions under
which the foregoing rights are conferred. The foregoing summary is subject to the express provisions
thereof.
Item 12: Financial Statements
Included in this offering memorandum are the following financial statements of True Leaf (i) unaudited
financial statements for the interim period ended December 31, 2020, and (ii) audited financial statements
for the financial year ended March 31, 2020, together with the Auditors’ Report thereon.
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True Leaf Brands Inc.
Condensed Interim Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Nine Months ended December 31, 2020 and 2019
(Unaudited – Prepared by Management)
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

TRUE LEAF BRANDS INC.
Consolidated Statements of Financial Position
(Unaudited)
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

Notes

December 31, 2020

March 31, 2020

Assets
Current
Cash and cash equivalents

$

Short-term investments

128,762 $

302,225

16

-

51,750

Trade and other receivables

6

174,588

400,808

Inventories

7

-

89,415

Prepaid expenses and deposits

8

228,949

318,797

Assets held for sale

5

-

53,615

532,299

1,216,610

Property, plant and equipment

5, 9

4,399,887

4,482,436

Intangible assets

5, 10

54,002

55,053

Total assets

$

4,986,188 $

5,754,099

858,671 $

1,973,177

Liabilities
Current
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

$

Current portion of long term debt
Current portion convertible note payable

11

Total current liabilities
Convertible note payable

11

Total liabilities

4,700,000

-

0

5,859,467

5,558,671

7,832,644

-

-

5,558,671

7,832,644

30,493,730

23,962,363

Shareholders’ equity (deficiency)
Share capital

13

Reserves
Deficit
Total shareholders’ equity (deficiency)
$

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity (deficiency)

4,935,132

4,625,953

(36,001,346)

(30,666,861)

(572,483)

(2,078,545)

4,986,188 $

5,754,099

Nature of operations and going concern (Note 1)
Subsequent events (Note 19)
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed interim consolidated financial statements.
Approved on behalf of the Board of Directors on March 1, 2021
“Darcy Bomford”

Director

2

“Michael Harcourt”

Director

TRUE LEAF BRANDS INC.
Condensed Interim Consolidated Statements of Loss and Comprehensive Loss
(Unaudited)
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)
For the Nine Months Ended December 31,
Notes

2020

2019

Operating Expenditures
Accretion expense

11

Administrative and office

$

14

Amortization and depreciation

- $

836,467

2,788,048

9, 10

2,130,733

84,672

47,553

Selling and marketing

15

57,410

369,397

Share-based compensation

13

309,179

665,973

Total operating expenditures

3,239,309

4,050,123

Loss from operations

3,239,309

4,050,123

133,411

(14,719)

Other income
Gain (loss) on disposal

5

(1,595,900)

Foreign exchange gain (loss)
Net loss from continued operations
Loss from discontinued operations

5

Loss for the period

$

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding – basic
and diluted *
Loss per common share, discontinued operations - basic and diluted
Loss per common share – basic and diluted

-

3,773

21,673

(4,698,025)

(4,043,169)

(636,460)

(1,864,266)

(5,334,485) $

(5,907,435)

28,791,472

11,118,101

($0.02)

($0.17)

($0.19)

($0.53)

*Prior year Weighted average number of common shares outstanding has been restated to reflect the effects
of consolidation completed December 10, 2020

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed interim consolidated financial statements.
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TRUE LEAF BRANDS INC.
Condensed Interim Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity
(Unaudited)
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

Number of Shares
Balance, March 31, 2019

Share Capital

97,954,521 $

Shares issued on exercise of stock options
Shares issued on exercise of warrants
Shares issued to executive
Share-based compensation

22,689,173 $

700,000
1,507,578
916,666

444,500
521,190
152,500

Shares issued upon conversion of convertible note

833,333

100,000

Shares issued to settle debt
Fair value of warrants issued and equity
component of convertible debt
Loss for the year
Balance, March 31, 2020

458,333

55,000

102,370,431 $

Share-based compensation
Share consolidation
Shares issued to settle debt
Loss for the period

(90,995,939)
17,416,980
-

Balance, December 31, 2020

-

23,962,363 $

Reserves

Deficit

3,660,877 $

(14,471,020) $

(168,000)
870,498

-

262,578
4,625,953 $

(16,195,841)
(30,666,861) $

309,179
6,531,368
-

28,791,472 $

30,493,730 $

4,935,132 $

-

(5,334,485)
(36,001,346) $

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed interim consolidated financial statements.
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Total Shareholders’
Equity (Deficit)
11,879,030
276,500
521,190
152,500
870,498
100,000
55,000
262,578
(16,195,841)
(2,078,545)
309,179
6,531,368
(5,334,485)
(572,483)

TRUE LEAF BRANDS INC.
Condensed Interim Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(Unaudited)
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)
Nine months ended December 31,
2020
2019

Notes

Operating activities
Loss for the period from continuing operations

$

Items not affecting cash:
Accretion expense
Non cash interest expense
Amortization and depreciation
Debt discharged through bankruptcy
Share-based compensation

11
11
9,10

(4,698,025) $
472,141
84,672
(1,798,722)
309,179

13

Transactions cost of loan extension

836,467
47,551
665,973

79,000

Changes in non-cash working capital items:
Prepaid expenses and deposits
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Due to related parties
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Net cash used in operating activities

8

Financing activities
Proceeds from exercise of options
Proceeds from share issue
Proceeds from exercise of warrants
Proceeds of loan
Net cash provided by financing activities
Change in cash and cash equivalents - continued operations
Change in cash - discontinued operations (note 5)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of the year (including
discontinued operations)
Cash and cash equivalents, end of the year*

-

86,900
(1,292,290)
6,637,279
(24,264)
(144,130)

221,873
(142,388)
(1,797,079)
(238,506)
(1,228)
(4,450,506)

9
10

(1,070)
(2,740)
51,750
47,940

(95,866)
46,760
(49,106)

13
13
13

-

276,500
152,500
521,190

7

Investing activities
Additions to property, plant and equipment
Intangible asset costs
(Increase)/decrease in short-term investments
Net cash used in investing activities

11

$

(96,190)
(77,273)

950,190
(3,549,422)
77,273

302,225

4,391,072

128,762

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed interim consolidated financial statements.
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(4,043,169)

$

918,923

TRUE LEAF BRANDS INC.
Notes to Condensed Interim Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Nine-Month Period Ended December 31, 2020
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

1.

NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND GOING CONCERN
True Leaf Brands Inc. (formerly True Leaf Medicine International Ltd.) (the “Company” or “TLB”)
was incorporated under the Business Corporations Act of the Province of British Columbia on
September 9, 2014 and is the legal parent of True Leaf Investments Corp. (“TLI”), True Leaf
Cannabis Inc. (“TLC”).
On May 21, 2019 the Company changed the name of True Leaf Medicine International Ltd. to True
Leaf Brands Inc., and changed the name of its subsidiary, True Leaf Medicine Inc., to True Leaf
Cannabis Inc. The legal and organizational structure was not altered as part of these name changes.
The Company’s shares trade on the Canadian Securities Exchange (the “CSE”) under the symbol
“MJ”, the OTC Market Group’s Pink under the ticker symbol “TRLFF” and the Frankfurt Stock
Exchange under the symbol “TLAA”. The Company’s head office and registered office is located
at 1055 West Hastings Street, Suite 1700, Vancouver BC, V6E 2E9.
The Company has received approval to become a licensed producer of medicinal cannabis for the
Canadian market under the new Cannabis Act and has secured three licenses from Health Canada to
cultivate, process and sell medical cannabis.
Going Concern
The consolidated financial statements (the “financial statements”) have been prepared on a going
concern basis, which assumes that the Company will be able to realize its assets and discharge its
liabilities in the normal course of business.
For the Nine Months ended December 31, 2020, the Company incurred a loss of $5,334,485 and has
a deficit of $36,001,346 The Company earned revenues of $586,175 (2019 - $1,598,562) from its
subsidiaries True Leaf Pet Inc. (“TLP”) and True Leaf Pet Europe S.A.R.L. (“TLPE”), however,
these two subsidiaries did not achieve profitability. On April 2, 2020, the Company sought creditor
protection by filing a Notice of Intention (“NOI”) to make a proposal under the Bankruptcy and
Insolvency Act (Canada) (“the BIA process”) and the two subsidiaries containing net assets, TLP
and TLC, were actively marketed for sale to settle the debts of the company. The sale of the assets
of TLP and shares of TLPE closed on September 11, 2020, thereafter, the only remaining operations
of the Company is through TLI and TLC.
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TRUE LEAF BRANDS INC.
Notes to Condensed Interim Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Nine-Month Period Ended December 31, 2020
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)
1.

NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND GOING CONCERN (CONTINUED)
Going Concern (Continued)
The stay of proceedings in each of the restructuring proceedings of the Company and its subsidiaries
expired on October 2, 2020. Prior to the expiry of the stay, TLB, TLC and TLI each filed a proposal
to their respective creditors with the Office of Superintendent in Bankruptcy. TLB’s proposal was
filed on October 1, 2020, TLC’s proposal was filed on September 23, 2020 and TLI’s proposal was
filed on October 2, 2020. Each proposal was based on a refinancing arrangement to resolve the Lind
Asset Management Debt (“Lind Debt”) and refinance the Company. TLP had no assets remaining
and became bankrupt when the stay expired.
The cannabis industry is young and developing. Regulations are frequently changing as Health
Canada adjusts to the evolving processes and operations. This fact, along with the factors discussed
in the preceding paragraphs results in a material uncertainty that casts significant doubt as to the
Company's ability to continue to operate as a going concern. The recoverability of the carrying value
of property, plant and equipment is dependent upon the success of the operating and financing
activities and the future cannabis price. Changes in future conditions could require material writedowns of the carrying value of property, plant and equipment. If the going concern assumption was
not appropriate for these consolidated financial statements, then adjustments would be necessary to
the carrying value of assets and liabilities, the reported expenses, and the statement of financial
position classifications used, and such adjustments could be material. The Company has been
exploring and will continue to consider all of its options to maintain and raise capital when and as
needed, including selling assets and/or issuing debt and/or equity securities subject to prevailing
market conditions.
These financial statements do not give effect to any adjustments which would be necessary should
the Company be unable to continue operations.
Refinancing Agreement
Following creditor approval and Court approval in early November 2020 of the BIA Proposals
filed by TLC and TLI, the transactions contemplated by the Refinancing Agreement were
completed on November 16, 2020. The proposals were sponsored by two financing groups,
Canguard Mortgage Investment Corporation (“Canguard”) and 1263815 BC Ltd. (“Second
Mortgage Co.”).
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TRUE LEAF BRANDS INC.
Notes to Condensed Interim Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Nine-Month Period Ended December 31, 2020
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

1.

NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND GOING CONCERN (CONTINUED)
Refinancing Agreement (Continued)
The material terms of the Refinancing Agreement transaction are as follows:
•

•

•

•

Canguard loaned $3,000,000 to TLC (the “Canguard Loan”) secured by a first mortgage on the
Lumby Property and a first priority security interest in all of TLC’s present and after-acquired
personal property.
Second Mortgage Co. loaned $1,700,000 to TLC (the “Second Mortgage Co. Loan”) secured by
a second mortgage on the Lumby Property and a second priority security interest in all of TLC’s
present and after-acquired personal property.
TLC used all of the proceeds of the Canguard Loan and $1,150,000 of the proceeds of the
Second Mortgage Co. Loan, being an aggregate of $4,150,000, to pay down the Lind Debt
through the purchase of The Australian Special Opportunity Fund, LP (“ASOF”) a subsidiary of
Lind that holds the notes.
Acquire Co #1 purchased:
- from TLI, all of the issued and outstanding shares of TLC; and
- from TLB all of the issued and outstanding shares of TLI;

•
•

In each case, for a purchase price of $1. Simultaneously, TLI exercised an option to re-purchase
from Acquire Co #1 all of the issued and outstanding shares of TLC for $1.
Acquire Co #2 purchased from ASOF all of the issued and outstanding shares of Lind for a
purchase price of $1.

TLB Share Capital Reorganization
The substance of the TLB’s Share Capital Reorganization involves two basic elements:
1. A consolidation of the issued and outstanding TLB common shares (the “Consolidation”); and
2. The re-acquisition by TLB from Acquire Co #1 of all of the issued shares of TLI and its subsidiary
TLC, the owner of the Lumby Property and the holder of the Licence, and the acquisition by TLB
from Acquire Co #2 of all of the issued shares of Lind (holder of the residue of the Lind Debt), all
in exchange for a sufficient number of newly issued TLB common shares to give the New Investor
Group approximately 58% of the then issued and outstanding common shares of TLB
(collectively, the “Vend-in”).
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TRUE LEAF BRANDS INC.
Notes to Condensed Interim Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Nine-Month Period Ended December 31, 2020
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

1.

NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND GOING CONCERN (CONTINUED)
TLB Share Capital Reorganization (Continued)
The following steps were executed on the closing of December 11, 2020:
•

•

•

TLB, by way of a consent resolution of the directors of TLB, effected the Consolidation, which
consisted of an alteration of its articles of incorporation in accordance with the BCBCA to
consolidate its issued and unissued share capital on the basis of nine old TLB shares for one new
TLB share;
In order to implement the Vend-in, a newly-created single purpose subsidiary of TLB was
amalgamated with Acquire Co #1 and Acquire Co #2 to form a new company (“Amalco”) in what
is referred to as a three-cornered amalgamation in which:
- the former shareholders of Acquire Co #1 and Acquire Co #2 receive shares of TLB and
thereby become shareholders of TLB;
- TLB received all of the issued and outstanding shares of Amalco; and
Immediately thereafter, Amalco was vertically amalgamated into TLB, thereby eliminating
Amalco as a subsidiary and creating a direct parent/subsidiary relationship between TLB and TLI.
As a result, the former shareholders of Acquire Co #1 and Acquire Co #2 (i.e. the New Investor
Group) become, collectively, the majority shareholders of TLB and the corporate structure of the
True Leaf group of companies, as it existed prior to November 16, 2020, was restored.
Corona Virus (COVID-19)
In March 2020, the World Health Organization declared corona virus (“COVID-19”) a global
pandemic. This contagious disease outbreak, which has continued to spread, and any related
adverse public health developments, has adversely affected workforces, economies, and financial
markets globally, potentially leading to an economic downturn. It is not possible for the Company
to predict the duration or magnitude of the adverse results of the outbreak and its effects on the
Company’s business or ability to raise funds.
COVID-19 may impact the company’s ability to start up cannabis growing, retail and medicinal
on-line sales as a result of disruptions to supply chains, travel and trade restrictions and impact on
local economic activity in affected regions. Such pandemics also represent a threat to maintaining
a skilled workforce. There can be no assurance that the Company’s personnel will not be impacted
by this pandemic.
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TRUE LEAF BRANDS INC.
Notes to Condensed Interim Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Nine-Month Period Ended December 31, 2020
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION
(a) Statement of compliance
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards
Board (“IASB”) and interpretations issued by the International Financial Reporting
Interpretations Committee (IFRIC”). These consolidated financial statements were approved by
the Company’s Board of Directors on March 1, 2021.
(b) Principles of consolidation
These financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and its controlled
subsidiaries. Control exists when the Company has the power, directly or indirectly, to govern
the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. These
financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiaries:
TLI – Inactive
TLC – Active
All intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated on consolidation.
(c) Basis of measurement
These financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for certain financial
instruments which are measured at fair value (Note 16) and fair value less cost to sell (Note 5). The
accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these
financial statements with the exception of the change in accounting policies noted below.

2.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Adoption of New IFRS Pronouncements
IFRS 16 − Leases
The Company adopted the new IFRS pronouncements listed below as at April 1, 2019, in accordance
with the transitional provisions outlined in the respective standards described below.
Management has reviewed the impact that adoption of the new standard had on the Company’s
consolidated financial statements and found no significant impact.
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TRUE LEAF BRANDS INC.
Notes to Condensed Interim Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Nine-Month Period Ended December 31, 2020
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

3.

USE OF ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS
The preparation of these consolidated financial statements requires management to make certain
estimates, judgements and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at
the date of the consolidated financial statements and reported amounts of expenses during the
period. These estimates are, by their nature, uncertain. The impacts of such estimates are pervasive
throughout the consolidated financial statements, and may require accounting adjustments based
on future occurrences. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the
estimate is revised and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods. These
estimates are based on current and future economic conditions and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.
(a) Estimates
Critical accounting estimates are estimates and assumptions made by management that may result
in a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year and include, but are not limited to, the following:
(a) Estimates (continued)
•

Share-based payments and compensation
The Company measures the cost of equity-settled transactions with employees by reference to
the fair value of the equity instruments at the date at which they are granted. Estimating the
fair value for share-based payment transactions and the resulting share-based compensation
expense is based on a variety of assumptions, including the expected life, risk-free interest
rates, volatility, and forfeiture rates.

•

Amortization rates for intangible assets
Amortization expenses are calculated based on assumed intangible asset lives. Should the
intangible asset life or amortization rates differ from the initial estimate, an adjustment would
be made in the consolidated statement of loss and comprehensive loss.
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TRUE LEAF BRANDS INC.
Notes to Condensed Interim Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Nine-Month Period Ended December 31, 2020
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

4. USE OF ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS (CONTINUED)
(b) Critical judgements
Information about critical judgments in applying accounting policies that have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognized in the consolidated financial statements include,
but are not limited to, the following:


Functional currency
The functional currency of each of the Company’s subsidiaries is the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates. Determination of the
functional currency may involve certain judgments to determine the primary economic
environment and the Company reconsiders the functional currency of its entities if there is
a change in events and conditions which determined the primary economic environment.



Going concern
In order to assess whether it is appropriate for the Company to be reported as a going
concern, the Directors apply judgement, having undertaken appropriate enquiries and
having considered the business activities and the Company's principal risks and
uncertainties. In arriving at this judgement there are a large number of assumptions and
estimates involved in calculating these future cash flow projections. This includes
management's expectations of revenue, EBITDA, timing and quantum of future capital
expenditure and estimates and cost of future funding. The Company is in the process of
exiting the BIA process however there is still a risk that the company will fall into
bankruptcy if the proposals and refinancing arrangements do not close. Directors and
management have assessed that risk and determined that it is more likely than not that the
refinancing arrangements will complete as planned.



Valuation of assets held for sale and property, plant and equipment
As disclosed in Note 1, the Company has received offers for each of its CGU’s and values of
long term assets have been impaired to reflect the ultimate consideration for the net assets of
each CGU.

12

TRUE LEAF BRANDS INC.
Notes to Condensed Interim Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Nine-Month Period Ended December 31, 2020
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

5.

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS & ASSETS HELD FOR SALE

On April 2, 2020, TLB and its subsidiaries entered into creditor protection under the BIA Process. As
part of the restructuring and to settle the payables and secured debt of the company, an asset sale process
was started again for TLP & TLC, the two companies that held assets.
IFRS 5 outlines the requirements for presentation of assets held for sale and the presentation and disclosure
of discontinued operations. It requires that “An entity shall classify a non-current asset (or disposal group)
as held for sale if its carrying amount will be recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than
through continuing use.” “An entity shall measure a non-current asset (or disposal group) classified as
held for sale at the lower of its carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell.”
Management determined that the Company has two groups of assets. The TLP assets are one cashgenerating unit and include the shares of TLPE, accounts receivable, prepaid expenses, inventory as well
as tangible and intangible property, plant and equipment. TLC’s assets consist of land, building,
equipment and intangible assets.
On August 11, 2020, a sale agreement for substantially all of the assets of TLP for the sum of $300,000
was entered into with 4033001 and its parent company, Hemp Technology Inc., both Wyoming
Corporations. This triggered an impairment test as of March 31, 2020 of the assets of TLP with valuations
based on the net consideration ultimately received.
On September 11, 2020, a Binding Term Sheet was entered into to refinance TLB, TLC and TLI, and buy
the debt held by Lind Asset Management. This triggered an impairment test as of March 31, 2020 of the
assets of TLC. The value of the sale and loan agreement is $4,700,000.
The following is a continuity of asset values taking into account their related impairments as of March
31, 2020:
Carrying Value
Inventory
Prepaid expenses
Land
Building
Equipment
Intangible assets

$

$

Impairment

513,006 $
393,432 $
321,745
3,380,387
2,579,195
7,483,731
3,901,900
289,702
190,289
153,638
78,077
12,142,209 $ 7,142,893 $
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Value after
Continued
impairment
Operations
119,574
$
89,415 $
321,745
318,797
801,192
801,192
3,581,831
3,581,831
99,413
99,413
75,561
55,053
4,999,316 $
4,945,701 $

Held for Sale
30,159
2,948
20,508
53,615

TRUE LEAF BRANDS INC.
Notes to Condensed Interim Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Nine-Month Period Ended December 31, 2020
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

5.

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS & ASSETS HELD FOR SALE (CONTINUED)

The following assets, previously reported as held for sale, were sold on September 11, 2020:
TLP
Inventory

TLPE

$

Total

30,159 $

-

Prepaid expenses

-

2,970

2,970

Intangible assets

-

23,668

23,668

$

30,159

$

$

26,638 $

30,159

56,797

There were no liabilities directly associated with the assets held for sale.
In November 2020 the court granted an order in the Company’s restructuring proceedings approving the
financing transaction between TLB, TLC, TLI, Lind Asset Management XV, LLC , The Australian
Special Opportunity Fund, LP, Canguard Mortgage Investment Corporation (“Canguard”) and its related
acquisition entities pursuant to a term sheet between the parties dated September 11, 2020 and the sale
of the shares of True Leaf Investments Ltd. to Canguard's acquisition companies (“Acquisition Cos”) in
accordance with the Transaction. TLB entered into a definitive merger agreement (the “Merger
Agreement”) with the Acquisition Cos to re-acquire TLC and TLI. The Acquisition Cos were at arm’s
length to the Company and are owned by private investors.
The total breakdown of cash flows from discontinued operations are as follows:

Net cash used in operating activities
Net cash used in investing activities
Change in cash during the year

Nine months ended December 31,
2020
2019
(77,273)
$
185,101
(107,828)
(77,273)
$
77,273

$
$
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5.

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS & ASSETS HELD FOR SALE (CONTINUED)

For the Nine Months ended December 31, 2020, income arising from discontinued operations include
the operating income of TLP and TLPE as follows:
TLP
Sales
Cost of sales
Gross Profit
Operating Expenditures
Administrative and office
Amortization and depreciation
Inventory write-down
Research and development
Selling and marketing
Share-based compensation
Total operating expenditures
Loss from discontinued operations

TLPE
337,195 $ 248,980 $
92,530
180,689
244,665
68,291

$

674,462
154,286
828,748
(584,083) $

$

Other income
Foreign exchange gain (loss)
Loss and comprehensive loss for the year

143,138
182
21,797
165,117
(96,826) $

86,528
(7,269)
$

(504,824) $

Total selling and marketing

$

2020
23,990
12,766
3,695
3,225
1,344
131,063
176,083

(131,636) $

(636,460) $

15

2019
273,403
146,238
10,686
120,493
34,851
119,512
345,644
$

993,865
(680,909) $
86,528
(42,079)

Nine Months Ended December 31,
$

817,600
182
176,083
-

(34,810)

Selling and marketing expenses included in discontinued operations are as follows:

Advertising
Branding
Digital marketing
Trade shows
Sales administration costs
Travel and meals
Wages

Total December 31,
2020
2019
586,175 $
1,681,158
273,219
843,963
312,956
837,195

1,050,827

1,333,761
73,819
36,161
21,797
1,050,827
102,500
2,618,865
(1,781,670)
(82,596)
(1,864,266)

TRUE LEAF BRANDS INC.
Notes to Condensed Interim Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Nine-Month Period Ended December 31, 2020
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

5.

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS & ASSETS HELD FOR SALE (CONTINUED)

Administrative and office expenses included in discontinued operations are as follows:
Nine months ended December 31,
2020
2019
$
1,101 $
1,079
14,533
1,683
53,704
89,049
33,620
74,802
381
198,832
1,070
2,818
79,137
269,167
634,054
696,331
$
817,600 $
1,333,761

Accounting and legal
Insurance
Office and other
Rent
Travel and meals
Utilities
Consulating fees
Wages and salaries
Total administrative and office expense

6.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
December 31, 2020
Trade receivables (a)

$

Miscellaneous receivables (b)
Goods and services tax receivable
$

-

March 31, 2020
$

186,994

5,000

68,312

169,588

145,502

174,588 $

400,808

(a) Trade receivables
Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are due within 30 days. As at December 31, 2020, the
Company had no trade receivables that were over 90 days (March 31, 2020 - $11,543).
(b) Miscellaneous receivables
At December 31, 2020, the Company had $5,000 in rent receivable (March 31, 2020: $ nil).
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7.

INVENTORY

The cost of inventories recognized as an expense in Discontinued operation for the Nine Months ended
December 31, 2020 was $273,032 and is included in cost of sales (2019: $843,963).
8.

PREPAID EXPENSES AND DEPOSITS
December 31, 2020
8,289
120,000
583
$
128,872

Insurance premiums
Interest
Other
Total prepaid expenses

$

Construction deposits
Total deposits
Total prepaid expenses & deposits

$

100,077
100,077
228,949

$

March 31, 2020
208,840
9,880
218,720

$

100,077
100,077
318,797

$

As at December 31, 2020, prepaid expenses include a deposit of $100,077 (March 31, 2020 - $100,077)
paid in connection with construction of the Company’s cannabis production facility in Lumby (Note 9).
The deposit is refundable subject to approval by the Village of Lumby that the Company has complied
with conditions set out in its various permits.
The new debt secured by the Company included a requirement for six months of prepaid interest on the
First and Second mortgages. The holders of the second mortgage amended the requirement to one
month’s prepaid interest. Prepaid interest includes $120,000 interest payable on the first mortgage from
January to May 2021.
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9. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
The Company acquired a 40 acre property located in Lumby, B.C to build its cannabis cultivation facility,
and construction of the Company’s building was completed in March 2019, with total construction costs
being capitalized until the building was ready for its intended use as a licensed producer and grower of
cannabis under the Cannabis Act. In November 2019, the Company received approval to be a licensed
producer of medicinal cannabis and, as such, the facility is fully employable and depreciation of the facility
commenced.
On April 2, 2020, the Company entered creditor protection under the BIA process and began a process of
restructuring and marketing its assets to settle its debts. Through the process, bids were received and a
workout plan was reached that refinanced the company through a loan and merger agreement. This
triggered a review of the value of the subsidiary TLC. The arrangement attributed a net value of the
company at $4,700,000. An impairment was calculated for the year ended March 31, 2020 and applied to
land, property, plant and equipment and intangible assets of TLC on a pro-rata basis. The sale process of
the TLP assets also triggered an impairment of property, plant and equipment based on the selling price
of substantially all of that company’s assets at a value of $300,000 less cost to sell of $39,775 for a net
value of $260,225.
Cost:
Balance, March 31, 2019

Buildings

Land
$

3,380,387

$

7,506,169

Leasehold
Improvement
$

79,929

$

20,165

Additions

-

78,341

15,747

6,276

Disposals

-

(6,050)

-

-

(3,951,291)

-

3,627,169

Impairment

(2,579,195)

Balance, March 31, 2020

801,192

Additions
Balance December 31, 2020

$

801,192

$

3,627,169

Equipment

Office furniture
$

195,884

Total
$

105,232

11,182,534
205,596

(1,752)

(7,802)

(23,195)

(235,689)

(6,789,370)

95,676

3,246

63,675

4,590,958

-

-

1,070

1,070

$

95,676

$

3,246

$

64,745

$

4,592,028

$

41,073

$

10,216

$

19,964

$

71,253

Accumulated depreciation:
Balance, March 31, 2019

$

-

Depreciation for the period

-

Disposals

-

Impairment

-

Balance, March 31, 2020
Depreciation for the period
Balance December 31, 2020

$

$

-

17,839

6,141

-

-

(49,391)

-

(15,267)

-

45,339

58,912

-

68,009

14,351

-

94,730

37,120

155,830

(575)

(575)

(53,328)

(117,986)

1,090

3,181

108,522

61

1,198

83,619

$

113,348

$

73,263

$

1,151

$

4,379

$

192,141

Carrying value:
As at March 31,2020

$

801,192

$

3,581,830

$

36,764

$

2,156

$

60,494

$

4,482,436

As at December 31, 2020

$

801,192

$

3,513,821

$

22,413

$

2,095

$

60,366

$

4,399,887
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10. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Cost:

Website

Balance, March 31, 2019
Additions
Impairment
Prior period adjustments
Classified as held for sale
Balance, March 31, 2020
Additions

10,801
7,012
-

Trademarks and
Intellectual property
related costs
200,508
55,500 $
36,871
(136,749)
(55,500)
(54,276)
46,354
2,389
$
48,743 $
$

$

17,813
351
18,164

Balance December 31, 2020

$

10,801
10,801
1,402
12,203 $

Carrying value:
As at March 31, 2020
As at December 31, 2020

$
$

Balance December 31, 2020

Accumulated amortization:
Balance, March 31, 2019
Amortization for the year
Classified as held for sale
Impairment
Balance, March 31, 2020
Amortization for the period

7,363
5,961

64,425
34,167
(33,768)
(64,824)
702
702 $

$
$

48,743
48,041

$
$

36,075 $
11,586
(47,661)
$

-

$
$

Total
266,809
43,883
(192,249)
(54,276)
64,167
2,740
66,907

111,301
45,753
(33,768)
(112,485)
10,801
2,104
12,905

56,106
54,002

11. DEBT AND CONVERTIBLE NOTES
On February 21, 2019, the Company completed a private placement of secured convertible notes for gross
proceeds of $4,500,000, of which $250,000 was set aside in cash in a restricted bank account, and
classified as other asset pursuant to the terms of the Convertible Security Funding Agreement (“CSFA”).
In March 2020, the restricted cash was moved to general funds. The maturity date of the debenture was
February 21, 2021. Upon maturity, the Company was required to repay $5,400,000, consisting of the
principal amount of $4,500,000 (the Principal) plus interest costs of $900,000. The Company had the right
to buy-back the convertible note at any time. If the Company had repaid the note prior to February 21,
2020, the repayment amount was to be reduced to $4,950,000, consisting of the Principal of $4,500,000
plus $450,000 of interest costs. The Company was required to repay the principal amount in 18 equal
monthly installments commencing August 21, 2019, with the interest payment of $900,000 due upon
maturity, subject to the reduction of interest described above.
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11.

DEBT AND CONVERTIBLE NOTES (Continued)

The note was convertible, at a fixed conversion price of $0.40 per common share (the “conversion price”),
at the option of the holder, into common shares of the Company at any time over the term of the note or
if a change of control occurs.
The investor also received 5,625,000 per-consolidation warrants as part of this convertible debenture,
entitling the investor to purchase one common share at an exercise price of $0.5089 for a period of 36
months from the issue date. The warrants are subject to acceleration where 50% of the total warrants
outstanding, or 2,812,500 warrants, may be accelerated at the option of the Company if the volume
weighted average price (“VWAP”) of the Company’s common shares are at least $1.0178 (preconsolidation) for 30 consecutive trading days. The remaining warrants may be accelerated by the
Company if the VWAP of the Company’s common shares are at least $1.5267 (pre-consolidation) for 30
consecutive trading days.
The Company allocated the gross proceeds from the issuance between the estimated fair value of the debt
and equity components using the residual method. The Company used an effective annualized discount
rate of 17.2%, which resulted in valuation of the debt component at $4,303,813 and the equity component
at $197,031 before issue costs. The debt component was measured at amortized cost.
On October 7, 2019, the Company completed a waiver, amendment and funding agreement supplement
(the “Waiver”) for the CSFA noted above. Pursuant to the terms of the CSFA, the Company was required
to repay the principal amount in 18 equal monthly installments ($250,000) commencing August 21, 2019.
The Waiver provided for (i) a 6 month deferral of these $250,000 payments to the Investor to March 22,
2020; (ii) a fee of $540,000 paid by the issuance of an additional convertible security with a face value of
$540,000 (the “Deferral Convertible Security”) to the Investor; and (iii) the issuance of 2,160,000 warrants
(“New Warrants”) of the Company to the Investor. The Company allocated the gross value of the note
between the estimated fair value of the debt and equity components using the residual method. The
Company used an effective annualized discount rate of 17.9%, which resulted in valuation of the debt
component at $277,422 and the equity component at $65,547.
The Deferral Convertible Security was convertible into common shares of the Company at a conversion
price of $0.21 per share. The Deferral Convertible Security was required to be repaid in 18 equal monthly
installments ($30,000) beginning on March 22, 2020, except that the repayment amount would be reduced
in any month by any amount converted by the Investor into the Company’s common shares. The New
Warrants entitle the Investor to purchase one common share for each warrant, at an exercise price of $0.21
(pre-consolidation), for a period of 36 months from the date of issue.
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11.

DEBT AND CONVERTIBLE NOTES (Continued)

On March 23, 2020, Lind Asset Management served the Company with a Default Notice demanding the
payments due under the Funding Agreements. Both funding agreements stipulate that at the date of an
Event of Default the interest payable on the Convertible Security will be at a rate of 15% per annum
compounded monthly and all amounts become immediately due.
$

Opening balance of convertible notes
Convertible note additions
Less: Conversion of loan to common shares
Less: Allocation to equity on convertible note issued
Less: Allocation to equity for fair value of warrants
Accretion expense
Interest expense on default
Settlement
Total

$

As at December 31, 2020 As at March 31, 2020
5,859,467 $
3,808,056
540,000
(100,000)
(65,547)
(197,031)
1,854,522
455,621
19,467
(6,315,088)
- $
5,859,467

During the Nine Months ended December 31, 2020, the Company recorded accretion expense of $nil
(2019: $836,467) relating to this convertible debt. The debt was settled as outlined in Note 1 via a
Refinancing Agreement with LAM and Canguard.
On April 29, 2020, the Company entered into a Debtor in Protection Credit Facility (“DIP Loan”) to
provide it with financing to fund certain of the Company’s cash requirements during the pendency of the
BIA Process under the proposal provisions of the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act (Canada) overseen by
the Supreme Court of British Columbia. The loan was a non-revolving credit facility of up to $700,000
repayable, together with all accrued and unpaid interest, fees and repayment obligations, on the earlies of
August 15, 2020 and the date on which the sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company
closes, or if the company is deemed bankrupt under the BIA process. Extensions on the term of the loan
were made with amending agreements dated August 14, 2020, August 31, 2020 and October 2, 2020. The
loan bearing interest of 10% per annum compounded monthly. The Company made total draws of
$700,000 on the facility and accrued interest of $16,520. The debt was settled as outlined in Note 1 via a
Refinancing Agreement with LAM and Canguard.
On September 17, 2020 the Company entered into a First Mortgage Credit Facility with Canguard
Mortgage Investment Corporation in the amount of $3,000,000 registered as a first charge on the existing
land and building at 1837 Shuswap Avenue, Lumby BC. The mortgage term is 12 months and bears
interest of 10% per annum, calculated monthly. The mortgage included fees of $2,000 for due diligence
and a facility fee of $60,000 that was fully earned and payable upon the first advance. The mortgage was
fully drawn on November 17, 2020. During the period ended December 31, 2020 interest of $25,000 was
paid from prepaid interest held by the mortgagor.
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11.

DEBT AND CONVERTIBLE NOTES (Continued)

On September 17, 2020 the Company entered into a Second Mortgage Credit Facility with 1263815 BC
Ltd. In the amount of $1,700,000 registered as a second charge on the existing land and building at 1837
Shuswap Avenue, Lumby BC. The mortgage term is 12 months and bears interest of 12% per annum,
calculated monthly. The mortgage included fees of $2,000 for due diligence and a facility fee of $1,000
that was fully earned and payable upon the first advance. The mortgage was fully drawn on November 17,
2020. During the period ended December 31, 2020 interest of $17,000 was paid from prepaid interest
held by the mortgagor.
12. RELATED PARTY BALANCES AND TRANSACTIONS
a) Goods and services
The Company had the following transactions with related parties during the Nine Months ended
December 31, 2020 and 2019 which were recognized at the amounts that were agreed upon between
the two parties:
Nine Months Ended December 31,
2020
2019
Paid to the Chief Executive Officer for office space rental
Paid to a company controlled by its Chief Executive Officer for
costs associated with packaging inventory

$20,300
$

-

$49,825
$306,951

On October 2, 2020 TLP entered bankruptcy and of the $306,951 payable to the company controlled
by its Chief Executive Officer $242,099 became uncollectable and $33,000 was sold with the sale of
shares of TLPE.
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12. RELATED PARTY BALANCES AND TRANSACTIONS (Continued)
b) Compensation of key management personnel
The Company considers its key management personnel to be its Directors, Chief Executive Officer,
and Chief Financial Officer.
Nine Months ended December 31,
2020
2019
Director compensation (non-Executive):
Salaries and consulting fees
Share-based compensation

$
$

Management compensation:
Salaries and management fees
Share-based compensation

$

75,833
75,833
75,833

$
$

$
$
$
$
$

52,875
17,501
70,376
342,090
191,653
533,743
604,119

c) During the Nine Months ended December 31, 2020 most executive contracts were terminated and
severance pay of $609,375 was accrued. On October 2, 2020 TLP entered bankruptcy and $544,375
payable to past executive was written off, a settlement agreement of approximately $0.10 per dollar
was approved for TLB and $229,514 was written down.
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13. SHARE CAPITAL
a) Authorized
Unlimited Common voting shares with no par value
b) Issued
The company completed a consolidation of its shares effective December 10, 2020, with a record date of
December 11, 2020. Prior to the Consolidation, the Company had 102,370,431 pre-consolidation Shares
issued and outstanding. Following the Consolidation, the Company has approximately 11,374,492 postconsolidation Shares issued and outstanding.
The Company had the following share capital transactions during the nine-month period ended December
31, 2020.
a. Pursuant to the amalgamation undertaken to reacquire TLC and TLI which had been acquired
by the Acquisition Cos as part of the Company’s proposals to its creditors and restructuring
under the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act (Canada), the Company issued 17,416,980 postconsolidated common shares at a deemed price of $0.375 per share to the shareholders of the
Acquisition Cos
The Company had the following share capital transactions during the nine-month period ended December
31, 2019:
a. The Company issued, pre-consolidation, 1,507,578 common shares pursuant to the exercise of
share purchase warrants for gross proceeds of $521,190.
b. The Company issued, pre-consolidation, 700,000 common shares pursuant to the exercise of
share options for proceeds of $276,500.
c. The Company issued, pre-consolidation, 916,666 common shares to an executive as part of their
employment contract and recorded $152,500 as share-based compensation expense with the
same amount as an addition to share capital.
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13. SHARE CAPITAL (CONTINUED)
c)

Share purchase warrants
Share purchase warrant transactions are summarized as follows:

Number of Warrants
Balance, March 31, 2019
Warrants expired
Warrants exercised
Warrants cancelled
Warrants issued
Balance, March 31, 2020

1,199,340
(228,557)
(167,509)
(83,037)
240,000
960,238
(95,238)
865,000

Warrants expired
Balance, December 31, 2020

Weighted Average
Exercise Price
$
4.59
3.6
3.24
3.24
1.89
0.49
9.45
0.43

As at December 31, 2020, the following share purchase warrants are outstanding:
Number of
Warrants
625,000
240,000
865,000

d)

Price ( $ )

Expiry Date

4.59
1.89

February 21, 2022
October 7, 2022

Stock options
The Company has a Stock Option Plan (the “Plan”) in place under which it is authorized to grant
options to directors, executive officers, employees and consultants enabling them to acquire up to
10% of the issued and outstanding common shares of the Company in any twelve-month period.
Under the Plan, the exercise price of each stock option is subject to a minimum of $0.10 and may
not be less than the closing market price of Company’s common shares on the trading day
immediately preceding the date of grant of the options. The options can be granted for a maximum
term of five years and vest at the discretion of the Board of Directors.
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13. SHARE CAPITAL (CONTINUED)
d) Stock options (Continued)
Stock option transactions are summarized as follows:
Number of
Options
869,444
120,556
(77,778)
(172,222)
(147,222)
592,778
(234,074)
358,704

Balance, March 31, 2019
Stock options granted
Stock options exercised
Stock options expired
Stock options forfeited
Balance, March 31, 2020
Stock options forfeited
Balance, December 31, 2020

Weighted Average
Exercise Price
5.13
2.61
3.60
3.60
5.76
5.13
5.94
4.59

As at December 31, 2020, the following stock options are outstanding and exercisable:

Number of Options
Outstanding
66,667
36,111
33,333
137,037
27,778
57,778
358,704

Exercise
Price
Exercisable
($)
66,667
8.46
36,111
4.50
11,110
5.04
90,741
5.04
27,778
5.49
5,556
2.61
237,962

Expiry Date
February 6, 2023
July 31, 2023
September 10, 2023
March 6, 2024
March 21, 2024
July 25, 2024

During the nine months ended December 31, 2020, the Company recorded share-based compensation
of $309,179 (2019: $665,973) relating to the stock options.
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14. ADMINISTRATIVE AND OFFICE EXPENSE
Nine months ended December 31,
2020
2019
$
760,001 $
380,492
45,229
34,405
51,708
241,580
166,549
594,601
168,232
108,262
139,538

Accounting and legal
Director fees
Filing fees
Insurance
Transaction costs & interest expense
Office and other
Property tax expense

157,287

Rent
Transfer agent
Travel and meals
Utilities
Consulting fees
Wages and salaries
Total administrative and office expense

$

5,286
3,678
243
20,360
417,365
444,980
2,788,048 $

15. SELLING AND MARKETING EXPENSE
Nine Months Ended December 31,
2020
Investor Relations
Public Relations
Total selling and marketing

$

2019
19,795 $
37,615
57,410 $

$
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271,927
97,470
369,397

84,777
37,450
51,708
57,528
23,129
157,088
767,305
2,130,733

TRUE LEAF BRANDS INC.
Notes to Condensed Interim Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Nine-Month Period Ended December 31, 2020
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

16. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, RISK AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT
Fair Value
Financial instruments recorded at fair value on the consolidated statement of financial position are
classified using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs used in making the
measurements. The fair value hierarchy has the following levels:
a) Level 1 - Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;
b) Level 2 - Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for assets or liabilities, either directly
or indirectly;
c) Level 3 - Inputs for assets and liabilities that are not based on observable market data.
The fair value hierarchy requires the use of observable market inputs whenever such inputs exist. A
financial instrument is classified to the lowest level of the hierarchy for which a significant input has been
considered in measuring fair value. The carrying value of receivables. accounts payable, accrued liabilities
and note payable approximates their fair value because of the short-term nature of these instruments.
The fair values of cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments are measured based on level 1
inputs of the fair value hierarchy.
Risk
The Company is exposed to various risks through its financial instruments and has a risk management
framework to monitor, evaluate and manage these risks. The following analysis provides information
about the Company’s risk exposure and concentration as of December 31, 2020:
Credit risk
Credit risk refers to the risk that another entity will default on its contractual obligations which will
result in a loss for the Company. At December 31, 2020, the Company’s exposure to credit risk consists
of the carrying value of cash and cash equivalents, and receivables. The Company limits its credit
exposure on cash by holding its deposits with established financial institutions. Accounts receivable
consists of miscellaneous receivables related to passive rent.
Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk arises from our general and capital financing needs with respect to future growth. Liquidity
risk could arise if the Company encounters difficulty in meeting future obligations with financial
liabilities. As at December 31, 2020, the Company had cash and cash equivalents and short term
investments of $128,762 (March 31, 2020 - $353,975) to settle current liabilities of $5,555,671 (March
31, 2020 - $7,832,644). The Company has exited creditor protection proceedings (Note 1).
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16. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, RISK AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
Currency risk
The operating results and financial position of the Company are reported in Canadian dollars. The
Company was exposed to currency risk arising from the translation of its European subsidiary’s operations
and to currency transaction risk as some of the Company’s financial instruments were denominated in
U.S. dollars. The results of the Company’s operations are subject to currency translation and transaction
risks.
On September 11, 2020 the assets of TLP and shares of TLPE were sold, the company no longer has
exposure to foreign currency risk.
At December 31, 2020, the Company had no hedging agreements in place with respect to foreign exchange
rates as the Company’s operations provide a natural hedge. Certain operational costs are denominated in
U.S. dollars and funded directly from the Company’s U.S. funds. The Company has not entered into any
agreements or purchased any instruments to hedge possible currency risks at this time.
Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument might be adversely affected by a change
in interest rates. In seeking to minimize the risk from interest rate fluctuations, the Company manages
exposure through its normal operating and financing activities. As at December 31, 2020, the Company
did not have any liabilities that bear interest at rates fluctuating with the prime rate.
Capital Management
The Company’s capital includes share capital, cash, a first and second mortgage payable, and the
accumulated deficit. The Company’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the entity’s
ability to continue as a going concern, so that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders and
benefits for other stakeholders. The Company manages the capital structure and makes adjustments in
light of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. The
Company may issue new shares in order to meet its financial obligations. The Company has not changed
its approach to capital management during the nine months ended December 31, 2020.
17. COMMITMENTS
The Company had the no commitments as of December 31, 2020. All obligations were terminated as part
of the BIA process.
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18. SEGMENTED INFORMATION
The Company has one reportable segment for continued operations in Canada. Discontinued operations
included segments in North America and Europe for TLP and TLPE, respectively. Refer to Note 5,
discontinued operations, for a breakdown of the assets, revenues and expenses for those operations.
19.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

The following events occurred subsequent to December 31, 2020:
1) The Company engaged a contractor to complete a 128 light grow area within the existing building and
committed to a 20% deposit of $219,008. After change orders the deposit was $244,085 and was paid
in full.
2) The Company completed a private placement targeted at $1,000,000 on February 26, 2020. The
offering was over subscribed with gross proceeds of $1,534,419 through the sale of 4,262,436 common
shares priced at $0.36 per share. The Company paid finder’s fees of $104,900 in connection with the
offering.
3) The Company issued 222,222 Common shares at $0.36 per share to a contractor for consulting services
on February 4, 2021.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Shareholders and Directors of
True Leaf Brands Inc.

Opinion
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of True Leaf Brands Inc. (the “Company”), which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at March 31, 2020 and the consolidated statements of loss and
comprehensive loss, changes in shareholders’ equity (deficiency) and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.
In our opinion, these consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the
Company as at March 31, 2020, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”).
Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section
of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of
the consolidated financial statements in Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audit is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.
Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern
We draw attention to Note 1 of the consolidated financial statements, which indicates that the Company incurred a net loss of
$16,195,841 during the year ended March 31, 2020 and, as of that date, the Company has an accumulated deficit of
$30,666,861. In addition, the Company has sought creditor protection by filing a Notice of Intention to Make a Proposal under
the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act (Canada). As stated in Note 1, these events and conditions indicate that a material
uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not
modified in respect of this matter.
Other Matters
The consolidated financial statements of True Leaf Brands Inc. for the year ended March 31, 2019 were audited by another
auditor who expressed an unmodified opinion on those statements on July 29, 2019.
Other Information
Management is responsible for the other information. The other information obtained at the date of this auditor's report includes
Management’s Discussion and Analysis.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in
doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.
We obtained Management’s Discussion and Analysis prior to the date of this auditor’s report. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We
have nothing to report in this regard.
Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with
IFRS, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company's ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company's financial reporting process.
Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally
accepted auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise professional judgment and
maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:









Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud
is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal
control.
Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by management.
Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Company's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we
are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue
as a going concern.
Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a
manner that achieves fair presentation.
Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Company to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the
direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.
We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to
bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Glenn Parchomchuk.

“DAVIDSON & COMPANY LLP”
Vancouver, Canada
December 2, 2020

Chartered Professional Accountants

TRUE LEAF BRANDS INC.
Consolidated S tatements of Financial Position
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)
Notes

M arch 31, 2020

M arch 31, 2019

Assets
Current
Cash and cash equivalents

$

302,225

$

4,391,072

Short-term investments

16

51,750

57,500

Trade and other receivables

6

400,808

632,223

Inventories

7

89,415

332,088

Prepaid expenses and deposits

8

318,797

417,243

Assets held for sale

5

53,615

-

1,216,610

5,830,126

Property, plant and equipment

5, 9

4,482,436

11,111,281

Intangible assets

5, 10

55,053

155,508

-

250,000

Other assets

11

Total assets

$

5,754,099

$

17,346,915

$

1,973,177

$

1,635,337

Liabilities
Current
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Construction holdback payable
Current portion convertible note payable

11

Total current liabilities
Convertible note payable

11

Total liabilities

-

24,492

5,859,467

2,000,000

7,832,644

3,659,829

-

1,808,056

7,832,644

5,467,885

23,962,363

22,689,173

4,625,953

3,660,877

(30,666,861)

(14,471,020)

(2,078,545)

11,879,030

S hareholders’ equity (deficiency)
13

Share capital
Reserves
Deficit
Total shareholders’ equity (deficiency)
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity (deficiency)

$

5,754,099

$

17,346,915

Nature of operations and going concern (Note 1)
S ubsequent events (Note 21)
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
Approved on behalf of the Board of Directors on December 3, 2020
“Darcy Bomford”

Director

“Michael Harcourt”

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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TRUE LEAF BRANDS INC.
Consolidated Statements of Loss and Comprehensive Loss
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

For the Years Ended
March 31,
Notes

2020

2019

Operating Expenditures
Accretion expense

11

Administrative and office
Amortization and depreciation

$

1,854,522 $

14

3,058,310

9, 10

101,510

Research and development

363

126,050
2,099,690
29,091

Selling and marketing

15

567,216

780,249

Share-based compensation

13

1,022,998

998,387

Total operating expenditures

6,604,919

4,033,467

Loss from operations

6,604,919

4,033,467

Other income

70,896

Asset Impairment

(6,583,154)

5

Foreign exchange gain (loss)
Net loss from continued operations
Loss from discontinued operations

5

Loss for the year

$

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding – basic
and dilluted
Loss per common share, discontinued operations - basic and dilluted
Loss per common share – basic and dilluted

-

(17,633)

173,263

(13,134,810)

(3,776,108)

(3,061,031)

(1,733,040)

(16,195,841) $

(5,509,148)

102,370,431

97,954,521

($0.03)

($0.02)

($0.13)

($0.04)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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84,096

TRUE LEAF BRANDS INC.

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity (Deficiency)
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

Number of Shares
Balance, March 31, 2018

95,369,059 $

Shares issued on exercise of stock options
Shares issued on exercise of warrants
Shares issued to executive and consultants
Fair value of warrants issued and equity
component of convertible debt
Share-based compensation
Loss for the year
Balance, March 31, 2019
Shares issued on exercise of stock options
Shares issued on exercise of warrants
Shares issued to executive
Share-based compensation
Shares issued upon conversion of convertible note
Shares issued to settle debt
Fair value of warrants issued and equity
component of convertible debt
Loss for the year
Balance, March 31, 2020

Share Capital

857,145
1,128,317
600,000
97,954,521 $

2,518,723 $

(8,961,872) $

240,001
420,254
335,000

(81,429)
-

-

22,689,173 $

560,196
663,387
3,660,877 $

444,500
521,190
152,500

833,333
458,333

100,000
55,000
-

102,370,431 $

23,962,363 $

(5,509,148)
(14,471,020) $

(168,000)

-

870,498
262,578
4,625,953 $

(16,195,841)
(30,666,861) $

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Total Shareholders’
Equity (Deficit)

Deficit

21,693,918 $

700,000
1,507,578
916,666

-

Reserves

15,250,769
158,572
420,254
335,000
560,196
663,387
(5,509,148)
11,879,030
276,500
521,190
152,500
870,498
100,000
55,000
262,578
(16,195,841)
(2,078,545)

TRUE LEAF BRANDS INC.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Year Ended March 31, 2020
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

TRUE LEAF BRANDS INC.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)
Year ended March 31,
2020

2019

Operating activities
$

Loss for the year from continuing operations

(13,134,810)

$

(3,776,108)

Items not affecting cash:
Accretion expense

1,854,522

Non cash interest expense
Amortization and depreciation
Asset impairment
Gain on disposal of asset
Share-based compensation

126,050

19,467

-

101,510

-

6,583,154

-

(881)

-

1,022,998

Transactions cost of loan extension

998,387

540,000

-

Changes in non-cash working capital items:
Prepaid expenses and deposits

69,327

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Due to related parties
Trade and other receivables
Net cash used in operating activities

(253,489)

380,620

140,231

(1,342,420)

(1,908,056)

255,698

(251,729)

(3,650,815)

(4,924,714)

(873,563)

(6,337,490)

Investing activities
Additions to property, plant and equipment
Intangible asset costs
Net cash used in investing activities

(44,681)

(83,568)

(918,244)

(6,421,058)

Financing activities
Proceeds from exercise of options

276,500

Proceeds from issuance of convertible debenture, net of issue costs

158,572

-

4,242,202

Proceeds from exercise of warrants

521,190

420,254

Restricted cash classified as non-curreent asset

255,750

(307,500)

Net cash provided by financing activities
Change in cash and cash equivalents - continued operations
Change in cash - discontinued operations (note 5)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of the year (including discontinued operations)
Cash and cash equivalents, end of the year*

1,053,440

4,513,528

(3,515,619)

(6,832,244)

(573,228)

410,501

4,391,072
$

302,225

*March 31, 2020 and 2019 includes cash of discontinued operations

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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10,812,815
$

4,391,072

TRUE LEAF BRANDS INC.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Year Ended March 31, 2020
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

1.

NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND GOING CONCERN

True Leaf Brands Inc. (formerly True Leaf Medicine International Ltd.) (the “Company” or “TLB”) was incorporated under
the Business Corporations Act of the Province of British Columbia on June 9, 2014 and is the legal parent of True Leaf
Investments Corp. (“TLI”), True Leaf Cannabis Inc. (“TLC”), True Leaf Pet Inc. (“TLP”) and True Leaf Pet Europe LLC Sàrl
(“TLPE”).
On May 21, 2019 the Company changed the name of True Leaf Medicine International Ltd. to True Leaf Brands Inc., and
changed the name of its subsidiary, True Leaf Medicine Inc., to True Leaf Cannabis Inc. The legal and organizational structure
was not altered as part of these name changes.
The Company’s shares trade on the Canadian Securities Exchange (the “CSE”) under the symbol “MJ”, the OTC Market
Group’s OTCQX International Market under the ticker symbol “TRLFF” and the Frankfurt Stock Exchange under the symbol
“TLA”. The Company’s head office and registered office is located at 1055 West Hastings Street, Suite 1700, Vancouver BC,
V6E 2E9.
The Company manufactures and distributes hemp-based nutrition for pets. TLP and TLPE have entered the Canadian, US and
European natural pet product market with a product line consisting of hemp functional chews and supplemental products for
pets.
The Company has received approval to become a licensed producer of medicinal cannabis for the Canadian market under the
new Cannabis Act and has secured three licenses from Health Canada to cultivate, process and sell medical cannabis.

Going Concern
These consolidated financial statements (the “financial statements”) have been prepared on a going concern basis, which
assumes that the Company will be able to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business.
For the year ended March 31, 2020, the Company incurred a loss of $16,195,841 and has a deficit of $30,666,861. The
Company earned revenues of $2,286,947 (2019 - $2,311,036) from TLP and TLPE, however, these two subsidiaries have not
yet achieved profitability. Subsequent to the year ended March 31, 2020, the Company sought creditor protection by filing a
Notice of Intention (“NOI”) to make a proposal under the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act (Canada) (“the BIA process”) and
the two subsidiaries containing net assets, TLP and TLC, were actively marketed for sale to settle the debts of the company.
As a result, the assets and liabilities associated with TLP and TLPE were classified as held for sale and their operations
classified as discontinued operations (Note 5). Thereafter, the only remaining operations of the Company is through TLI and
TLC.
True Leaf received a "Notice of Event of Default, Investigation of Event of Default and Reservation of Rights" letter (the
"Default Notice") from Lind Asset Management XV, LLC (“Lind”) under the Company's convertible security funding
agreement dated February 12, 2019, and under the waiver, amendment and funding supplement agreement dated October 7,
2019. The Company then commenced restructuring proceedings and it sought creditor protection by filing a Notice of Intention
to make a proposal under the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act (Canada) (the "NOI Proceeding").
As part of the sales process approved by Order of the British Columbia Supreme Court made on May 13, 2020, TLP entered
into a purchase and sale agreement dated August 11, 2020, with 4033001 and Hemp Technology Inc. for the sale of substantially
all of the assets of TLP. The stay of proceedings in each of the restructuring proceedings of the Company and its subsidiaries
expired on October 2, 2020. Prior to the expiry of the stay, TLB, TLC and TLI each filed a proposal to their respective creditors
with the Office of Superintendent in Bankruptcy. TLB’s proposal was filed on October 1, 2020, TLC’s proposal was filed on
September 23, 2020 and TLI’s proposal was filed on October 2, 2020. Each proposal was based on a refinancing arrangement
to resolve the Lind Asset Management Debt (“Lind Debt”) and refinance the Company.
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1.

NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND GOING CONCERN (Continued)

Going Concern (Continued)
The company is currently in default of the terms of its Convertible Security Funding Agreement with a face value of $5,400,000
and its Deferral Convertible Security with a face value of $540,000. The Company will need to refinance/restructure its current
debt and obtain additional financing in order to meet its near-term operating cash requirements, debt payments and sustaining
capital expenditures. There is no assurance that the Company's financing initiatives, which include the Company's ability to
restructure the notes under the BIA process will be successful or sufficient.
The cannabis industry is young and developing. Regulations are frequently changing as Health Canada adjusts to the evolving
processes and operations. This fact, along with the factors discussed in the preceding paragraphs results in a material
uncertainty that casts significant doubt as to the Company's ability to continue to operate as a going concern. The recoverability
of the carrying value of property, plant and equipment is dependent upon the success of the operating and financing activities
and the future cannabis price. Changes in future conditions could require material write-downs of the carrying value of
property, plant and equipment. If the going concern assumption was not appropriate for these consolidated financial statements,
then adjustments would be necessary to the carrying value of assets and liabilities, the reported expenses, and the statement of
financial position classifications used, and such adjustments could be material. The Company has been exploring and will
continue to consider all of its options to maintain and raise capital when and as needed, including selling assets and/or issuing
debt and/or equity securities subject to prevailing market conditions.
The purpose of the BIA process discussed below is to facilitate the continuation of the business as a going concern, address
certain liabilities of the Company, and effect a recapitalization and financing transaction on an expedited basis to provide a
stronger financial foundation for the Company going forward. The BIA process will also provide additional liquidity to allow
the Company to continue to work towards its operational and financial goals from and after its implementation, in the
expectation that all persons with an economic interest in the Company will derive a greater benefit from the implementation of
the proposals than would otherwise result.

Refinancing Agreement
Following creditor approval and Court approval in early November 2020 of the BIA Proposals filed by TLC and TLI, the
transactions contemplated by the Refinancing Agreement were completed on November 16, 2020. The proposals are sponsored
by two financing groups, Cangaurd Mortgage Investment Corporation (“Cangaurd”) and 1263815 BC Ltd. (“Second Mortgage
Co.”).
The material terms of the Refinancing Agreement transaction are as follows:
• Canguard loaned $3,000,000 to TLC (the “Canguard Loan”) secured by a first mortgage on the Lumby Property and
a first priority security interest in all of TLC’s present and after-acquired personal property.
• Second Mortgage Co. loaned $1,700,000 to TLC (the “Second Mortgage Co. Loan”) secured by a second mortgage
on the Lumby Property and a second priority security interest in all of TLC’s present and after-acquired personal
property.
• TLC used all of the proceeds of the Canguard Loan and $1,150,000 of the proceeds of the Second Mortgage Co.
Loan, being an aggregate of $4,150,000, to pay down the Lind Debt through the purchase of The Australian Special
Opportunity Fund, LP (“ASOF”) a subsidiary of Lind that holds the notes.
• Acquire Co #1 purchased:
- from TLI, all of the issued and outstanding shares of TLC; and
- from TLB all of the issued and outstanding shares of TLI;
• in each case, for a purchase price of $1. Simultaneously, TLI exercised an option to re-purchase from Acquire Co #1
all of the issued and outstanding shares of TLC for $1.
• Acquire Co #2 purchased from ASOF all of the issued and outstanding shares of Lind for a purchase price of $1.
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1.

NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND GOING CONCERN (Continued)

TLB Share Capital Reorganization
The substance of the TLB’s Share Capital Reorganization involves two basic elements:
1.
2.

A consolidation of the issued and outstanding TLB common shares (the “Consolidation”); and
The re-acquisition by TLB from Acquire Co #1 of all of the issued shares of TLI and its subsidiary TLC, the owner
of the Lumby Property and the holder of the Licence, and the acquisition by TLB from Acquire Co #2 of all of the
issued shares of Lind (holder of the residue of the Lind Debt), all in exchange for a sufficient number of newly issued
TLB common shares to give the New Investor Group approximately 58% of the then issued and outstanding common
shares of TLB (collectively, the “Vend-in”).

The following steps will be executed on the closing of December 6, 2020:
•

•

•

TLB will, by way of a consent resolution of the directors of TLB, effect the Consolidation, which consists of an
alteration of its articles of incorporation in accordance with the BCBCA to consolidate its issued and unissued share
capital on the basis of ten old TLB shares for one new TLB share;
in order to implement the Vend-in, a newly-created single purpose subsidiary of TLB will amalgamate with Acquire
Co #1 and Acquire Co #2 to form a new company (“Amalco”) in what is referred to as a three-cornered amalgamation
in which:
- the former shareholders of Acquire Co #1 and Acquire Co #2 receive shares of TLB and thereby become
shareholders of TLB;
- TLB will receive all of the issued and outstanding shares of Amalco; and
immediately thereafter, Amalco will be vertically amalgamated into TLB, thereby eliminating Amalco as a subsidiary
and creating a direct parent/subsidiary relationship between TLB and TLI. As a result, the former shareholders of
Acquire Co #1 and Acquire Co #2 (i.e. the New Investor Group) become, collectively, the majority shareholders of
TLB and the corporate structure of the True Leaf group of companies, as it existed prior to November 16, 2020, is
restored.

Corona Virus (COVID-19)
In March 2020, the World Health Organization declared coronavirus COVID-19 a global pandemic. This contagious disease
outbreak, which has continued to spread, and any related adverse public health developments, has adversely affected
workforces, economies, and financial markets globally, potentially leading to an economic downturn. It is not possible for the
Company to predict the duration or magnitude of the adverse results of the outbreak and its effects on the Company’s business
or ability to raise funds.
COVID-19 may impact the company’s ability to start up cannabis growing, retail and medicinal on-line sales as a result of
disruptions to supply chains, travel and trade restrictions and impact on local economic activity in affected regions. Such
pandemics also represent a threat to maintaining a skilled workforce. There can be no assurance that the Company’s personnel
will not be impacted by this pandemic.
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TRUE LEAF BRANDS INC.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Year Ended March 31, 2020
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION
(a)

Statement of compliance

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and interpretations issued by the
International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC”). These consolidated financial statements were
approved by the Company’s Board of Directors on December 1, 2020.
(b) Principles of consolidation

-

These financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and its controlled subsidiaries. Control
exists when the Company has the power, directly or indirectly, to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity
so as to obtain benefits from its activities. These financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its whollyowned subsidiaries:
TLI – Inactive
TLC – Active
TLP – Held for Sale
TLPE – Held for Sale
All intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated on consolidation.
(c) Basis of measurement
These financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for certain financial instruments which are
measured at fair value (Note 16) and fair value less cost to sell (Note 5). The accounting policies set out below have been
applied consistently to all periods presented in these financial statements with the exception of the change in accounting
policies noted below.

3.
(a)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Foreign currency translation

The functional currency is the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates. The functional
currency of each of the entities in the group is the Canadian dollar, except for TLPE which has the Euorpean Euro as its
functional currency. The functional currency determinations were conducted through an analysis of the factors identified in
International Accounting Standard (“IAS”) 21, The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates.
The presentation currency of the Company is the Canadian dollar. Transactions in currencies other than the Canadian dollar
are recorded at exchange rates prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end of each reporting period, the monetary
assets and liabilities of the Company that are denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rate of exchange at the
reporting date while non-monetary assets and liabilities are translated at historical rates. Revenues and expenses are translated
at the exchange rates approximating those in effect on the date of the transactions. Exchange gains and losses arising on
translation are included in the consolidated statement of loss and comprehensive loss. Exchange gains and losses arising on
translation of the foreign operations of TLPE are included in the consolidated statement of loss and comprehensive loss.
(b) Financial instruments
Financial assets and liabilities are recognized when the Company or its subsidiaries become party to the contractual provisions
of the instrument. On initial recognition, all financial assets and liabilities are recorded at fair value, net of transaction costs,
except for financial assets and liabilities classified as at fair value through profit and loss ("FVTPL"). The directly attributable
transaction costs related with financial assets and liabilities recorded at FVTPL are expensed in the period they are incurred.
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TRUE LEAF BRANDS INC.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Year Ended March 31, 2020
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(b) Financial instruments (Continued)
Subsequent measurement of financial assets and liabilities depends on the classification of such assets and liabilities. The
classification of financial assets is generally based on its contractual cash flow characteristics and the business model in which
it is managed.
(i)

Financial assets at amortized cost

Financial assets that are held within a business model whose objective is to hold the assets in order to collect contractual cash
flows, and the contractual terms of the asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest are classified and measured subsequently at amortized cost.
(ii)

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI)

Financial assets that are held within a business model whose objective is achieved by collecting the contractual cash flows and
selling financial assets, and the contractual terms of the assets give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest are classified and measured at FVTOCI.
On initial recognition, the Company may make an irrevocable election (on an instrument by instrument basis) to designate
investments in equity instruments that would otherwise be measured at FVTPL to present subsequent changes in fair value in
other comprehensive income. Designation of FVTOCI is not permitted if the equity investment is held for trading or if it is
contingent consideration recognized by an acquirer in a business combination. Investments at FVTOCI are initially measured
at fair value plus transaction costs. Subsequently, they are measured at FVTOCI and the cumulative gain or loss is not
reclassified to profit or loss on disposal of the equity instrument, instead, it is transferred to deficit.
(iii)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

All other financial assets are measured at FVTPL. These assets are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period,
with any gain or loss recognized in earnings.
(iv)

Impairment and Write-off

The Company recognizes a loss allowance for expected credit losses on its financial assets. The amount of the expected credit
loss is updated at each reporting period to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition of the respective financial
instruments.
The measurement of expected credit losses is a function of the probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of
the loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment of the probability of default and loss given default is
based on historical data adjusted by forward‑looking information as described above.
As for the exposure at default, for financial assets, this is represented by the assets’ gross carrying amount at the reporting date;
for financial guarantee contracts, the exposure includes the amount drawn down as at the reporting date, together with any
additional amounts expected to be drawn down in the future by the default date determined based on historical trend, the
Company’s understanding of the specific future financing needs of the debtors, and other relevant forward‑looking information.
For financial assets, the expected credit loss is estimated as the difference between all contractual cash flows that are due to the
Company in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Company expects to receive, discounted at the original
effective interest rate.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Year Ended March 31, 2020
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(b) Financial instruments (Continued)
(iv)

Impairment and Write-off (Continued)

The Company writes off a financial asset when there is information indicating that the debtor is in severe financial difficulty
and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the debtor has been placed under liquidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when the amounts are over two years past due, whichever occurs
sooner. Financial assets written off may still be subject to enforcement activities under the Company’s recovery procedures,
taking into account legal advice where appropriate. Any recoveries made are recognised in profit or loss.
(v)

Financial liabilities and equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities or equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of financial liability and equity instrument. An equity instrument is any contract
that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Company after reducing all its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the
Company are recognized at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs. Financial liabilities that are not contingent
consideration of an acquirer in a business combination, held for trading or designated as at FVTPL, are measured at amortized
cost using the effective interest method.
(vi) Compound instruments
The component parts of convertible loan notes issued by the Company are classified separately as financial liabilities and equity
in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument. A conversion option that will be settled by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial asset for a
fixed number of the Company’s own equity instruments is an equity instrument.
At the date of issue, the fair value of the liability component is estimated using the prevailing market interest rate for a similar
non‑convertible instrument. This amount is recorded as a liability on an amortized cost basis using the effective interest method
until extinguished upon conversion or at the instrument’s maturity date.
The conversion option classified as equity is determined by deducting the amount of the liability component from the fair value
of the compound instrument as a whole. This is recognised and included in equity, net of income tax effects, and is not
subsequently remeasured. In addition, the conversion option classified as equity will remain in equity until the conversion
option is exercised, in which case, the balance recognised in equity will be transferred to share capital. Where the conversion
option remains unexercised at the maturity date of the convertible loan note, the balance recognised in equity will be transferred
to deficit. No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss upon conversion or expiration of the conversion option.
Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the convertible loan notes are allocated to the liability and equity components in
proportion to the allocation of the gross proceeds. Transaction costs relating to the equity component are recognised directly in
equity. Transaction costs relating to the liability component are included in the carrying amount of the liability component and
are amortized over the lives of the convertible loan notes using the effective interest method.
(vii) Financial liabilities
All financial liabilities are measured subsequently at amortized cost using the effective interest method or at FVTPL. However,
financial liabilities that arise when a transfer of a financial asset does not qualify for derecognition or when the continuing
involvement approach applies, and financial guarantee contracts issued by the Company, are measured in accordance with the
specific accounting policies set out below.

11

TRUE LEAF BRANDS INC.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Year Ended March 31, 2020
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(b) Financial instruments (Continued)
(viii) Financial liabilities at FVTPL
Financial liabilities are classified as FVTPL when the financial liability is (i) contingent consideration of an acquirer in a
business combination, (ii) held for trading or (iii) it is designated as FVTPL.
A financial liability is classified as held for trading if:
•
it has been acquired principally for the purpose of repurchasing it in the near term; or
•
on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that the Company manages together and
has a recent actual pattern of short‑term profit‑taking; or
•
it is a derivative, except for a derivative that is a financial guarantee contract or a designated and effective hedging
instrument.
Financial liabilities at FVTPL are measured at fair value, with any gains or losses arising on changes in fair value recognised
in profit or loss.
(ix) Financial liabilities measured subsequently at amortized cost
Financial liabilities that are not (i) contingent consideration of an acquirer in a business combination, (ii) held‑for‑trading, or
(iii) designated as FVTPL, are measured subsequently at amortized cost using the effective interest method. The effective
interest method is a method of calculating the amortized cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments (including all fees
and points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or
discounts) through the expected life of the financial liability, or (where appropriate) a shorter period, to the amortized cost of
a financial liability.
(x) Foreign exchange gains and losses
For financial liabilities that are denominated in a foreign currency and are measured at amortized cost at the end of each
reporting period, the foreign exchange gains and losses are determined based on the amortized cost of the instruments. The fair
value of financial liabilities denominated in a foreign currency is determined in that foreign currency and translated at the spot
rate at the end of the reporting period. For financial liabilities that are measured as FVTPL, the foreign exchange component
forms part of the fair value gains or losses and is recognised in profit or loss.
(xi) Derecognition of financial liabilities
The Company derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Company’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid
and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
(xii) Derivative financial instruments
Derivatives are recognised initially at fair value at the date a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured
to their fair value at each reporting date. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss immediately unless the
derivative is designated and effective as a hedging instrument, in which event the timing of the recognition in profit or loss
depends on the nature of the hedge relationship.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Year Ended March 31, 2020
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(b) Financial instruments (Continued)
(xiii) Embedded derivatives
An embedded derivative is a component of a hybrid contract that also includes a non‑derivative host – with the effect that some
of the cash flows of the combined instrument vary in a way similar to a stand‑alone derivative. Derivatives embedded in hybrid
contracts with hosts that are financial liabilities are treated as separate derivatives when they meet the definition of a derivative,
their risks and characteristics are not closely related to those of the host contracts and the host contracts are not measured at
FVTPL. If the hybrid contract is a quoted financial liability, instead of separating the embedded derivative, the Company
generally designates the whole hybrid contract at FVTPL. An embedded derivative is presented as a non‑current asset or
non‑current liability if the remaining maturity of the hybrid instrument to which the embedded derivative relates is more than
12 months and is not expected to be realised or settled within 12 months.
(c)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, bank deposits and short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible to known amounts of cash and/or with original maturities of three months or less. The Company has a cash and
cash equivalent balance at March 31, 2020 of $302,225 (2019: $4,391,072) and $51,750 of short-term investments (2019:
$57,500). Investments with maturities of one-year or less, but greater than 90 days, are classified as short-term investments.
These investments are redeemable at any-time without penalty.
(d) Inventories
Inventories include finished goods and supplies in respect of hemp-based nutrition for pets. The classification of inventories is
determined by the stage in the manufacturing process. Finished goods inventories are valued based on the lower of actual
production costs incurred or estimated net realizable value. Production costs include all direct manufacturing costs, freight,
labour and other costs to deliver inventory to our distribution locations. Cost is determined using the weighted average cost
basis. Supplies are valued at the lower of average cost or net realizable value. If the carrying value exceeds the net realizable
amount, a write-down is recognized. The write-down may be reversed in a subsequent period if the circumstances that caused
it no longer exist.
(e)

Assets held for sale and discontinued operations
(i) Assets held for sale:
The Company classifies assets, or disposal groups, as held for sale when it expects to recover their carrying amounts
primarily through sale rather than through continuing use. To meet criteria to be held for sale, the sale must be highly
probable, and the assets or disposal groups must be available for immediate sale in their present condition. The Company
must be committed to a plan to sell the assets or disposal group, and the sale should be expected to qualify for recognition
as a completed sale within one year from the date of classification.
The Company measures assets or disposal groups at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell.
Any impairment loss on a disposal group is first allocated to goodwill, and then to the remaining assets and liabilities on
a pro-rata basis. Impairment losses on initial classification as held for sale and subsequent gains and losses on
remeasurement are recognized in profit or loss; however, gains are not recognized in excess of any cumulative impairment
loss. Upon classifying asset or disposal groups as held for sale, the Company presents the assets separately as a single
amount and the associated liabilities separately as a single amount on the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position.
Comparative period balances are not restated. Assets held for sale are not depreciated, depleted, or amortized.
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For the Year Ended March 31, 2020
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3.
(e)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Assets held for sale and discontinued operations (Continued)
(ii) Discontinued operations:
A discontinued operation is a component of the Company’s business that represents a separate major line of business or
geographical area of operations that has been disposed of or classified as held for sale. The operations and cash flows can
be clearly distinguished from the rest of the Company, both operationally and for financial reporting purposes. When the
Company classifies an operation as a discontinued operation, it represents the comparative Consolidated Statements of
Comprehensive Loss as if the operation had been discontinued from the start of the comparative year. In doing this, the
Company excludes the results for the discontinued operations and any gain or loss from disposal from the consolidated
statements of operations from continuing operations and presents them on a separate line as profit or loss (net of tax) from
the discontinued operation. Per share information and changes to discontinued operations in other consolidated
comprehensive loss related to discontinued operations are presented separately from continuing operations. Cash flows
from discontinued operations are presented separately from cash flows from continuing operations in the Consolidated
Statements of Cash Flows.

(f)

Property, Plant and Equipment

Capital assets are carried at cost, less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. Depreciation is recognized
using the straight-line method at the following rates:
Building – 10 to 40 years
Leasehold improvements – 5 years
Office furniture and equipment – 5 years
The Company's capital assets are reviewed for an indication of impairment at the end of each reporting period. If an indication
of impairment exists, the asset's recoverable amount is estimated. Impairment losses are recognized in profit or loss. An
impairment loss is reversed if there is an indication that there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset's carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, if no impairment loss had been recognized.
(g)

Intangible assets

The Company owns intangible assets consisting of various direct costs associated with the acquisition of trademarks and
intellectual property, as well as website costs. Intangible assets are measured on initial recognition at cost. Following initial
recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortization and any accumulated impairment losses.
Subsequent expenditures are capitalized only when they increase the future economic benefits embodied in the specific asset
to which they relate. All other expenditures are recognized in profit or loss as incurred. The Company does not hold any
intangible assets with indefinite lives.
Amortization is recognized using the straight-line method at the following rates:
Trademarks and related costs – 5 to 10 years
Website costs – 3 years
Intellectual property – 5 years
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(h) Impairment of non-financial assets
The Company’s non-financial assets are reviewed for indications of impairment at each statement of financial position date. If
indication of impairment exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An impairment loss is recognized when the
carrying amount of an asset, or its cash generating unit (“CGU”), exceeds its recoverable amount. A CGU is the smallest
identifiable group of assets that generates cash inflows that are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or
groups of assets. Impairment losses are recognized in profit and loss for the period. Impairment losses recognized in respect of
CGUs are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to CGUs and then to reduce the carrying
amount of the other assets in the unit on a pro-rata basis.
The recoverable amount is the greater of the asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. For an asset that does not generate largely independent
cash inflows, the recoverable amount is determined for the CGU to which the asset belongs.
An impairment loss is reversed if there is an indication that there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortization, if no impairment loss had been
recognized.
(i)

Provisions

Provisions are recorded when a present legal, statutory or constructive obligation exists as a result of past events where it is
probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable
estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made. The amount recognized as a provision is the best estimate of the
consideration required to settle the present obligation at the statement of financial position date, taking into account the risks
and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present
obligation, if the effect is material, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows.
(j)

Share capital

Common shares are classified as equity. Transaction costs directly attributable to the issue of common shares, warrants and
stock options are recognized as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects. Common shares issued for consideration other
than cash are valued based on their market value at the date the shares are issued.
The Company has adopted a residual value method with respect to the measurement of shares and warrants issued as private
placement units. The residual value method first allocates value to the more easily measurable component based on fair value
and then the residual value, if any, to the less easily measurable component.
The Company considers the fair value of common shares issued in the private placements to be the more easily measurable
component and the common shares are valued at their estimated fair value. The balance, if any, is allocated to the attached
warrants. Any fair value attributed to the warrants is recorded as reserves.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(k) Share-based payments
Options granted to employees and others providing similar services are measured at grant date at the fair value of the
instruments issued. Fair value is determined using the Black-Scholes option pricing model taking into account the terms and
conditions upon which the options were granted. The amount recognized as an expense is adjusted to reflect the actual number
of options that are expected to vest. Each tranche in an award with graded vesting is considered a separate grant with a different
vesting date and fair value. Each grant is accounted for on that basis.
Options granted to non-employees are measured at the fair value of the goods or services received, unless that fair value cannot
be estimated reliably, in which case the fair value of the equity instruments issued is used. The value of the goods or services
is recorded at the earlier of the vesting date, or the date the goods or services are received.
On vesting, share-based payments are recorded as an operating expense and as reserves. When options are exercised the
consideration received is recorded as share capital. In addition, the related share-based payments originally recorded as reserves
are transferred to share capital.
(l)

Earnings (loss) per share

The Company presents basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share (“EPS”) data for its common shares, calculated by dividing
the profit or loss attributable to equity shareholders of the Company by the weighted average number of common shares issued
and outstanding during the period. Diluted EPS is calculated by adjusting the profit or loss attributable to equity shareholders
and the weighted average number of common shares outstanding for the effects of all potentially dilutive common shares. The
calculation of diluted EPS assumes that the proceeds to be received on the exercise of dilutive stock options and warrants are
used to repurchase common shares at the average market price during the period. For the periods presented, the calculation
proved to be anti-dilutive as the Company was in a loss position.
(m) Revenue recognition and related costs
Revenue is recognized at the transaction price, which is the amount of consideration to which the Company expects to be
entitled in exchange for transferring promised goods to a customer. Revenue from the sale of goods, as presented in the
consolidated statement of loss and comprehensive loss, represents revenue from the sale of goods less expected price discounts,
and allowances for customer returns. The Company has concluded that revenue from the sale of these products should be
recognized at the point in time when control is transferred to the customer. Indicators of a transfer of control include an
unconditional obligation to pay, legal title, physical possession, transfer of risk and rewards and customer acceptance. This
generally occurs when the goods are delivered to the customer.
(n) Cost of sales
Cost of sales includes inventory, product-related costs and costs to ship products to customers.
(o) Selling and marketing
Selling and marketing expenses include costs attributable to the sale of pet products and include salaries, fees and commissions
for the related staff. Marketing expenses also include costs associated with the True Leaf corporate brand.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(p) Income taxes
Income tax expense consists of current and deferred tax expense. Income tax expense is recognized in the statement of loss and
comprehensive loss. Current tax expense is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the period, using tax rates
enacted or substantively enacted at period end, adjusted for amendments to tax payable with regards to previous periods.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for deferred tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial
statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using the enacted or substantively enacted tax rates expected to apply when the
asset is realized or the liability settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in
income in the period that substantive enactment occurs. A deferred tax asset is recognized to the extent that it is probable that
future taxable profits will be available against which the asset can be utilized. To the extent that the Company does not consider
it probable that a deferred tax asset will be recovered, the deferred tax asset is reduced.
(q) Segmented information
An operating segment is a component of the company that engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues and
incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with any of the Company’s other components.
Operating segment results are reviewed regularly by the Company’s President and Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) to make
decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and assess performance, for which discrete financial information is
available.
(r)

Adoption of New IFRS Pronouncements

The Company adopted the new IFRS pronouncements listed below as at April 1, 2019, in accordance with the transitional
provisions outlined in the respective standards described below.
IFRS 16 – Leases
IFRS 16 Leases was issued in January 2016 and is effective for periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019. The new standard
eliminates the classification of leases as either operating or finance leases. It provides a single lessee accounting model,
requiring lessees to recognize assets and liabilities for all leases unless the lease term is 12 months or less or the underlying
asset has a low value. Management has reviewed the impact that adoption of the new standard had on the Company’s
consolidated financial statements and found no significant impact.

4.

USE OF ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS

The preparation of these consolidated financial statements requires management to make certain estimates, judgements and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and
reported amounts of expenses during the period. These estimates are, by their nature, uncertain. The impacts of such estimates
are pervasive throughout the consolidated financial statements, and may require accounting adjustments based on future
occurrences. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised and future periods
if the revision affects both current and future periods. These estimates are based on current and future economic conditions and
other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.
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4.
(a)

USE OF ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS (Continued)
Estimates

Critical accounting estimates are estimates and assumptions made by management that may result in a material adjustment to
the carrying amount of assets and liabilities within the next financial year and include, but are not limited to, the following:
• Share-based payments and compensation
The Company measures the cost of equity-settled transactions with employees by reference to the fair value of the equity
instruments at the date at which they are granted. Estimating the fair value for share-based payment transactions and the
resulting share-based compensation expense is based on a variety of assumptions, including the expected life, risk-free
interest rates, volatility, and forfeiture rates.
• Amortization rates for intangible assets
Amortization expenses are calculated based on assumed intangible asset lives. Should the intangible asset life or
amortization rates differ from the initial estimate, an adjustment would be made in the consolidated statement of loss and
comprehensive loss.
• Valuation of convertible note
At the issue date of the convertible note, the fair value of the liability component was estimated using the prevailing
market interest rates for similar non-convertible instruments for the Company. This amount is recorded as a liability on
an amortized cost basis using the effective interest rate method until extinguished upon conversion, buyback, or on the
instrument’s maturity date.
(b) Critical judgements
Information about critical judgments in applying accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts
recognized in the consolidated financial statements include, but are not limited to, the following:
• Functional currency
The functional currency of each of the Company’s subsidiaries is the currency of the primary economic environment in
which the entity operates. Determination of the functional currency may involve certain judgments to determine the
primary economic environment and the Company reconsiders the functional currency of its entities if there is a change in
events and conditions which determined the primary economic environment.
• Going concern
In order to assess whether it is appropriate for the Company to be reported as a going concern, the Directors apply
judgement, having undertaken appropriate enquiries and having considered the business activities and the Company's
principal risks and uncertainties. In arriving at this judgement there are a large number of assumptions and estimates
involved in calculating these future cash flow projections. This includes management's expectations of revenue, EBITDA,
timing and quantum of future capital expenditure and estimates and cost of future funding. The Company is in the process
of exiting the BIA process however there is still a risk that the company will fall into bankruptcy if the proposals and
refinancing arrangements do not close. Directors and management have assessed that risk and determined that it is more
likely than not that the refinancing arrangements will complete as planned.
• Valuation of assets held for sale and property, plant and equipment
As disclosed in Note 1, the Company has received offers for each of its CGU’s and values of long term assets have been
impaired to reflect the ultimate consideration for the net assets of each CGU.

18

TRUE LEAF BRANDS INC.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Year Ended March 31, 2020
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

5.

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS & ASSETS HELD FOR SALE

On March 18, 2020, TLB entered into an agreement with FTI Consulting in anticipation of progressing to creditor protection
under the BIA process.
Subsequent to the year ended March 31, 2020, TLB and its subsidiaries entered into creditor protection under the BIA Process.
As part of the restructuring and to settle the payables and secured debt of the company, an asset sale process was started again
for TLP & TLC, the two companies that held assets.
IFRS 5 outlines the requirements for presentation of assets held for sale and the presentation and disclosure of discontinued
operations. It requires that “An entity shall classify a non-current asset (or disposal group) as held for sale if its carrying amount
will be recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use.” “An entity shall measure a noncurrent asset (or disposal group) classified as held for sale at the lower of its carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell.”
Management determined that the Company has two groups of assets. The TLP assets are one cash-generating unit and include
the shares of TLPE, accounts receivable, prepaid expenses, inventory as well as tangible and intangible property, plant and
equipment. TLC’s assets consist of land, building, equipment and intangible assets.
On August 11, 2020, a sale agreement for substantially all of the assets of TLP for the sum of $300,000 was entered into with
4033001 and its parent company, Hemp Technology Inc., both Wyoming Corporations. This triggered an impairment test as
of March 31, 2020 of the assets of TLP with valuations based on the net consideration ultimately received.
On September 11, 2020, a Binding Term Sheet was entered into to refinance TLB, TLC and TLI, and buy the debt held by Lind
Asset Management. This triggered an impairment test as of March 31, 2020 of the assets of TLC. The value of the sale and
loan agreement is $4,700,000.
The following is a continuity of asset values taking into account their related impairments:
Carrying Value
Inventory
Prepaid expenses
Land
Building
Equipment
Intangible assets

$

$

513,006 $
321,745
3,380,387
7,483,731
289,702
153,638
12,142,209 $

Impairment
393,432 $
2,579,195
3,901,900
190,289
78,077
7,142,893 $

Value after
Continued
impairment
Operations
119,574
$
89,415 $
321,745
318,797
801,192
801,192
3,581,831
3,581,831
99,413
99,413
75,561
55,053
4,999,316 $
4,945,701 $

The following assets have been classified as held for sale as of March 31, 2020:
TLP
Inventory

$

TLPE

30,159 $

Total
-

$

30,159

Prepaid expenses

-

2,948

2,948

Intangible assets

-

20,508

20,508

$

30,159 $

23,456 $

53,615

There are no liabilities directly associated with the assets held for sale as at March 31, 2020.
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5.

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS & ASSETS HELD FOR SALE (Continued)

The total breakdown of cash flows from discontinued operations are as follows:
Year ended March 31,
2020
Net cash used in operating activities
Net cash used in investing activities
Change in cash during the year

$

(547,167)
(32,061)
(579,228)

$

2019
564,436
(153,935)
410,501

$
$

For the year ended March 31, 2020, income arising from discontinued operations include the operating income of TLP and
TLPE as follows:

1,851,356 $
972,859
878,497

435,591
288,014
147,577

Total March 31,
2020
$
2,286,947
1,260,873
1,026,074

1,493,457
82,950
369,926
24,971
938,229

396,215
17,123
2,057
202,438

1,889,672
100,073
371,983
24,971
1,140,667

TLP
Sales
Cost of sales
Gross Profit
Operating Expenditures
Administrative and office
Amortization and depreciation
Inventory write-down
Research and development
Selling and marketing

$

Total operating expenditures
Asset Impairment

Loss from discontinued operations

$

TLPE

2,909,533
(554,444)
(2,585,480) $

617,833
(5,295)
(475,551) $

Year ended March 31,
Advertising

$

2019

328,266 $

306,195

Branding

38,713

Digital marketing

24,055

25,738

131,458

179,899

Trade shows
Sales administration costs

242,638

55,158

59,234

Travel and meals

143,781

180,011

Wages

419,236

390,093

Total selling and marketing

$ 1,140,667
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$

$

3,527,366
(559,739)
(3,061,031) $

Selling and marketing expenses included in discontinued operations are as follows:

2020

March 31, 2019

1,383,808

2,311,036
1,252,265
1,058,771
1,132,466
124,153
41,288
110,096
1,383,808
2,791,811
(1,733,040)
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5.

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS & ASSETS HELD FOR SALE (Continued)
Administrative and office expenses included in discontinued operations are as follows:

Accounting and legal
Insurance
Office and other
Rent
Travel and meals
Utilities
Consulating fees
Wages and salaries
Total administrative and office expense

6.

Year ended March 31,
2020
2019
$
644 $
19,463
10,345
16,030
204,104
144,699
94,054
57,068
214,261
126,924
4,347
15,383
420,325
253,839
941,592
499,060
$ 1,889,672 $ 1,132,466

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
March 31, 2020
Trade receivables (a)

$

Miscellaneous receivables (b)
Goods and services tax receivable
$

186,994 $

March 31, 2019
217,462

68,312

109,832

145,502

304,929

400,808 $

632,223

(a) Trade receivables
Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are due within 30 days. As at March 31, 2020, the Company had $11,543
in trade receivables that were over 90 days (March 31, 2019 - Nil). They are considered continued operations and were
subsequently collected or applied to the allowance for doubtful accounts.
During the year ended March 31, 2020, revenues from three distributors amounted to 37% of total sales (March 31, 2019:
40%). As at March 31, 2020, these top three distributors amounted to 33% of total trade receivables (March 31, 2019:
34%).
(b) Miscellaneous receivables
At March 31, 2020, a director was indebted to the Company in the amount of $4,822 (March 31, 2019: $72,335 due from
management and directors) for withholding taxes remitted on their behalf in connection with common shares issued as an
employment benefit and director fees paid. The balance is non-interest bearing. Miscellaneous receivables also included
an amount of $nil (March 31, 2019: $37,497) in connection with rent receivable.

21

TRUE LEAF BRANDS INC.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Year Ended March 31, 2020
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

7.

INVENTORY
The cost of inventories recognized as an expense in the year ended March 31, 2020, was $888,890 and is included in cost
of sales of discontinued operations (2019: $1,252,265). During the year ended March 31, 2020 expired product and
oversupply of certain SKUs were written down when they were disposed of or when it was highly likely that they could
not be sold. The total value of dated stock written down plus cost to dispose was $369,926 for TLP and $2,057 for TLPE
for obsolete inventory. Inventory less amounts sold subsequent to year-end were classified as held for sale and an
impairment of $393,432 was booked against the total inventory value as part of the group of assets sold under IFRS 5.

Finished goods
Supplies
Inventory for continued operations
Supplies held for sale
Total inventory

8.

$
$
$

PREPAID EXPENSES AND DEPOSITS
Insurance premiums
Other
Total prepaid expenses

March 31, 2019
173,410
158,678
332,088
332,088

$

March 31, 2020
208,840 $
9,880
218,720 $

March 31, 2019
156,636
124,804
281,440

$

100,077
100,077
318,797 $

128,077
7,726
135,803
417,243

$

Construction deposits
Security deposits
Total deposits
Total prepaid expenses & deposits

March 31, 2020
89,415 $
89,415 $
30,159
119,574 $

As at March 31, 2020, prepaid expenses include a deposit of $100,077 (March 31, 2019 - $128,077) paid in connection with
construction of the Company’s cannabis production facility in Lumby (Note 9). The deposit is refundable subject to approval
by the Village of Lumby that the Company has complied with conditions set out in its various permits.

22

TRUE LEAF BRANDS INC.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Year Ended March 31, 2020
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

9.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Cost:
Balance, M arch 31, 2018

Land
$

Additions

3,380,387

$

-

Balance, M arch 31, 2019

-

Disposals

-

Impairment

(2,579,195)
$

801,192

726,955

Leasehold
Improvement
$

79,929

6,779,214

3,380,387

Additions

Balance March 31, 2020

Buildings

$

Office
furniture
$

20,165

-

Equipment
$

-

49,716

Total
$

4,257,152

146,168

6,925,382

7,506,169

79,929

20,165

195,884

11,182,534

78,341

15,747

6,276

105,232

205,596

(6,050)

-

-

(3,951,291)

-

(23,195)

3,627,169

$

95,676

$

3,246

$

9,101

$

2,150

$

(1,752)

(7,802)

(235,689)

(6,789,370)

63,675

$

4,590,958

6,139

$

17,390

Accumulated depreciation:
Balance, M arch 31, 2018

$

-

$

-

$

Depreciation for the year

-

-

31,972

8,066

13,825

53,863

Balance, M arch 31, 2019

-

-

41,073

10,216

19,964

71,253

Depreciation for the year

-

94,730

17,839

6,141

37,120

155,830

Disposals

-

Impairment

-

Balance M arch 31, 2020

$

-

(49,391)

-

(15,267)

(575)

(575)

(53,328)

(117,986)

$

45,339

$

58,912

$

1,090

$

3,181

$

108,522

Carrying value:
As at M arch 31,2019

$

3,380,387

$

7,506,169

$

38,856

$

9,949

$

175,920

$

11,111,281

As at March 31, 2020

$

801,192

$

3,581,830

$

36,764

$

2,156

$

60,494

$

4,482,436

The Company acquired a 40 acre property located in Lumby, B.C to build its cannabis cultivation facility, and construction of
the Company’s building was completed in March 2019, with total construction costs being capitalized until the building was
ready for its intended use as a licensed producer and grower of cannabis under the Cannabis Act. In November 2019, the
Company received approval to be a licensed producer of medicinal cannabis and, as such, the facility is fully employable and
depreciation of the facility commenced.
Subsequent to the year-end, the Company entered creditor protection under the BIA process and began a process of restructuring
and marketing its assets to settle its debts. Through the process, bids were received and a workout plan was reached that
refinanced the company through a loan and merger agreement. This triggered a review of the value of the subsidiary TLC. The
arrangement attributed a net value of the company at $4,700,000. The impairment was applied to land, property, plant and
equipment and intangible assets on a pro-rata basis. The sale process of the TLP assets also triggered an impairment of property,
plant and equipment based on the selling price of substantially all of that company’s assets at a value of $300,000 less cost to
sell of $39,775 for a net value of $260,225.
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10.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Cost:

Website

Balance, March 31, 2018

$

Additions

10,801

Trademarks and
related costs
$
117,400

-

Balance, March 31, 2019

Intellectual property
$

55,500

Total
$

183,701

83,108

-

83,108

10,801

200,508

55,500

266,809

Additions

7,012

36,871

-

43,883

Impairment

-

(136,749)

(55,500)

(192,249)

Classified as held for sale

-

(54,276)

-

(54,276)

Balance, March 31, 2020

$

17,813

$

$

9,956

$

46,354

$

17,180

$

-

$

13,875

$

64,167

Accumulated amortization:
Balance, March 31, 2018
Amortization for the year
Balance, March 31, 2019

41,011

845

47,245

22,200

70,290

10,801

64,425

36,075

111,301

Amortization for the year

-

34,167

11,586

45,753

Classified as held for sale

-

(33,768)

-

(33,768)

Impairment

-

(66,511)

(47,661)

(114,172)

Balance, March 31, 2020

$

10,801 -$

1,687

$

-

$

9,114

Carrying value:
As at March 31, 2019

$

-

$

136,083

$

19,425

$

155,508

As at March 31, 2020

$

7,012

$

48,041

$

-

$

55,053

The BIA process and sales process within that of TLP and TLC’s assets triggered impairment of the Company’s intangible
assets under IFRS 5. They were proportionately impaired based on the total value of the assets of each company as
established by the sale price subsequent to year-end as outlined in Note 9.

11.

CONVERTIBLE NOTES

On February 21, 2019, the Company completed a private placement of secured convertible notes for gross proceeds of
$4,500,000, of which $250,000 was set aside in cash in a restricted bank account, and classified as other asset pursuant to the
terms of the Convertible Security Funding Agreement (“CSFA”). In March 2020, the restricted cash was moved to general
funds. The maturity date of the debenture was February 21, 2021. Upon maturity, the Company was required to repay
$5,400,000, consisting of the principal amount of $4,500,000 (the Principal) plus interest costs of $900,000. The Company had
the right to buy-back the convertible note at any time. If the Company had repaid the note prior to February 21, 2020, the
repayment amount was to be reduced to $4,950,000, consisting of the Principal of $4,500,000 plus $450,000 of interest costs.
The Company was required to repay the principal amount in 18 equal monthly installments commencing August 21, 2019, with
the interest payment of $900,000 due upon maturity, subject to the reduction of interest described above.
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11.

CONVERTIBLE NOTES (Continued)

The note is convertible, at a fixed conversion price of $0.40 per common share (the “conversion price”), at the option of the
holder, into common shares of the Company at any time over the term of the note or if a change of control occurs. Should the
Company elect to buy-back all or a portion of the convertible note, the investor has the right to convert to common shares 25%
of the principal amount of the note that the Company is buying back, at the same fixed conversion price. In addition, the investor
has the right, on each 90-day period to elect payment of quarterly accrued interest in the form of common shares at the then
current share price. Any interest paid via common shares will reduce the cash interest payment obligation required at debenture
maturity upon early repayment.
The investor also received 5,625,000 warrants as part of this convertible debenture, entitling the investor to purchase one
common share at an exercise price of $0.5089 for a period of 36 months from the issue date. The warrants are subject to
acceleration where 50% of the total warrants outstanding, or 2,812,500 warrants, may be accelerated at the option of the
Company if the volume weighted average price (“VWAP”) of the Company’s common shares are at least $1.0178 for 30
consecutive trading days. The remaining warrants may be accelerated by the Company if the VWAP of the Company’s common
shares are at least $1.5267 for 30 consecutive trading days.
The Company allocated the gross proceeds from the issuance between the estimated fair value of the debt and equity
components using the residual method. The Company used an effective annualized discount rate of 17.2%, which resulted in
valuation of the debt component at $4,303,813 and the equity component at $196,187 before issue costs. The debt component
was measured at amortized cost.
On October 7, 2019, the Company completed a waiver, amendment and funding agreement supplement (the “Waiver”) for the
CSFA noted above. Pursuant to the terms of the CSFA, the Company was required to repay the principal amount in 18 equal
monthly installments ($250,000) commencing August 21, 2019. The Waiver provided for (i) a 6 month deferral of these
$250,000 payments to the Investor to March 22, 2020; (ii) a fee of $540,000 paid by the issuance of an additional convertible
security with a face value of $540,000 (the “Deferral Convertible Security”) to the Investor; and (iii) the issuance of 2,160,000
warrants (“New Warrants”) of the Company to the Investor. The Company allocated the gross value of the note between the
estimated fair value of the debt and equity components using the residual method. The Company used an effective annualized
discount rate of 17.9%, which resulted in valuation of the debt component at $277,422 and the equity component at $65,547.
The Deferral Convertible Security was convertible into common shares of the Company at a conversion price of $0.21 per
share. The Deferral Convertible Security was required to be repaid in 18 equal monthly installments ($30,000) beginning on
March 22, 2020, except that the repayment amount will be reduced in any month by any amount converted by the Investor into
the Company’s common shares. The New Warrants entitle the Investor to purchase one common share for each warrant, at an
exercise price of $0.21, for a period of 36 months from the date of issue.
On March 23, 2020, Lind Asset Management served the Company with a Default Notice demanding the payments due under
the Funding Agreements. Both funding agreements stipulate that at the date of an Event of Default the interest payable on the
Convertible Security will be at a rate of 15% per annum compounded monthly and all amounts become immediately due.
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11.

CONVERTIBLE NOTES (Continued)

During the year ended March 31, 2020, the Company recorded accretion expense of $1,854,522 (2019: $126,050) relating to
this convertible debt.

As at March 31, 2020 As at March 31, 2019
$

Opening balance of convertible notes
Convertible note additions
Less: Conversion of loan to common shares
Less: Allocation to equity on convertible note issued
Less: Allocation to equity for fair value of warrants
Less: Transaction costs
Accretion expense
Interest expense on default
Total
Less: current portion of debentures
Long-term portion

12.
a)

$
$

3,808,056 $
540,000
(100,000)
(65,547)
(197,031)
1,854,522
19,467
5,859,467 $
(5,859,467)
- $

4,500,000
(160,200)
(399,998)
(257,796)
126,050
3,808,056
(2,000,000)
1,808,056

RELATED PARTY BALANCES AND TRANSACTIONS
Goods and services
The Company had the following transactions with related parties during the year ended March 31, 2020 and 2019 which
were recognized at the amounts that were agreed upon between the two parties:
Year ended March 31,
2020

2019

Paid or payable to the Chief Executive Officer for office
$
space rental

60,325 $

30,000

Paid or payable to a company controlled by its Chief
Executive Officer for costs associated with packaging $
inventory

314,498 $

172,695

- $

63,270

Paid to Paradigm Medical Services, a company controlled
by a past Director, for advisory services
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12.

RELATED PARTY BALANCES AND TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

b) Compensation of key management personnel
The Company considers its key management personnel to be its Directors, Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer
and other senior executives including the President of TLP and SVP of Operations of TLP.
2020

2019

Director compensation (non-Executive):
Salaries and consulting fees

$

Share-based compensation

45,229 $

91,625

14,358

47,839

$

59,587 $

139,464

$

671,592 $

277,875

353,348

260,148

$

1,024,940 $

538,023

$

1,084,527 $

677,487

Management compensation:
Salaries and management fees
Share-based compensation

c)

Amounts due to key management and a current director of $237,504 are included in accounts payable at March 31, 2020
(March 31, 2019: $72,335 included in accounts receivable) and are unsecured and non-interest bearing.

13.
a)

SHARE CAPITAL
Authorized

Unlimited Common voting shares with no par value
b)

Issued

The Company had the following share capital transactions during the year ended March 31, 2020:
1.

The Company issued 1,507,578 common shares pursuant to the exercise of share purchase warrants for gross
proceeds of $521,190.

2.

The Company issued 700,000 common shares pursuant to the exercise of share options for proceeds of $276,500.

3.

The Company issued 916,666 common shares to an executive as part of their employment contract and recorded
$152,500 as a share-based compensation expense, with the same amount as an addition to share capital.

4.

The Company issued 833,333 shares upon conversion of the convertible note at $0.12 per share for $100,000 (Note
11) and 458,333 shares were issued at $0.12 per share to settle debt of $55,000.

5.

Stock based compensation of $870,498 was recognized due to stock options granted and vested during the year.
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13.

SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)
The Company had the following share capital transactions during the year ended March 31, 2019:

c)

1.

On October 17, 2018, the Company issued 100,000 common shares pursuant to an employment agreement. The
shares were valued at $60,000 based on the market price at the share issue date, which is included in share-based
compensation expense for the year ended March 31, 2019. The shares are to be held on a restricted basis for one
year from the October 17, 2018 issue date.

2.

The Company issued 1,128,317 common shares pursuant to the exercise of share purchase warrants for gross
proceeds of $406,254. Additional proceeds of $14,000 were recorded as shares subscribed at March 31, 2019 in
respect of warrant exercise requests and funds received where the shares had not been issued from treasury as of
March 31, 2019.

3.

The Company issued 857,145 common shares pursuant to the exercise of share options for proceeds of $158,572.

4.

On March 27, 2019, the Company issued 500,000 common shares pursuant to employment and consulting contracts.
The shares were valued at $275,000 based on the market price at the share issue date, which is included in sharebased compensation expense for the year ended March 31, 2019. The shares are to be held on a restricted basis as
follows:
- 400,000 for seven months from the March 27, 2019 issue date.
- 100,000 for twelve months from the March 27, 2019 issue date.

Share purchase warrants
Share purchase warrant transactions are summarized as follows:

Number of Warrants

Weighted Average Exercise
Price
$

Balance, March 31, 2018
Warrants exercised
Warrants issued
Balance, March 31, 2019

6,297,380

0.49

(1,128,317)

0.36

5,625,000

0.51

10,794,063

0.51

Warrants expired

(2,057,010)

0.40

Warrants exercised

(1,507,578)

0.36

Warrants cancelled

(747,332)

0.36

Warrants issued

2,160,000

0.21

8,642,143

0.49

Balance, March 31, 2020
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13.

SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

As at March 31, 2020, the following share purchase warrants are outstanding:
Number of Warrants

Price ( $ )

Expiry Date

857,143

1.05

November 21, 2020*

5,625,000

0.51

February 21, 2022

2,160,000

0.21

October 7, 2022

8,642,143
*Subsequent to year end 857,143 warrants at a price of $1.05 per share expired

d)

Stock options
The Company has a Stock Option Plan (the “Plan”) in place under which it is authorized to grant options to directors,
executive officers, employees and consultants enabling them to acquire up to 10% of the issued and outstanding common
shares of the Company in any twelve-month period. Under the Plan, the exercise price of each stock option is subject to
a minimum of $0.10 and may not be less than the closing market price of Company’s common shares on the trading day
immediately preceding the date of grant of the options. The options can be granted for a maximum term of five years
and vest at the discretion of the Board of Directors.
Stock option transactions are summarized as follows:
Number of Options
Balance, March 31, 2018

5,907,145
Stock options exercised
Stock options granted
Stock options forfeited

Balance, March 31, 2019

Weighted Average Exercise
Price
0.55
0.19

(857,145)
4,410,000

0.56

(1,635,000)

0.67

7,825,000

0.57

Stock options granted

1,085,000

0.29

Stock options exercised

(700,000)

0.40

Stock options expired

(1,550,000)

0.40

Stock options forfeited

(1,325,000)

0.64

5,335,000

0.57

Balance, March 31, 2020
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13.

SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)
As at March 31, 2020, the following stock options are outstanding and exercisable:
Number of Options
Outstanding

Exercise Price

Expiry Date

Exercisable

($ )

900,000

900,000

0.94

700,000

700,000

0.50

July 31, 2023

300,000

99,990

0.56

September 10, 2023

1,600,000

1,116,667

0.56

March 6, 2024

750,000

250,000

0.61

March 21, 2024

1,085,000

50,000

0.29

July 25, 2024

5,335,000

3,116,657

February 6, 2023

During the year ended March 31, 2020, the Company recorded share-based compensation of $870,498 (2019: $663,387)
relating to the stock options.

14.

ADMINISTRATIVE AND OFFICE EXPENSE

Accounting and legal
Director fees
Filing fees
Insurance
Transacation costs & interest expense
Office and other
Property tax expense
Rent
Transfer agent
Travel and meals
Utilities
Consulating fees
Wages and salaries
Total administrative and office expense

$

Year ended March 31,
2020
2019
460,770 $
323,007
45,229
32,494
40,470
76,950
247,276
215,182
563,318
29,035
172,142
110,796
136,827
108,525
37,450
25,109
58,523
35,317
266,092
969,787
3,058,310 $

$
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15.

SELLING AND MARKETING EXPENSE
Year ended March 31,
2020
Advertising

$

225,572

Branding

159,994

126,347

Investor Relations

280,761

303,396

Public Relations

110,411

124,934

$

Total selling and marketing

16.

16,050 $

2019

567,216 $

780,249

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK

Fair Value
Financial instruments recorded at fair value on the consolidated statement of financial position are classified using a fair value
hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs used in making the measurements. The fair value hierarchy has the
following levels:
a)
b)
c)

Level 1 - Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;
Level 2 - Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for assets or liabilities, either directly or indirectly;
Level 3 - Inputs for assets and liabilities that are not based on observable market data.

The fair value hierarchy requires the use of observable market inputs whenever such inputs exist. A financial instrument is
classified to the lowest level of the hierarchy for which a significant input has been considered in measuring fair value. The
carrying value of receivables. accounts payable, accrued liabilities and note payable approximates their fair value because of
the short-term nature of these instruments.
The fair values of cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments are measured based on level 1 inputs of the fair value
hierarchy.
Risk
The Company is exposed to various risks through its financial instruments and has a risk management framework to monitor,
evaluate and manage these risks. The following analysis provides information about the Company’s risk exposure and
concentration as of March 31, 2020:
Credit risk
Credit risk refers to the risk that another entity will default on its contractual obligations which will result in a loss for the
Company. At March 31, 2020, the Company’s exposure to credit risk consists of the carrying value of cash and cash equivalents,
and receivables. The Company limits its credit exposure on cash by holding its deposits with established financial institutions.
Accounts receivable consists of trade accounts receivable and miscellaneous receivables. The Company mitigates the risk of
default of accounts receivable by assessing the credit worthiness of customers prior to sale and shipment of inventory.
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16.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK (Continued)

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk arises from our general and capital financing needs with respect to future growth. Liquidity risk could arise if the
Company encounters difficulty in meeting future obligations with financial liabilities. As at March 31, 2020, the Company has
cash and cash equivalents of $302,225 (March 31, 2019 - $4,391,072) to settle current liabilities of $7,832,644 (March 31,
2019 - $3,659,829). The Company also has short-term investments of $51,750 (March 31, 2019: $57,500). The Company has
entered into creditor protection proceedings (Note 1 and 21).
Currency risk
The operating results and financial position of the Company are reported in Canadian dollars. The Company is exposed to
currency risk arising from the translation of its European subsidiary’s operations and to currency transaction risk as some of
the Company’s financial instruments are denominated in U.S. dollars. The results of the Company’s operations are subject to
currency translation and transaction risks.
The Company’s main risk is associated with fluctuations in Canadian and U.S. dollars and Euros. Assets and liabilities are
translated based on the Company’s foreign currency translation policy. The Company has determined that, with other variables
unchanged, the effect of a 10% increase in the Canadian dollar as at March 31, 2020:
•

against the Euro on its net European operations, and

•

against the U.S. dollar on financial assets and liabilities, including cash, accounts receivable, accounts payables
and accrued liabilities denominated in U.S. dollars

would result in a decrease of approximately $155,000 to the net loss and comprehensive loss for the year ended March 31,
2020 (2019 – decrease of approximately $23,000). The inverse effect would result if the Canadian dollar weakened by 10%
against the Euro and U.S. dollar.
At March 31, 2020, the Company had no hedging agreements in place with respect to foreign exchange rates as the Company’s
operations provide a natural hedge. Certain operational costs are denominated in U.S. dollars and funded directly from the
Company’s U.S. funds. The Company has not entered into any agreements or purchased any instruments to hedge possible
currency risks at this time.
Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument might be adversely affected by a change in interest rates. In
seeking to minimize the risk from interest rate fluctuations, the Company manages exposure through its normal operating and
financing activities. As at March 31, 2020, the Company did not have any liabilities that bear interest at rates fluctuating with
the prime rate.
Other risk
Creditor protection in the BIA process present risks relating to the uncertainty of the proceedings and its outcome. The risks
include, but are not limited to: the risk that the courts do not approve all transactions proposed in the workout plan; the
Company’s ability to obtain adequate financing to fund capital expenditures and working capital needs to maintain the
Company’s ongoing obligations exiting the BIA process; and the ability to maintain relationships with suppliers, employees
and shareholders and other third parties in light of the Company’s current liquidity situation.
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17.

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

Capital Management
The Company’s capital includes share capital, cash, the convertible note payable, and the accumulated deficit. The Company’s
objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern, so that it can continue to
provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders. The Company manages the capital structure and makes
adjustments in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. The Company may
issue new shares in order to meet its financial obligations. The Company has not changed its approach to capital management
during the year ended March 31, 2020.

18.

COMMITMENTS

The Company had the following commitments as of March 31, 2020:
1.

The Company has an employment agreement with a senior executive which includes a provision for severance pay if the
individual is terminated without cause or due to a change in control. The Company incurs $195,000 plus accrued bonus
based on the salary agreed to.

2.

The Company has an employment agreement with a senior executive which includes a provision for severance pay if the
individual is terminated without cause or due to a change in control. The Company incurs the following obligation based
on the salary agreed to:
i) Terminated prior to April 29, 2021 - $195,000 plus accrued bonus; or
ii) Terminated after April 29, 2021 - $292,500 plus accrued bonus.

3.

The Company has an employment agreement with a senior executive which includes a provision for severance pay if the
individual is terminated without cause or due to a change in control. The Company incurs the following obligation based
on the salary agreed to:
i) Terminated prior to May 24, 2021 - $195,000 plus accrued bonus; or
ii) Terminated after May 24, 2021 - $292,500 plus accrued bonus.
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19.

INCOME TAX

A reconciliation of income taxes at statutory rates with the reported taxes is as follows:
Year ended March 31,
2020

2019

Loss for the year

$

(16,195,841)

$

(5,509,148)

Expected income tax recovery
Change in statutory tax rates and other
Permanent differences
Change in unrecognized deductible temporary differences
Total income tax expense (recovery)

$

(4,313,000)
54,000
283,000
3,971,000
-

$

(1,487,000)
79,000
278,000
1,130,000
-

$

$

The significant components of the Company's deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are as follows:
March 31,
2020

Deferred tax assets:
Share issue and finance costs

$

Deferred tax liabilities:
Convertible note payable

2019
-

$

-

Net deferred tax assets

$

-

187,000

(187.000)
$

-

The significant components of the Company’s temporary differences, unused tax credits and unused tax losses that have not
been included on the consolidated statement of financial position are as follows:

Temporary differences:
Share issue costs
Property and equipment
Debt with accretion
Intangible assets
Non-capital losses

2020

Expiry Date Range

2019

Expiry Date Range

$
$
$
$
$

783,000
4,305,000
800,000
16,986,000

2041 to 2043
No expiry date
No expiry date
No expiry date
2026 to 2040

$
$
$
$
$

462,000
82,000
63,000
10,033,000

2040 to 2043
No expiry date
No expiry date
No expiry date
2026 to 2039

$
$

15,686,000
1,300,000

2026 to 2040
2034 to 2035

$

9,219,000
814,000

2026 to 2039
2034 to 2032

Non-capital losses available for future periods
Canada
Luxembourg
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19.

INCOME TAX (Continued)

The significant components of the Company’s deferred tax assets that have not been included on the consolidated statement
of financial position are as follows:
2020
2019
Deferred tax assets (liabilities)
Property and equipment
$
1,162,000 $
(685,000)
Share issue costs
211,000
312,000
Debt with accretion
216,000
(187,000)
Non-capital losses available for future period
4,431,000
2,609,000
$
6,020,000 $
2,049,000
Unrecognized deferred tax assets
(6,020,000)
(2,049,000)
Net deferred tax assets
$
$
Tax attributes are subject to review, and potential adjustment, by tax authorities.

20.

SEGMENTED INFORMATION

The Company has one reportable segment for continued operations in Canada. Discontinued operations included segments in
North America and Europe for TLP and TLPE, respectively. Refer to Note 5, discontinued operations, for a breakdown of
the assets, revenues and expenses for those operations.

21.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

In March 2020, the True Leaf Group of Companies received a notice of default from its principal creditor, Lind, in respect of
secured debt owed to Lind in the amount of $5,940,000. (the “Lind Debt”). Shortly thereafter, subsequent to the year ended
March 31, 2020, TLB, TLI, TLC and TLP commenced restructuring proceedings and sought creditor protection by each filing
a Notice of Intention to make a proposal (the “NOI Proceedings”) under the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act (Canada) (the
“BIA”). Extensions were filed with and granted by the courts on May 1, June 16, July 31, August 5, and August 28, 2020.
The NOI Proceedings commenced in April 2020. The assets or shares of TLC and TLP were marketed through a sales process
overseen by the Company’s trustee, FTI Consulting.
Darcy Bomford, founder, stepped down as Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) and Allan Fujimoto, formerly Senior Vice
President of TLP was appointed by the board as Chief Restructuring Officer (“CRO”) and Interim CEO. Prior to entering into
creditor protection, Darren Battersby resigned as the Company’s Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”) and Jennifer Pace was
appointed by the board as CFO.
On April 29, 2020, the Company entered into a Debtor in Protection Credit Facility Agreement (“DIP Loan”) with Lind to
provide financing to fund the BIA process. The DIP Loan provided for funding in the maximum amount of $700,000, with an
initial advance of $250,000 and subsequent weekly draws in the maximum amount of $50,000. The term of the loan was up to
August 15, 2020, with a 10 per cent per annum interest rate, and required that the Companies seek Court approval for a sales
process which was subsequently granted. Amendments were granted by Lind to the DIP Loan on August 14, August 31 and
October 19, 2020 extending the term of the agreement in line with the sale process for TLC.
On August 11, 2020, an agreement for the sale of substantially all of TLP’s assets including the shares of TLPE was signed
with 4033001, and its parent company Hemp Technology Inc. Gross proceeds of $300,000 was applied against the outstanding
Lind Debt.
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21.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS (Continued)

The sale of TLP’s assets completed on September 11, 2020. Immediately prior to that, the company accepted the resignations
of its interim CEO, Allen Fujimoto; President of True Leaf Pet Inc., Kevin Cole; Corporate Secretary, Melissa Vettoretti; and
three other board members, Jodi Watson, Mike Mardy and Sylvain Toutant.
Proposals were filed to work out the debts of TLB, TLC and TLI with the courts prior to the stay expiring, and creditor meetings
were subsequently held where the plans of arrangements were all approved. When the final stay expired on October 2, 2020,
TLP, having sold all of its assets, defaulted into bankruptcy.
Between late September and early October 2020, each of TLC, TLI and TLB filed a proposal to their respective creditors with
the Office of Superintendent in Bankruptcy. The terms of these proposals were based upon an agreement dated September 11,
2020 among Lind, ASOF, Canguard, 1263815 B.C. Ltd. and two newly-incorporated British Columbia companies owned by
a group of new investors. The terms of the Refinancing Agreement and a proposed share capital reorganization of TLB are
summarized in Note 1.
The substance of the TLB Share Capital Reorganization involves two basic elements:
1. A proposed consolidation of the issued and outstanding TLB common shares (the “Consolidation”) on a 10-1 basis; and
2 . The re-acquisition by TLB from Acquire Co #1 of all of the issued shares of TLI and its subsidiary TLC, the owner of the
Lumby Property and the holder of the Licence, and the acquisition by TLB from Acquire Co #2 of all of the issued shares of
Lind (holder of the residue of the Lind Debt), all in exchange for a sufficient number of newly issued TLB common shares to
give the New Investor Group approximately 58% of the then issued and outstanding common shares of TLB.
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